
Page 1 of 3 

AGENDA 
REGULAR MEETING 

CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF COLMA 
Wednesday, October 13, 2021 
Closed Session - 6:00 PM 
Regular Session - 7:00 PM 

The City Council meeting will be conducted virtually pursuant to the provisions of Assembly Bill 361 amending 
the Ralph M. Brown Act and Government Code Section 54953(e) (and without compliance with section 

54953(b)(3)) related to conducting public meetings during the COVID-19 pandemic based on the current State 
of Emergency and the existing State recommendations on social distancing. The Council Chambers will not be 

open to the public for this City Council meeting. 

 Members of the public may view the meeting by attending, via telephone or computer, the Zoom Meeting 
listed below: 

Join Zoom Meeting: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81289976261 
Passcode: 074407 

Meeting ID: 812 8997 6261 
Passcode: 074407 One 
tap mobile 
+16699006833,,81289976261#,,,,,,0#,,074407# US (San Jose) 
+13462487799,,81289976261#,,,,,,0#,,074407# US (Houston) 

Dial by your location 
+1 669 900 6833 US (San Jose) 
+1 346 248 7799 US (Houston) 
+1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 
+1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 
+1 929 205 6099 US (New York) 
+1 301 715 8592 US (Germantown) 

Meeting ID: 812 8997 6261 
Passcode: 074407 
Find your local number: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kco5bgxkcc 

Members of the public may provide written comments by email to the City Clerk at ccorley@colma.ca.gov 
before or during the meeting. Emailed comments should include the specific agenda item on which you are 

commenting or note that your comment concerns an item that is not on the agenda. The length of the 
emailed comment should be commensurate with the three minutes customarily allowed for verbal 

comments, which is approximately 250-300 words. Verbal comments will also be accepted during the 
meeting.  

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81289976261
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kco5bgxkcc
mailto:ccorley@colma.ca.gov


 
Page 2 of 3 

 

CLOSED SESSION – 6:00 PM 
1. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – EXISTING LITIGATION - Pursuant to Government Code 

Section 54956.9(d)(1) 
Nelly Vasquez v. Town of Colma, Colma Police Department, et. al. 
San Francisco Superior Court Case No. CGC-21-594892 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND ROLL CALL – 7:00 PM 

REPORT FROM CLOSED SESSION 

ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

PRESENTATION 
• Proclamation in Recognition of Italian Heritage Month 
• Solar Installation at the Community Center 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
Comments on the Consent Calendar and Non-Agenda Items will be heard at this time. Comments 
on Agenda Items will be heard when the item is called. 

CONSENT CALENDAR 
2. Motion to Accept the Minutes from the September 22, 2021 Regular Meeting. 
3. Motion to Approve Report of Checks Paid for September 2021. 
4. Motion to Accept Informational Report on Recreation Department Programs, Activities, Events, and 

Trips for the Third Quarter of 2021. 
5. Motion Approving the Town’s Response to the Grand Jury Report Dated August 11,2021, Regarding 

“San Mateo County: California’s Ground Zero for Sea Level Rise.” 
6. Motion to Adopt a Resolution Supporting the Colma El Camino Real Bicycle and Pedestrian 

Improvement Plan Project and Authorizing the Submittal of an Application for Measure A and Measure 
W Highway Program Funding. 

7. Motion Rejecting All Bids for the F Street Retaining Wall Improvement Project. 
8. Motion to Adopt a Resolution of the City Council of the Town of Colma Supporting the Cities Gaming 

Initiative. 

PUBLIC HEARING 
9. SB 1383 ORDINANCE – MANDATORY ORGANIC WASTE DISPOSAL REDUCTION 

Consider: Motion to Introduce and Waive a Further Reading of an Ordinance Amending Colma 
Municipal Code Subchapter 3.05 Relating to the Collection, Processing and Disposal of Solid Waste, 
Recycling and Organics to Include Provisions Related to Mandatory Organic Waste Disposal Reduction 
for Compliance with Senate Bill (SB) 1383 Regulations. 

NEW BUSINESS 
10. CONTINUATION OF VIRTUAL MEETINGS 
 Consider: Motion to Adopt a Resolution Making Findings and Determinations Under Assembly Bill 361 



 
Page 3 of 3 

 

for the Continuation of Virtual Meetings. 

STUDY SESSION 
11. PUBLIC ART IN COLMA 

This item is for discussion only; no action will be taken at this meeting.  
REPORTS 

Mayor/City Council 
City Manager 

ADJOURNMENT 
The City Council Meeting Agenda Packet and supporting documents are available for review on the Town’s website  
www.colma.ca.gov or at Colma Town Hall, 1198 El Camino Real, Colma, CA. Persons interested in obtaining an agenda via e-mail 
should call Caitlin Corley, City Clerk at 650-997-8300 or email a request to ccorley@colma.ca.gov. 
Reasonable Accommodation 
Upon request, this publication will be made available in appropriate alternative formats to persons with disabilities, as required by 
the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. Any person with a disability, who requires a modification or accommodation to view 
the agenda, should direct such a request to Pak Lin, ADA Coordinator, at 650-997-8300 or pak.lin@colma.ca.gov. Please allow 
two business days for your request to be processed. 

http://www.colma.ca.gov/
mailto:ccorley@colma.ca.gov
mailto:pak.lin@colma.ca.gov


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



1. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – EXISTING LITIGATION - Pursuant to
Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(1)

Nelly Vasquez v. Town of Colma, Colma Police Department, et. al. 
San Francisco Superior Court Case No. CGC-21-594892 

This is a Closed Session item; there is no staff report for this item.  

Item #1



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Minutes – Regular Meeting 09.22.21 Page 1 of 4 

MINUTES 
REGULAR MEETING 

City Council of the Town of Colma 
Meeting Held Remotely via Zoom.us 
Wednesday, September 22, 2021 

Closed Session - 6:00 PM 
Regular Session - 7:00 PM 

CLOSED SESSION 

1. In Closed Session Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.6 – Conference
with Labor Negotiators.

Agency Negotiator: Austris Rungis, IEDA 
Employee Organizations: Colma Peace Officers Association and Colma 

Communications/Records Association 
Unrepresented Employees: All 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND ROLL CALL 

Mayor Diana Colvin called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
Council Present – Mayor Diana Colvin, Vice Mayor Helen Fisicaro, Council Members Raquel 
Gonzalez and John Irish Goodwin were present. Council Member Joanne F. del Rosario was 
absent. 
Staff Present – City Manager Brian Dossey, City Attorney Christopher Diaz, Administrative 
Services Director Pak Lin, Chief of Police John Munsey, Director of Public Works Brad 
Donohue, City Planner Farhad Mortazavi, Associate Planner Laurel Mathews, and City Clerk 
Caitlin Corley were in attendance.  
The Mayor announced, “Welcome to another of our completely remote Council Meeting. A 
few notes about tonight’s meeting: We are accepting public comments through email or the 
chat function—you can email our City Clerk at ccorley@colma.ca.gov or use the chat 
function to let her know which item you would like to speak on. Please keep your comments 
to 3 minutes or less. Thank you.” 

REPORT FROM CLOSED SESSION 

Mayor Colvin announced, “No action was taken at tonight’s closed session.” 

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 

Mayor Colvin asked if there were any changes to the agenda; none were requested. She 
asked for a motion to adopt the agenda. 

Action: Council Member Gonzalez moved to adopt the agenda; the motion was seconded 
by Council Member del Rosario and carried by the following vote: 

Item #2



Minutes – Regular Meeting 09.22.21 Page 2 of 4 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
Aye No Abstain Not Participating 

Diana Colvin, Mayor  
Helen Fisicaro  
Raquel Gonzalez  
Joanne F. del Rosario  
John Irish Goodwin  

5 0 

PRESENTATION 
 Cypress Lawn Arboretum Director Josh Gevertz gave a presentation on Arboretum Day.
 Director of Public Works and Planning Brad Donohue introduced new City Planner Farhad

Mortazavi.

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
Mayor Colvin opened the public comment period at 7:19 p.m. and seeing no one request to 
speak, she closed the public comment period. 

CONSENT CALENDAR 

2. Motion to Accept the Minutes from the September 8, 2021 Regular Meeting.
3. Motion to Adopt a Resolution Adjusting Salary for Part-Time Staff to Meet the Minimum

Wage Requirement Set Forth by the State of California and Amending the Salary Schedule.
Action: Council Member Goodwin moved to approve the consent calendar items #2 and 3; 
the motion was seconded by Council Member del Rosario and carried by the following vote: 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
Aye No Abstain Not Participating 

Diana Colvin, Mayor  
Helen Fisicaro  
Raquel Gonzalez  
Joanne F. del Rosario  
John Irish Goodwin  

5 0 

NEW BUSINESS 
4. GRAND JURY RESPONSE – RACIAL IDENTITY AND PROFILING ACT

Chief of Police John Munsey presented the staff report. Mayor Colvin opened the public
comment period at 7:30 p.m. and seeing no one request to speak, she closed the public
comment period. Council discussion followed.
Action: Council Member Goodwin moved to approve the Town’s Response to the Grand
Jury Report Dated July 27, 2021, Regarding “Building Better Trust Between the Community
& Law Enforcement Via the Racial Identity and Profiling Act;” the motion was seconded by



Minutes – Regular Meeting 09.22.21   Page 3 of 4 

Council Member del Rosario and carried by the following vote:  

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
 Aye No Abstain Not Participating  
Diana Colvin, Mayor      
Helen Fisicaro      
Raquel Gonzalez      
Joanne F. del Rosario      
John Irish Goodwin      
 5 0    

 
5. REPORT ON AB 361 AND EXECUTIVE ORDER REGARDING REMOTE MEETINGS 

City Attorney Christopher Diaz presented the staff report. Mayor Colvin opened the public 
comment period at 7:47 p.m. and seeing no one request to speak, the Mayor closed the 
public comment period. Council discussion followed.  
Action: Vice Mayor Fisicaro moved to Receive a Report on Assembly Bill 361 and the Status 
of the Governor’s Executive Order Regarding Remote Meetings, and Provide Input, if any; 
the motion was seconded by Council Member del Rosario and carried by the following vote:  

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
 Aye No Abstain Not Participating  
Diana Colvin, Mayor      
Helen Fisicaro      
Raquel Gonzalez      
Joanne F. del Rosario      
John Irish Goodwin      
 5 0    

COUNCIL CALENDARING 
The next Regular Meeting will be on Wednesday, October 13, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. 

REPORTS   

City Manager Brian Dossey gave an update on the following topics: 
 He will be attending the League of California Cities Conference on September 23 – 24, 

2021.  
 The C.A.P.E. program will be holding a Refresher Course for currently certified CERT 

members on Thursday, September 23, 2021.  
 There will be a new C.A.P.E. course series beginning on September 30, 2021. 
 The Annual Business Recognition event will be held on Thursday, October 7 at 11:30 

p.m. at the Colma Community Center. 

ADJOURNMENT  



Minutes – Regular Meeting 09.22.21 Page 4 of 4 

Mayor Colvin adjourned the meeting at 8:02 p.m. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Caitlin Corley 
City Clerk 



Item #3

































Staff Report – Recreation Program Quarterly Review, July - September 2021  Page 1 of 2 

STAFF REPORT 

TO:  Mayor and Members of the City Council 
FROM:  Angelika Abellana, Recreation Coordinator  
VIA:  Brian Dossey, City Manager 
MEETING DATE: October 13, 2021 
SUBJECT: Recreation Services Department Quarterly Review, July - September 2021 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt: 

MOTION TO ACCEPT INFORMATIONAL REPORT ON RECREATION DEPARTMENT 
PROGRAMS, ACTIVITIES, EVENTS, AND TRIPS FOR THE THIRD QUARTER OF 2021. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

In the third quarter of 2021, a total of 1,325 participants attended 36 programs. This represents 
a decrease of 771 participants from the third quarter of 2021.  Staff attributes the decrease to 
the cancellation of the Town’s Community Events and modified in-person Summer Day Camp. 
While staff realizes these numbers do not reflect traditional recreation services programming, 
however it is important to demonstrate the continued service to the community while the 
COVID-19 pandemic continues.   

Staff estimates that 27 percent of the population had a current Colma I.D. during the third 
quarter of 2021.  

There was a total of 3 rentals, which is an increase of 2 rentals from the third quarter of 2021. 

As the COVID-19 pandemic continues the Recreation Department is offering hybrid (in-
person/remote) programs in an effort to keep the community and staff safe.  Some in person 
programming that can be hosted safely outdoors has had some success and the remote 
programs continue to be popular.  Also, some contract classes have been restarted with safety 
precautions being taken (i.e. social distance and/or vaccine requirement). 

Item #4



Staff Report – Recreation Program Quarterly Review, July - September 2021  Page 2 of 2 

BACKGROUND 

Participation 

The Recreation Services Department offered programs, activities, events and trips for all age 
groups during the past quarter.  Below is a summary of participation levels by demographic:  

● A total of 58 adults and seniors participated in enrichment programs. This represents an
increase of 33 participants from the third quarter of 2021.  Staff attributes the increase
in participation to due to the modifications to adult and senior programs to do at home,
virtually or by delivery, and offering in person fitness classes.

● A total of 213 adults and seniors participated in trips and events.   This represents an
increase of 99 participants from the third quarter of 2021.  Staff attributes the increase
in participation due the modification of our luncheon program to be delivered and
enjoyed at home.

● A total of 669 youth and teens participated in Enrichment Programs.  This represents a
decrease of 143 participants from the third quarter of 2021.  Staff attributes the
decrease due COVID related restrictions for in person guidelines for Summer Day Camp,
and cancellation of programs per COVID-19 and Shelter-in-Place orders.

● A total of 5 youths and teens participated in events and trips.  This represents an
increase of 1 participant from the third quarter of 2021.  Staff attributes the increase
due to the interest of our Leaders in Training program (LIT) during the summer months.

● A total of 874 youth, adults and seniors participated in Community Programs.  This
represents a decrease of 267 participants from the third quarter of 2021. Staff attributes
the decease due to the cancellation of Community Fair, and the declining demand for
food delivery services through the Second Harvest Foodbank that were in such high
demand during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The attachment contains a detailed breakdown of participation by program. 

Rental Activity 

The Colma Community Center was rented for 3 different events: 
● Resident Rental (one social)
● Colma Non-Profit (one fundraiser)
● In House Reservations (one blood drive)

The Sterling Park Recreation Center was not rented for the third quarter of 2021. 

ATTACHMENTS 

A. 2021 Recreation Services Department Quarterly Review – Participation Detail 



Page 1 of 2 

Recreation Services Department Quarterly Review 
July - September 2021 

Participation Detail 
 
Adult/Senior Enrichment Programs 

Program Registered Sessions New or Existing 
Program 

Let’s Get Crafty 16 3 Existing 
Arm Chair Travel at Home 17 2 Existing 
Colma Ladies Social 4 1 Existing 
Boot Camp Fitness 2 1 Existing 
Happy Chair Yoga 5 1 NEW 
Zumba 8 1 Existing 
Mixtiso Yoga 6 1 NEW 

 
Adult & Senior Trips & Events 

Program Registered Sessions New or Existing 
Program 

Virtual Breakfast and Bingo 40 3  Existing 
Drive In Bingo Cancelled 1 NEW 
Senior Luncheon Deliveries 138 3 Existing 
Wine and Canvas to (Gogh) 15 1 NEW 
Veterans Village Colma ID Day 20 1 NEW 

 
Youth & Teen Enrichment Programs 

Program Registered Sessions New or Existing 
Program 

Duo Dance Academy 5 1 Existing 
Kids’ Club  23 2 Existing 
Kumon Math Tutoring 24 3 Existing 
Kumon Reading Tutoring 13 3 Existing 
PNO to GO Cancelled 1 Existing 
Summer Camp Care Packages Cancelled 1 Existing 
Summer Day Camp 69 3 Existing 
Summer Food Program 534 1 Existing 
Tae Kwon Do 1 1 Existing 

 
Youth and Teen Events & Trips 

Program Registered Sessions New or Existing 
Program 

Cookies and Canvas Cancelled 1 Existing 
Dessert and Arts & Crafts 2 1 NEW 
Open Teen Center Cancelled 1 Existing 
LIT Program 3 1 Existing 
Teen ONLY Movie Night Cancelled 1 NEW 
Teen ONLY Game Night Cancelled 1 NEW 
SF Giants Game (Teen trip) Cancelled 1 NEW 



Page 2 of 2 

Community Programs 
Program Registered Sessions New or Existing 

Program 
CAPE 23 2 Existing 
Grandparents Day Celebration Cancelled 1 NEW 
Second Harvest Food Delivery 
Program 

295 1 Existing 

Summer Concert Series 350 2 Existing 
Town Picnic 144 2 Existing 
Virtual Family Bingo/Trivia Cancelled 2 NEW 
Town Picnic Virtual Bingo 60 1 NEW 
Walk, Jog, Run and Bike Challenge 2 1 NEW 

Note: Traditional summer programming (i.e. Community Fair) was cancelled due to COVID-
19.



Grand Jury Report – San Mateo County: California’s Ground Zero for Sea Level Rise  Page 1 of 2 

STAFF REPORT 

TO:  Mayor and Members of the City Council 
FROM:  Brian Dossey, City Manager 
MEETING DATE: October 13, 2021 
SUBJECT: Grand Jury Response – “San Mateo County: California’s Ground Zero for 

Sea Level Rise.” 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council make the following motion: 

MOTION APPROVING THE TOWN’S RESPONSE TO THE GRAND JURY REPORT DATED 
AUGUST 11,2021, REGARDING “SAN MATEO COUNTY: CALIFORNIA’S GROUND ZERO 
FOR SEA LEVEL RISE.” 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The City Council is required under California Penal Code section 933.05 to respond to the Grand 
Jury Report. The draft response letter is attached as Attachment B. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There are no fiscal implications associated with the approval of the Town’s response to the 
Grand Jury report. 

Background 

The San Mateo County Grand Jury is a volunteer body of 19 citizens, selected at random from a 
pool of nominees, to investigate local governmental agencies and make recommendations to 
improve the efficiency of local government. The August 11, 2021 Grand Jury report contains 
findings and recommendations on a number of subjects that are applicable to agencies in San 
Mateo County. The Presiding Judge of the County Superior Court has formally requested that 
the Town review the report and file a written response indicating the following: 

• That the Town agrees or disagrees, in whole or in part, with the findings;

Item #5



Grand Jury Report – San Mateo County: California’s Ground Zero for Sea Level Rise                Page 2 of 2                                                                                                                             

• That the recommendation has been implemented, will be implemented, requires further 
analysis, or will not be implemented; and 

• An explanation of the reason for any disagreement with findings or recommendations; 

• The response was approved by your governing body at a public meeting. 

ANALYSIS 

Grand Jury Findings 

The proposed October 13, 2021, Grand Jury response, which includes the Grand Jury’s findings 
and recommendations, is attached as Attachment B. 

Council Adopted Values 

Approving the Town’s Grand Jury response is the responsible action because Sea Level Rise is 
a complex problem with an uncertain timetable that will demand long-term solutions. 
 
CONCLUSION 

Staff recommends that the City Council approve, by motion, the Town’s proposed response to 
the August 11, 2021 Grand Jury report regarding “San Mateo County: California’s Ground Zero 
for Sea Level Rise.” 

ATTACHMENTS 
A. Grand Jury Report 
B. Town’s draft response letter for August 11, 2021 Grand Jury Report 

  
 

 



Attachment A





























































































A 

TOWN OF COLMA 
1198 El Camino Real • Colma, California • 94014-3212 

Tel 650.997.8300 • Fax 650.997.8308 

Diana Colvin, Mayor 
Helen Fisicaro, Vice Mayor 

Raquel P. Gonzalez, Council Member • Joanne F. del Rosario, Council Member •John Irish Goodwin, Council 
Member •Brian Dossey, City Manager 

October 13, 2021 

Honorable Amarra A. Lee 
Judge of the Superior Court 
c/o Jenarda Dubois 
Hall of Justice 
400 County Center; 8th Floor 
Redwood City, CA 94063-1655 

Re: Grand Jury Report: “San Mateo County: California’s Ground Zero for Sea Level Rise.” 

Dear Judge Lee; 

The City Council received the August 11, 2021 San Mateo Civil Grand Jury report titled, “San 
Mateo County: California’s Ground Zero for Sea Level Rise.” 

The Town of Colma was requested to submit comments regarding the findings and 
recommendations no later than November 11, 2021. 

The City Council of the Town of Colma has reviewed the recommendations in the Grand Jury 
Report that affect the Town and approved the responses at its public meeting on October13, 
2021. 

Findings: 

The Town agrees with findings F1, F2, F3, F4, F6, F7, F8, F9, F11, and F13.   

F5. To remain effective, OneShoreline needs steady, long-term operational funding. 

Response:  

To the extent that we are aware, the Town agrees with this finding. 

F10. OneShoreline is uniquely positioned to augment San Mateo County’s ability to combat sea 
level rise by its planning, funding, permitting expertise, and guidance. 

Response: 

To the extent that we are aware, the Town agrees with this finding. 

F12: OneShoreline effectively collaborates with the Office of Sustainability and others on public 
engagement campaigns to educate individuals on how sea level rise will affect San Mateo County. 

Response: 

To the extent that we are aware, the Town agrees with this finding. 

Attachment B



Town of Colma Page 2 of 2 

Recommendations: 

R1. At a public meeting, each city and town council, or board of supervisors should take at 
least one concrete action toward establishing a continuing funding source for OneShoreline, 
identify that action in response to this report, and potentially adopt a resolution expressing 
support for a parcel tax or property tax by June 30, 2022. 

Response: 

The recommendation requires further analysis, the Town of Colma would like to invite the San 
Mateo County Flood and Sea Level Rise Resiliency District to a future City Council meeting to 
hear the District’s ideas for future funding and what the District’s proposed plan is for a parcel 
or property tax initiative.  Upon hearing the presentation from the San Mateo County Flood and 
Sea Level Rise Resiliency District the Town will then consider action for funding or support of a 
property or parcel tax at a future City Council meeting. 

R2. A coordinated lobbying strategy with participation by the County, by San Mateo County 
cities and towns, by OneShoreline, and by other interested Bay Area cities and counties for 
federal and state regulatory simplification by January 31, 2022. 

Response: 

The recommendation requires further analysis, the Town of Colma would like to invite the San 
Mateo County Flood and Sea Level Rise Resiliency District to a future City Council meeting to 
hear the District’s plans for a coordinated lobbying strategy. Upon hearing the presentation 
from the San Mateo County Flood and Sea Level Rise Resiliency District the Town will then 
consider participating in a coordinated lobbying strategy. 

R4. The County Board of Supervisors and each city and town council, should ensure that 

their general plans regarding SLR protection include transportation and utility infrastructure, 

schools, public safety facilities, and hazardous material sites by March 31, 2022. 

Response: 

The recommendation has not yet been implemented, but will be implemented by the end of 
February 2022.  The Town of Colma is in the process of updating its General Plan and the City 
Council is scheduled to hear, consider and adopt the General Plan update in early 2022. 

The Town appreciates the efforts of the Grand Jury. Please contact City Manager Brian Dossey 
should you require any additional information. He can be reached at (650) 997-8318 or by email: 
brian.dossey@colma.ca.gov. 

Sincerely, 

Diana Colvin 

Mayor 



25977.00100\34211567.1 

2021 Highway Program Measure A/W Funding Application Page 1 of 3 
October 13, 2021 
 

STAFF REPORT 

TO:  Mayor and Members of the City Council 
FROM:  Brad Donohue, Director of Public Works, CSG 
VIA:  Brian Dossey, City Manager 
MEETING DATE: October 13, 2021 
SUBJECT:  2021 Highway Program Measure A/W Funding Application 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt the following: 

RESOLUTION SUPPORTING THE COLMA EL CAMINO REAL BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN PROJECT AND AUTHORIZING THE SUBMITTAL OF AN 
APPLICATION FOR MEASURE A AND MEASURE W HIGHWAY PROGRAM FUNDING. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

At the January 22, 2021 City Council Meeting, staff presented the El Camino Real Bicycle and 
Pedestrian Master Plan (the Plan) The Plan outlined several enhancements along the ECR corridor 
that would improve continuous and accessible sidewalks, continuous  bike paths, safety features 
such as landscape barriers to separate bicyclist and pedestrians from vehicles, improved bus 
stops, new interconnected signals to allow bikes and pedestrians to cross the highway safely and 
various landscape enhancements. The proposed improvements are estimated in the $30 million 
range for the various ECR improvements. The vast majority of funding will need to come from 
outside funding sources, Federal, State and Local grant opportunities. The first steps in obtaining 
funding for this project would be to assemble the Project Initiation Documents (PID).  Per 
CalTrans requirements, PIDs are required to be developed and approved by Caltrans before any 
major or high complexity project can be programmed and constructed on the State Highway 
System. The Town is requesting $2,000,000 in funding ($1.8 Million in grant funding, .2 million in 
local match) to complete the PID documents.    

FISCAL IMPACT 

Should the Transit Authority (TA) Board award Measure A and/or Measure W Highway Program 
funds to the PID phase, the TA will require that the Town of Colma commence work on the PID 
phase within one year of TA Board action. Action on this item will have no fiscal impact for FY 
2021-22 and the local match dollars in the amount of $200,000 can be included during the Capital 
Improvement Program budget discussions for FY 2022-23. 

Item #6



25977.00100\34211567.1 

2021 Highway Program Measure A/W Funding Application Page 2 of 3 
October 13, 2021 
 

BACKGROUND 

In 1988, San Mateo County voters passed the original Measure A sales tax, which included funding 
for specific highway projects listed in the 1988 Transportation Expenditure Plan. In 2004, the 
voters of San Mateo County reauthorized the Measure A Program and approved an extension of 
the existing half-cent transportation sales tax for 25 years from 2009 through 2033. The 2004 
Transportation Expenditure Plan (TEP) provides that 27.5 percent of the sales tax revenue be 
dedicated to the highway program, with 17.3 percent committed to projects on state highways 
known as Key Congested Areas (KCA) and 10.2 percent for Supplemental  
Roadways (SR) for projects on highways and other roadways.    

In 2018, the voters of San Mateo County approved Measure W, a new 30-year half-cent sales  
tax for transportation programs and projects that took effect July 1, 2019 and expires June 30, 
2049. The Measure W Congestion Relief Plan (CRP) identifies that twenty-two and one-half  
percent of Measure W be dedicated to highway congestion improvements.  

In 2021, the TA Board adopted the Short-Range Highway Plan (SRHP) and Capital  
Improvement Program (CIP) to support future investment decisions for the Measure A  
Highways & Measure W Countywide Highway Congestion categories.  The SRHP incorporates 
the Measure A goals along with the new Measure W core principles and is the policy  
foundation for making highway program investment decisions.  The SRHP uses the adopted  
Strategic Plan 2020-2024 evaluation criteria to benchmark how projects align with funding  
priorities for Measure A and W. To be eligible for the Call for Projects a project must be  
included in the CIP. 

Based on the requirements, the Colma El Camino Real Bicycle and Pedestrian Improvement 
Project qualifies as an eligible project due to this corridor being part of the SR 82 (El Camino Real, 
Safety and Operational Improvement Project. 

The Colma El Camino Real Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan is a collaborative planning effort to produce 
an actionable, community-based design.  The project team employed a variety of tools, venues 
and platforms to facilitate education and information-sharing, gather input, and publicize the 
planning effort.  Design treatments that address existing concerns on the corridor and align with 
the community’s vision were developed and refined through an iterative design process.  Potential 
cross sections for each segment were presented and discussed with Caltrans, stakeholders, and 
community members to define the final design.  

With a grant from the Caltrans Sustainable Communities Program, the Town of Colma developed 
the El Camino Real Bicycle and Pedestrian Improvement Plan, which aims to improve safety and 
mobility for people who walk and bike along El Camino Real and to increase access to public 
transportation. The Plan was developed to serve the needs of all users of the corridor, including 
those of disadvantaged communities. Extensive community and technical stakeholder 
engagement were undertaken to understand existing issues and opportunities, discuss potential 
improvements, and ultimately arrive at a preferred set of recommendations that reflect the long-
term local vision of the Colma community. 



25977.00100\34211567.1 

2021 Highway Program Measure A/W Funding Application Page 3 of 3 
October 13, 2021 
 

ANALYSIS 

The ultimate design and implementation of improvements along El Camino Real will require 
approval from Caltrans through the oversight process since El Camino Real is a state-owned 
roadway. The proposed improvements will require varying levels of documentation, additional  
study, and review to receive approval.  During the Project Initiation Documentation (PID) phase 
of the project, a network traffic analysis is recommended as the most immediate next step to 
capture the effect of the full project build-out on traffic flow on El Camino Real and intersecting 
streets in Colma, as well as in the neighboring communities, South San Francisco and Daly City. 
The traffic analysis should be scoped in coordination with a Caltrans Project Study Report (PSR), 
another element of the PID, to identify appropriate analysis scenarios, likely including evaluation 
of No Build and Project scenarios for both present day and a future horizon year. 

Town of Colma staff prepared a 2021 Highway Program Measure A and Measure W funding 
application for the above described PID phase.  This application was submitted to the San Mateo 
County Transportation Authority on September 24, 2021 (Attachment B). The PID phase funding 
requirement is approximately $2,000,000. The funding application was for a requested amount 
of $1,800,000 with a 10% local match requirement of $200,000. 

To complete the funding application for the PID phase of the Project, a City Council adopted 
resolution supporting the Colma El Camino Real Bicycle and Pedestrian improvement plan project 
and authorizing submittal of an application for the 2021 Measure A and Measure W highway 
program funding is required. 

COUNCIL ADOPTED VALUES 

The City Council approved a master plan that addresses bicycle and pedestrian safety and 
transportation deficiencies on El Camino Real in Colma. The master plan created a vision of how 
the highway could be reconstructed to accommodate all modes of transportation, a plan that 
endorses safety and promotes healthy modes of travel along El Camino Real. The approval of the 
resolution is a continuation of the vision that ECR can be viable for all modes of travel. 

CONCLUSION 

Staff is requesting that City Council approve a resolution supporting the Colma El Camino Real 
Bicycle and Pedestrian Improvement Plan project and authorizing the submittal of an application 
for Measure A and Measure W Highway Program Funding to fund the PID phase of the project. 

ATTACHMENTS 

A. Resolution 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Reso 2021-__ Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan Funding Page 1 of 3 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021- 
OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF COLMA 

RESOLUTION SUPPORTING THE COLMA EL CAMINO REAL BICYCLE AND 
PEDESTRIAN IMPROVEMENT PLAN PROJECT AND AUTHORIZING SUBMITTAL OF AN 

APPLICATION FOR 2021 MEASURE A AND MEASURE W HIGHWAY PROGRAM 
FUNDING 

The City Council of the Town of Colma does hereby resolve as follows: 

1. Background

(a) The El Camino Real corridor in Colma includes narrow and missing sidewalks, long
and infrequent crosswalks, discontinuous bicycle facilities, and high travel speeds, and 

(b) The Town of Colma developed the El Camino Real Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Improvement Plan, which aims to improve safety and mobility for people who walk and bike along 
El Camino Real and to increase access to public transportation, and 

(c) It will cost $2,000,000 to implement the Project Initiation Documents (PID) phase 
to include the Project Study Report (PSR) and the Network Traffic Analysis. 

2. Findings

(a) The Town of Colma wishes to sponsor the submittal of an application for Measure
A and Measure W grant funding for the development of the El Camino Real Improvement Project, 
Project Initiation Documents (PID) as required by the California Department of Transportation 
(CalTrans) when developing a highway improvement project that is constructed on the California 
Highway system, and 

(b) The Town of Colma seeks $1,800,000 for PID phase, and 

(c) On June 7, 1988, the voters of San Mateo County approved a ballot measure to 
allow the collection and distribution by the San Mateo County Transportation Authority (TA) of a 
half-cent transactions and use tax in San Mateo County for 25 years, with the tax revenues to be 
used for highway and transit improvements pursuant to the Transportation Expenditure Plan 
presented to the voters (Original Measure A); and 

(d) On November 2, 2004, the voters of San Mateo County approved the continuation 
of the collection and distribution by the TA of the half-cent transactions and use tax for an 
additional 25 years to implement the 2004 Transportation Expenditure Plan beginning January 1, 
2009 (New Measure A); and  

(e) On November 6, 2018, the voters of San Mateo County approved a ballot measure 
known as "Measure W," which increased the sales tax in San Mateo County by 1/2 percent, and 
tasked the TA with administering four of the five transportation program categories pursuant to 
the Congestion Relief Plan presented to the voters; and  

(f) The TA issued a Call for Projects for the Measure A and Measure W Highway 
Program funds on August 6, 2021, and 

Attachment A



Reso 2021-__ Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan Funding  Page 2 of 3 

(g) The TA requires applicants for Measure A and/or Measure W funds to submit a 
resolution in support of the application, in this case for $1,800,000 in Measure A Highway Program 
funds for PID phase, and 

(h) The TA also requires applicants to submit a resolution committing to the 
completion of the proposed project scope, in this case PID phase, and 

(i) If the TA Board awards Measure A and/or Measure W Highway Program funds to 
the PID phase, the TA will require that the Town of Colma commence work on the PID phase 
within one year of TA Board action. 

3. Order 

The City Council of the Town of Colma hereby: 

(a) Directs staff to submit an application for TA 2021 Measure A and Measure W 
Highway Program funds for $1,800,000 for the Project Initiation Documents (PID) phase. 

(b) Authorizes the City Manager to execute a funding agreement with the San Mateo 
County Transportation Authority for the Town of Colma to receive any Measure A and/or Measure 
W Highway Program funds awarded. 

(c) Commits $200,000 in Town matching funds for the completion of Project Initiation 
Documents (PID) phase, if awarded the requested TA Measure A and/or Measure W Highway 
Program funds. 

(d) Directs the Town of Colma to commence work on Project Initiation Documents 
(PID) phase within one year of receiving an award of Measure A and/or Measure W Highway 
Program Funds. 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

 



Reso 2021-__ Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan Funding  Page 3 of 3 

Certification of Adoption 

I certify that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-__ was adopted at a regular meeting of the City 
Council of the Town of Colma held on October ___, 2021 by the following vote: 
 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
 Aye No Abstain Not Participating   
Diana Colvin, Mayor      
Helen Fisicaro      
Raquel Gonzalez       
Joanne F. del Rosario      
John Irish Goodwin      

Voting Tally      
 
 
Dated ______________________  ___________________________________ 
      Diana Colvin, Mayor 
 
 
      ATTEST: ____________________________ 
          Caitlin Corley, City Clerk 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



F Street Retaining Wall Improvement Project 
October 13, 2021 Page 1 of 2 

STAFF REPORT 

TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council 
FROM: Brad Donohue, Director of Public Works, CSG 

Nichol Bowersox, Project Manager 
VIA:  Brian Dossey, City Manager 
MEETING DATE: October 13, 2021 
SUBJECT:  F Street Retaining Wall Improvement Project – Reject All Bids 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council make the following motion: 

MOTION REJECTING ALL BIDS FOR THE F STREET RETAINING WALL IMPROVEMENT 
PROJECT 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Pursuant to Public Contract Code section 22038, a legislative body may reject any bids presented 
for a project. Staff now recommends that all bids for the F Street Retaining Wall Improvement 
Project received be rejected and rebid the project in early 2022. Early 2022 rebidding may 
increase the number of bidders as contractors will have more capacity for new jobs at the 
beginning of the construction season.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact associated with this action. 

BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 

In 2019, the Town requested the Town’s Engineering staff to review the existing wall and 
provide a report with condition assessments and recommendations.  Based on the findings of 
the inspection and condition assessment, staff identified several repair measures to address the 
wall deficiencies.  Repairs consisted of chipping away all unsound concrete, preparing concrete 
and steel surfaces and placing an epoxy concrete patch material.  Cracks will be pressure 
injected with epoxy to seal the cracks and prevent water intrusion and corrosion of the 
reinforcement.  Drain rock and weep holes will be added to the existing lower wall to reduce 
loading due to water pressure build up behind the wall. 

Item #7



F Street Retaining Wall Improvement Project 
October 13, 2021  Page 2 of 2 

Staff prepared project plans and bid specifications (“Bid Package”) for the F Street Retaining Wall 
Improvement Project (“Project”) and on July 28, 2021, the City Council approved the plans and 
adopted the resolution authorizing staff to advertise the Bid Package. 

Two (2) bids were received and publicly opened on September 7, 2021. One bid received was for 
a base bid amount of $299,800.00 and the second bid received was for a base bid amount of 
$460,202.50. Both bids exceeded the Engineer’s Estimate of $252,760 for the base bid scope of 
work. The higher-than-expected bid prices may be due to several factors including contractor 
supply and demand, and the potential cost implications as a result of COVID-19. 

COUNCIL ADOPTED VALUES 

By moving to reject all bids, the City Council is acting responsibly, in that by rejecting all bids 
for the F Street Wall Improvement Project, the Town can go back out to bid when there may be 
a more competitive bidding climate.   

SUMMARY 

Staff recommends that the City Council move to reject all bids for the F Street Retaining Wall 
Improvement Project. 

 



Staff Report re Resolution Supporting Cities Gaming Initiative Page 1 of 7 
October 13, 2021 

STAFF REPORT

TO:  Mayor and Members of the City Council 

FROM:  Brian Dossey, City Manager 

MEETING DATE: October 13, 2021 

SUBJECT: Resolution Supporting Cities Gaming Initiative 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt the following: 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF COLMA SUPPORTING THE 
CITIES GAMING INITIATIVE  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This report advises the City Council of competing statewide ballot measures intended for the 
November 2022 ballot that would remake the laws on gaming in California.  

Of the three ballot measures, one measure benefits the public’s interest in gaming and provides 
new revenues to the State of California to allocate toward the social needs in California such as 
homelessness, affordable housing, mental health, and education for allocation to cities and 
counties.  In addition, it provides new revenues to cities that permit gaming. 

The three statewide gaming ballot measures are: 

1. The California Sports Wagering Regulation and Unlawful Gambling Enforcement
Act (hereafter called the “Tribal Gaming Initiative”) that is advanced by the Tribal Chairmen 
of the Pechanga Indian Reservation Temecula Band of Luiseno Mission Indians, the Barona Band 
of Mission Indians, the Agua Caliente Band of Cahuilla Indians, and the Yocha Dehe Wintun 
Nation, each of which operates one or more Nevada Style Casinos on its tribal land in California. 

2. The California Sports Wagering and Consumer Protection Act (hereafter called the
“Cities Gaming Initiative”) that is advanced by City Council Members of cities that license card 
clubs in their cities.  

3. The California Solutions to Homelessness and Mental Health Support Act (hereafter
called the “Tribal Draft-Kings Initiative”) that is advanced by individuals named John J. Moffit 
and Kurt R. Oneto submitted on August 31, 2021.  

Item #8



Staff Report re Resolution Supporting Cities Gaming Initiative Page 2 of 7 
October 13, 2021 

The Tribal Gaming Initiative has qualified for the November 8, 2022, ballot while the Cities 
Gaming Initiative and the Tribal Draft-Kings Initiative are in the early stages of qualifying 
for the same ballot. 

These three ballot measures propose to amend the California Constitution so as to permit sports 
wagering and other gambling games with fundamentally different outcomes to the people of the 
state of California.  This report attached the side-by-side comparison of all three competing ballot 
measures prepared by the California Cities Gaming Authority, a joint powers authority of California 
Cities (“CCGA”).  For a full side by side analysis please see attachment A. 

INTRODUCTION  
 

Section 19 of Article IV of the State of California governs gambling in the state.  In particular, 
subsection 19(a) prohibits lotteries and subsection 19(e) prohibits casinos in the entire State of 
California. 

Subsection 19(e) provides as follows: 

The Legislature has no power to authorize, and shall prohibit, casinos of the type 
currently operating in Nevada and New Jersey. 

On March 7, 2000, a ballot measure known as Proposition 1A, adopted Section 19(f) to Article IV 
of the California Constitution.  Section 19(f) relaxed the prohibition against Nevada style casinos 
by permitting only Indian Tribes to operate casinos on Indian lands that offer slot machines, 
lotteries and banking and percentage card games. 

The Tribal Gaming Initiative and the Cities Gaming Initiative propose further amendments 
to Section 19 of Article IV of the California Constitution.  The Tribal Draft-Kings Initiative 
proposes to add Section 19.5 to Article IV of the California Constitution. 

This report summarizes all three initiatives based on the attached CCGA comparative analysis.  

WILL THE PUBLIC BENEFIT FINANCIALLY FROM SPORTS WAGERING? 

Cities Gaming Initiative 

Yes.  The public will benefit. 

The public benefits flow from three elements of this Initiative.  First, it permits many entities to 
conduct sports wagering - not just Indian Tribes but Indian Tribes are permitted to conduct sports 
wagering. Second, it taxes all revenues from sports wagering of all entities permitted to conduct 
sports wagering.  Third, it requires the State Legislature to expend taxes from sports wagering 
to promote important social needs of the state.  

Tribal Gaming Initiative  

No. There is no public benefit. Only gaming tribes will benefit. 

This ballot measure does not require Indian Tribes to pay taxes on their existing Casino revenues 
nor on their additional revenues from sports wagering.  



Staff Report re Resolution Supporting Cities Gaming Initiative Page 3 of 7 
October 13, 2021 

Racetrack Operators will be permitted to offer sports wagering at the racing tracks they operate, 
but racing tracks operated by state fairs are excluded. Thus, the Tribal Gaming Initiative 
permits sports wagering at the following four (4) racing tracks in California: Santa Anita Park, Del 
Mar Racetrack, Los Alamitos Race Course and Golden Gate Field.  

Tribal-Draft Kings Initiative (DFS Gaming Initiative) 

Minimal 

Indian Tribes with Casinos and their appointed Operators will reap the entire benefit.  They will 
acquire a monopoly over all online sports betting in the State of California.   

The public will receive the license fees paid to the State Treasury by the licensed operators.  
The public also may receive some undeterminable amounts from a proposed surcharge payable 
only by the operators appointed by the Indian Tribes with Casinos.  Since it is unknown which 
Indian Tribes will appoint operators, the amount of license fees paid to the State Treasury 
cannot be ascertained correctly. 

WHAT ENTITIES WILL BE PERMITTED TO OPERATE SPORTS WAGERING?  

Cities Gaming Initiative 

The following entities will be permitted to operate sports wagering at their facilities: 
1. Licensed racing associations (Horse racing tracks)  

2. Federally recognized Indian Tribes (Tribal casinos)  

3. Licensed gambling establishments (Cardrooms)  

4. Professional sports teams from Major league baseball, National Hockey League, 
National Basketball Association, National Football League, Women’s National Basketball 
Association and Major League Soccer.  

5. Online or mobile sports wagering operators. Sports wagering may be conducted 
on professional and collegiate events only – but not on high school events. 

Tribal Gaming Initiative  

The only entities that can offer sports wagering in California are Indian Tribes and Approved 
Racetrack Operators.  The privilege is not extended to Card Clubs or Professional sports teams.  
The Tribal Gaming Initiative is a plan by Indian Tribes with Las Vegas Casinos to own 
gambling in the State of California – not just sports wagering.  

The Tribal Gaming Initiative gives Indian Tribes powers sufficient to drive cardrooms out of 
business by establishing Indian Casinos on non-Tribal lands in the cities that license cardrooms.  
Cardrooms cannot compete with Indian Casinos that offer sports wagering, slot machines, craps, 
roulette, non-banked card games such as Blackjack and lotteries.  

When cardrooms go out of business, city services to residents are cancelled or reduced drastically.   



Staff Report re Resolution Supporting Cities Gaming Initiative Page 4 of 7 
October 13, 2021 

Tribal-Draft Kings Initiative (DFS Gaming Initiative) 

Indian Tribes that currently operate Nevada-style casinos in California are the only entities that 
will be permitted to operate online sports betting over the internet and on mobile devices to 
persons in California.   

The privilege to conduct online sports betting is not extended to other licensed gaming entities 
such as licensed gambling establishments or Racing Tracks or to any Professional sports 
leagues or teams.  The DFS Gaming Initiative also grants confidentiality to Indian Tribes and 
their appointed operators, and it requires the State of California to finance the implementation 
of online sports betting. 

ARE TAXES PAYABLE BY OPERATORS OF SPORTS WAGERING?  

Cities Gaming Initiative 

Yes. 

Each sport wagering operator must pay a tax equal to 15% of gross revenues to the State 
Treasury.   

The Cities Gaming Initiative requires the state legislature to appropriate all tax revenues to 
fund the issues of homelessness, affordable housing, public education and mental health except 
revenues designated for problem gambling programs.  

In addition, card clubs will be required to pay taxes on the gross receipts derived from new games 
to the cities that license the card clubs. 

Tribal Gaming Initiative 

No. Indian Tribes pay no taxes. 

Indian Tribes are not required to pay taxes to the State of California on their current gaming 
revenues. 

Likewise, the Tribal Gaming Initiative does not require Indian Tribes to pay taxes to the State 
of California or any other governmental entity on revenues the Tribes derive from the new games 
authorized by the initiative. 

Tribal-Draft Kings Initiative (DFS Gaming Initiative) 

No 

Indian Tribes are not required to pay taxes to the State of California on their Casino gaming 
revenues.   

Similarly, the DFS Gaming Initiative will not require Indian Tribes or their designated 
operators to pay taxes to the State of California or to any local governmental entity on revenues 
they derive from online sports betting.  In fact, all revenues the Indian Tribes, or their 



Staff Report re Resolution Supporting Cities Gaming Initiative Page 5 of 7 
October 13, 2021 

designated operators, derive from online sports betting are explicitly exempt from all forms of 
State and local taxation.  

WILL CITIES AND CARDROOMS BENEFIT? 

Cities Gaming Initiative 

Yes. 

Under the Cities Gaming Initiative, cities benefit because cardrooms will be permitted to offer 
games played with cards or tiles including “Blackjack”, “21”, and “Baccarat” that are not banked 
games.  Cardrooms will be required to pay taxes on revenues from new games to the cities that 
license them. 

Tribal Gaming Initiative 

No. 

Under the Tribal Gaming Initiative, cities, unlike Indian Tribes, may not authorize cardrooms 
to offer “roulette, games played w ith dice, and sports wagering.”  Furthermore, cities may 
not authorize cardrooms to offer games played with cards or tiles including “Blackjack”, “21”, and 
“Baccarat” that are not banked games. 

Thus, this initiative does not provide cities the opportunity to receive new tax revenues from 
cardrooms, because cities cannot authorize cardrooms to offer additional games. 

Tribal-Draft Kings Initiative (DFS Gaming Initiative) 

No 

This Initiative does not grant authority to cities or licensed gambling establishments to conduct 
online sports betting. Thus, the DFS Gaming Initiative does not provide cities the 
opportunity to receive new tax revenues from online sports betting.  

WILL THE PUBLIC BE PROTECTED? 

Cities Gaming Initiative 

Yes. 

Subsection 19(j) imposes requirements on operators of sports wagering, including Indian tribes, 
for the protection of the public. 

Tribal Gaming Initiative 

Yes. 

Subsection 19(i) excludes specified events from sports wagering. 

Tribal-Draft Kings Initiative (DFS Gaming Initiative) 



Staff Report re Resolution Supporting Cities Gaming Initiative Page 6 of 7 
October 13, 2021 

Minimal 

While persons under age 21 are prohibited from participating in online sports betting, violations 
by operators are punishable as infractions, but an unspecified disciplinary action may be 
imposed.  
 
Operators also are required to permit individuals to remove themselves from online sports 
betting.   
 
However, the public is granted no right to obtain information about the identity or finances of 
the persons who operate online sports betting in California.  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AUTHORITY ON BALLOT MEASURES 

Local governmental entities may expend public resources to provide factual information and 
analysis about the purpose, provisions, or estimated impact of bond issues or ballot measures in 
some circumstances.  Stanson v. Mott (1976) 17 C.3d. 206; Keller v. State Bar (1989) 47 C.3d 
1152; Vargas v. City of Salinas (2009) 46 Cal 4th 1. 

“in Stanson we explicitly recognized that a governmental agency “pursues a proper 
informational role when it ... authorizes an agency employee to present the department's 
view of a ballot proposal at a meeting of [a private or public] organization” (Stanson, 
supra, 17 Cal.3d at p. 221, 130 Cal.Rptr. 697, 551 P.2d 1), thus making it clear that it is 
permissible for a public entity to evaluate the merits of a proposed ballot measure and to 
make its views known to the public. Accordingly, we agree with those Court of Appeal 
decisions rendered after Stanson that explicitly have held that Stanson does not preclude a 
governmental entity from publicly expressing an opinion with regard to the merits of a 
proposed ballot measure, so long as it does not expend public funds to mount a campaign 
on the measure.”  Vargas v. City of Salinas (2009) 46 Cal 4th 1, 36. 

Further, the Supreme Court’s statement, in Stanson, that a government “may not ‘take sides’ in 
election contests” means that a public entity’s use of the public treasury to mount an election 
campaign is the potentially suspect conduct rather than precluding a public entity’s analytically 
evaluating a proposed ballot measure and publicly expressing an opinion on its merits. Vargas v. 
City of Salinas (2009) 46 Cal 4th 1, 36. 

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

The CCGA Comparative Analysis demonstrates a profound disparity in the public benefits and the 
private benefits from these initiatives. 

The Tribal Gaming Initiative benefits Indian Tribes over all other entities engaged in gaming 
like cities, cardrooms and all other entities seeking to offer sports wagering like professional sport 
teams from major league baseball, basketball and football, etc.  Moreover, the Tribal Gaming 
Initiative exempts all Indian Tribal gaming revenues from state or local taxation. 

The Tribal-Draft King Gaming Initiative (DFS Gaming Initiative) benefits Indian Tribes with 
Casinos by granting them a constitutional right to conduct online sports betting exclusively over 
all other entities.  The initiative also exempts all Indian Tribes with Casinos from state or 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1989028976&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=I6b78b2bb2dbb11deb23ec12d34598277&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1989028976&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=I6b78b2bb2dbb11deb23ec12d34598277&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1976114541&pubNum=661&originatingDoc=I6b78b2bb2dbb11deb23ec12d34598277&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1976114541&pubNum=661&originatingDoc=I6b78b2bb2dbb11deb23ec12d34598277&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)


Staff Report re Resolution Supporting Cities Gaming Initiative Page 7 of 7 
October 13, 2021 

location taxation on all revenues from online sports betting.  Instead, the state would receive 
the license fees paid by operators and there is a possibility of further revenue from a proposed 
10% surcharge on operators appointed by the Tribes with Casinos.  

Conversely, the Cities Gaming Initiative opens sports wagering to every entity licensed to 
conduct gaming in California including Indian Tribes and to all professional sports teams seeking 
to conduct sports wagering.  Likewise, the Cities Gaming Initiative creates enormous tax 
revenues to the State of California on gross gaming revenues from sports wagering.  It also 
directs the legislature to expend such revenues on homelessness, affordable housing, public 
education, mental health, and problem gambling programs. 

Based on the foregoing, it is recommended the City Council adopt the attached resolution in 
support of the Cities Gaming Initiative and encourages all California Cities to do the same. 

ATTACHMENTS 

A. CCGA Comparative Analysis 

B. CCGA Resolution 

C. Proposed Resolution 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



1 

September 27, 2021 

Board of Directors 
California Cities Gaming Authority 

Re: Comparative Analysis of Statewide Ballot Measures to Amend the 
California Constitution to Authorize Sports Wagering in California 

Dear Board of Directors: 

This report compares the following three statewide gaming ballot measures: 

1. The California Sports Wagering Regulation and Unlawful Gambling Enforcement Act
(hereafter called the “Tribal Gaming Initiative”) that is advanced by the Tribal
Chairmen of the Pechanga Indian Reservation Temecula Band of Luiseno Mission
Indians, the Barona Band of Mission Indians, the Agua Caliente Band of Cahuilla
Indians and the Yocha Dehe Wintun Nation, each of which operates one or more
Nevada Style Casinos on its tribal land in California.

2. The California Solutions to Homelessness and Mental Health Act (hereafter called
the DFS Gaming Initiative) that is advanced by Kurt Oneto and John Moffat.  Kurt
Onet is a partner in the Sacramento law firm of Nielsen Merksamer LLP who
specializes in qualifying statewide ballot measures.  John Moffat is a partner in the
same law firm.  However, Politico reports that the true backers include the Draft
Kings and others who are partnering with Indian Tribes.1

3. The California Solutions to Homelessness, Public Education Funding, Affordable
Housing and Reduction of Problem Gambling Act (hereafter called the Cities
Gaming Initiative”) that is advanced by City Council Members of cities that regulate
licensed gambling establishments in their cities.

The Tribal Gaming Initiative has qualified for the November 8, 2022 ballot while the 
DFS Gaming Initiative and the Cities Gaming Initiative are in the early stages of 
qualifying for the same ballot.   

These three ballot measures propose to amend the California Constitution so as to 
permit sports wagering and other gambling games with fundamentally different 

1 Politico “Sports Betting Giants Back Online Betting Initiative in California” (08/31/2021) 

Attachment A



2 
 

outcomes to the people of the State of California.  This report provides a side-by-side 
comparison of the fundamental elements of these three competing ballot measures. 
 

INTRODUCTION 

Section 19 of Article IV of the State of California governs gambling in the state.  In 
particular, subsection 19(a) prohibits lotteries and subsection 19(e) prohibits casinos in 
the entire State of California.   

Subsection 19(e) provides as follows: 

The Legislature has no power to authorize, and shall prohibit, casinos of the type 
currently operating in Nevada and New Jersey. 

On March 7, 2000, a ballot measure known as Proposition 1A, adopted Section 19(f) to 
Article IV of the California Constitution.  Section 19(f) relaxed the prohibition against 
Nevada style casinos by permitting only Indian Tribes to operate casinos on tribal lands 
that offer slot machines, lotteries and banking and percentage card games. 

The Tribal Gaming Initiative and the Cities Gaming Initiative propose further 
amendments to Section 19 of Article IV of the California Constitution.  The DFS Gaming 
Initiative proposes the addition of a new Section 19.5 to Article IV of the California 
Constitution and a new chapter to the Business & Professions Code. 

This comparison analyzes the three ballot measures according to common topics in the 
form of questions germane to the three ballot measures. 

WILL THE PUBLIC BENEFIT FINANCIALLY FROM SPORTS WAGERING? 

Cities Gaming Initiative 

Yes.  The public will benefit.   

The public benefits flow from three elements of this Initiative.  First, it permits many 
entities to conduct sports wagering - not just Indian Tribes but Indian Tribes are 
permitted to conduct sports wagering. Second, it taxes all revenues from sports 
wagering of entities permitted to conduct sports wagering.  Third, it requires the State 
Legislature to expend taxes from sports wagering to promote important social needs of 
the State of California.  The taxes and their uses are as follows:  

• The 15% tax on gross revenues generated from sports wagering and all license 
fees, less regulatory costs associated with sports wagering, must be expended by 
the legislature consistent with the California Constitution and Proposition 98 for 
public education with all remaining funds directed to local governments (cities and 
counties) to combat homelessness, create affordable housing, and mental health.  
 



3 
 

• An additional 1% of gross revenues from sports wagering, not to exceed ten million 
dollars ($10,000,000), must be expended on problem gambling programs.  

 
Section 19(j)(10) of Article IV of the California Constitution. 

Tribal Gaming Initiative 

No. There is no public benefit. Only Indian Tribes with Casinos will benefit. 

This ballot measure does not require Indian Tribes to pay taxes on their existing Casino 
revenues nor on their additional revenues from sports wagering.  Proposed Section 
19(f) to Article IV of the California Constitution. 

Racetrack Operators will be permitted to offer sports wagering at the racing tracks they 
operate, but racing tracks operated by State Fairs are excluded. Thus, the Tribal 
Gaming Initiative only permits sports wagering at the following four (4) racing tracks in 
California: Santa Anita Park, Del Mar Racetrack, Los Alamitos Race Course and Golden 
Gate Field.  The Racetrack Operators will be required to pay a 10% tax on net revenues 
from sports wagering.  This 10% tax will be distributed as follows: (a) 15% for problem 
gambling prevention and mental health, (b) 15% to the Bureau of Gambling Control for 
the implementation and enforcement of sports wagering, (c) 70% to the state general 
fund.  Proposed Section 19(h) to Article IV of the California Constitution and Proposed 
Section 19670-19674 to the Business & Professions Code.   

DFS Gaming Initiative 

Indian Tribes with Casinos and their appointed Operators will reap the entire benefit.  
They will acquire a monopoly over all online sports betting in the State of California.   

No other persons or entities will be granted the right to operate online sports betting.  
The DFS Gaming Initiative excludes all licensed gaming establishments like 
cardrooms and Race Tracks.  It also excludes all professional sports leagues and 
teams.  These exclusions deprive the public of new tax revenues from online sports 
betting. 

The public will receive the license fees paid to the State Treasury by the licensed 
operators.  The public also may receive some undeterminable amounts from a 
proposed surcharge payable only by the operators appointed by the Indian Tribes with 
Casinos.  Since it is unknown which Indian Tribes will appoint operators, the amount of 
license fees paid to the State Treasury cannot be ascertained correctly. 

Neither the State of California nor any local governmental entity may impose a tax on 
Indian Tribes or their appointed operators on revenues they derive from online sports 
betting. 



4 
 

All license fees and possible surcharges are to be paid into the Online Sports Betting 
Fund. The money in the Fund is to be appropriated by the legislature as follows: (a) 
85% to counties and cities for homelessness and mental health programs and the cost 
to administer online sports betting and (b) 15% for Indian tribes that do not participate in 
online sports betting.  

WHAT ENTITIES WILL BE PERMITTED TO OPERATE SPORTS WAGERING? 

Cities Gaming Initiative 

The following entities will be permitted to operate sports wagering at their facilities: 

1. Licensed racing associations (Horse racing tracks) 
 

2. Federally recognized Indian Tribes (Tribal casinos) 
 

3. Licensed gambling establishments 
 

4. Professional sports teams from Major League Baseball, National Hockey 
League, National Basketball Association, National Football League, Women’s 
National Basketball Association and Major League Soccer.  
 

5. Online or mobile sports wagering operators.  
 
Proposed Section 19(i)(2) to Article IV of the California Constitution. 

Sports wagering may be conducted on professional and collegiate events only – but not 
on high school events. Proposed Section 19 (i)(12) to Article IV of the California 
Constitution.  

Tribal Gaming Initiative 

The only entities that can offer sports wagering in California are Indian Tribes and 
Approved Racetrack Operators.  The privilege is not extended to licensed gambling 
establishments or Professional sports teams.  Proposed Sections 19(f) and 19(h) to 
Article IV of the California Constitution.   

In addition, this Initiative will permit Indian Tribes to offer gambling games not permitted 
currently.  Indians Tribes will be permitted to conduct and operate “roulette and games 
played with dice.”  Proposed Section 19(f) to Article IV of the California Constitution.  
The existing Section 19(f) of Article IV does not permit Indian Tribes to conduct and 
operate roulette or craps, but some Tribal Casinos offer such games anyway.   

The Tribal Gaming Initiative is a plan by Indian Tribes with Las Vegas Casinos to own 
gambling in the State of California – not just sports wagering.  The plan consists of two 
foundational elements embedded in the Initiative that grant a monopoly to Indian Tribes 



5 
 

over all gambling in the State of California without any obligation to pay taxes on their 
gambling revenues. 

The first element is the power to conduct three types of gambling that are currently 
prohibited in California.  The initiative would permit Indian Tribes with Las Vegas 
Casinos to conduct “roulette, games played with dice and sports-wagering.” Section 
19(f).  

The second element is the exemption from taxation on all revenues derived from these 
three new types of gambling.  The exemption is a continuation of the existing language 
of Section 19(f) of Article IV of the California Constitution that is devoid of any obligation 
to pay taxes from gambling revenues to the State of California or any other 
governmental entity. 

Such powers far exceed what Indian Tribes with Las Vegas Casinos need to survive – a 
goal that was accomplished by the passage of Proposition 1A on March7, 2000.   

In contrast, Cities may only license and regulate licensed gambling establishments to 
play non-banked card games, which means that cardrooms, unlike Indian Tribes, 
cannot be the dealer or a player in any card game.  Cities derive tax revenues from 
licensed gambling establishments to fund public services such senior and youth 
services and events, as well as traditional police and fire services.  Cities derive these 
revenues by imposing taxes ranging from 10% to 15% of a licensed gambling 
establishment’s gross revenues.  

The Tribal Gaming Initiative gives Indian Tribes powers sufficient to drive licensed 
gambling establishments out of business.  They cannot compete with Indian Casinos 
that offer sports wagering, slot machines, craps, roulette, banked card games such as 
Blackjack and lotteries. 

When licensed gambling establishments go out of business, cities will not be able to 
replace lost gaming revenues, and city services to residents will be cancelled or 
reduced drastically.  

DFS Gaming Initiative 

Indian Tribes that currently operate Nevada-style casinos in California are the only entities 
that will be permitted to operate online sports betting over the internet and on mobile 
devices to persons in California.   

In addition, any such Indian Tribe may appoint a gaming entity to conduct online sports 
betting on behalf of the Indian Tribe. 

Furthermore, the right to conduct online sports betting is made a constitutional right and 
granted to such Indian Tribes exclusively. Proposed Section 19.5 to Article IV of the 
California Constitution.  
 



6 
 

The privilege to conduct online sports betting is not extended to other licensed gaming 
entities such as licensed gambling establishments or Racing Tracks or to any 
Professional sports leagues or teams.  The DFS Gaming Initiative also grants 
confidentiality to Indian Tribes and their appointed operators and it requires the State of 
California to finance the implementation of online sports betting. 

• All license applications of Indian Tribes and their appointed operators including 
all attached documents, reports and data containing financial information or 
personal information will be exempt from disclosure to the public under the 
Public Records Act. 
 

• In order to implement sports betting under this Initiative, the State will be 
required to loan $30 Million to fund the commencement and regulation of online 
sporting betting, but no Indian Tribe or appointed operator will be required to 
repay any part of the loan.  Instead, it will be repaid from license fees paid by the 
operators.  

 

WILL INDIAN TRIBES OR THE STATE REGULATE SPORTS WAGERING? 

Cities Gaming Initiative 

This Initiative would authorize the California Department of Consumer Affairs to license 
all operators seeking to offer sports wagering and to investigate and audit all facilities that 
operate sports wagering unless otherwise provided in a tribal state compact.   

The Department of Consumer Affairs also is directed to adopt all regulations necessary 
to implement sports wagering, protect consumers and prevent corruption. In addition, the 
California State Auditor is directed to perform an annual audit of the gross revenues from 
sports wagering of each operator so licensed.   

Proposed Section 19(i) to Article IV of the California Constitution. 

The new games proposed for cardrooms will continue to be regulated by the cities that 
license them, the California Gambling Control Commission and the Bureau of Gambling 
Control in the Department of Justice. 

Tribal Gaming Initiative 

The Tribal Gaming Initiative grants to Indian Tribes the right to conduct “sports 
wagering” at Tribal Casinos and on Indian Lands without the need to obtain any license 
from the State of California or to comply with any state regulation on sports wagering.  
Proposed Section 19(f) to Article IV of the California Constitution. 

This Initiative provides for amendments to existing tribal-state compacts to add sports 
wagering.  Proposed Section 12012.101 to the Government Code.  



7 
 

The Tribal Gaming Initiative does not prohibit persons under 21 years of age from 
engaging in sports wagering at Indian Casinos or on Indian Lands.  Persons under 21 
years are prohibited from sports wagering at Racing Tracks.  Proposed Section 19674 to 
the Business & Professions Code.  

This Initiative authorizes the State Legislature to enact statutes that establish the events 
on which “sports wagering” is permitted and statutes that provide consumer protections 
and anti-corruption measures.  Presumably, such statutes would be applicable to sports 
wagering at Tribal Casinos and on Indian Lands.  Proposed Section 19(i) to Article IV of 
the California Constitution. 

DFS Gaming Initiative 

Under the DFS Gaming Initiative, online sports betting will be largely unregulated by the 
State of California. Indian Tribes or their operators are required to apply for and obtain a 
license from the state which entities them to operate an online sports betting platform and 
to act as a sports betting supplier.  Licenses are valid for five (5) years.   

This Initiative grants virtual control over all online sports betting to the operators, whether 
the operators are Indian Tribes or their appointed gaming entities.  The following elements 
of control are explicitly granted to the operators: 

1. The adoption of rules for game play governing online sports betting transactions 
with its customers that include elements 2 - 6 below. 

2. The method for calculating and paying winning bets. 
3. The effect on bets, if any, of sports event schedule changes. 
4. The method of notifying consumers of odds changes. 
5. The method of funding an online sports betting account. 
6. The circumstances under which an operator may void a bet and notifying the 

consumer thereof. 
7. The determination and display of applicable lines, point spreads, odds, or other 

information pertaining to online sports betting; and the Department of Justice is 
explicitly prohibited from specifying such elements of sports betting and from 
requiring operators to disclose such information to the public. 

8. Operators cannot be required to obtain prior Department of Justice review or 
approval of any advertisement or promotion; but operators are required to avoid 
targeting minors, persons ineligible to place bets or who have self-excluded. 

9. Operators cannot be limited on the type or amount of free bets or promotional 
credits they may offer or issue.  

10. Operators have the right to pool liquidity from other states in which they are 
licensed to conduct sports betting. 

11. Operators have the right to maintain information about all bets placed including the 
identity of the bettor, the dollar amount and type of bet, the location from which the 
bet was placed and the outcome of each bet.  However, the operators are required 
to provide such information to the Department of Justice upon request.  
 



8 
 

Proposed Sections 19755, 19756 and 19760 of the Business & Professions Code. 

ARE TAXES PAYABLE BY OPERATORS OF SPORTS WAGERING? 

Cities Gaming Initiative 

Yes.   

Sport wagering operators are required to pay a tax equal to 15% of their gross revenues 
to the State Treasury.  Section 19 (j)(10A).  

The sport wagering operators also must pay a sum equal to 1% of gross revenues from 
all sports wagering and each Indian tribe must pay a sum equal to 1% of gross 
revenues from online sports wagering, not to exceed ten million dollars ($10,000,000), 
to the State Treasury to fund problem gambling programs.  Section 19 (j)(10B).  

Further, sports wagering platforms are required to pay a license fee of one million 
dollars ($1,000,000) every four years and a one-time initial license fee of five million 
dollars ($5,000,000) to the State Treasury.  Section 19 (j)(10C).   

All of the above revenues are to be deposited in the California Sports Wagering Fund in 
the State Treasury.  

The Cities Gaming Initiative requires the state legislature to appropriate moneys in the 
California Sports Wagering Fund, less those designated for problem gambling problems 
and the regulatory costs associated with sports wagering, consistent with the California 
Constitution and Proposition 98 for public education with all remaining funds directed to 
local governments to fund the issues of homelessness, affordable housing, public 
education and mental health. Section 19 (j)(10E).  

In addition, licensed gambling establishments will be required to pay taxes on the gross 
revenues derived from new games authorized by the Initiative to the cities that license 
the licensed gambling establishments according to their existing gaming ordinances.  

Tribal Gaming Initiative 

No. Indian Tribes will pay no taxes.    

Indian Tribes are not now required to pay taxes to the State of California on their Casino 
gaming revenues.   

Although the Tribal Gaming Initiative authorizes Indian Tribes to conduct the games of 
“roulette, games played with dice and sports wagering,” it imposes no obligation on 
Indian Tribes to pay taxes on revenues they derive from such new games and from 
sports wagering. Proposed Section 19(f) to Article IV of the California Constitution.  



9 
 

While the Tribal Gaming Initiative places no tax on Indian Tribes, it will impose a 
“sports wagering tax” of 10% on net revenue of the four (4) racing tracks authorized to 
conduct sports wagering.  Such tax revenues shall be paid to the State Treasury and 
expended as follows: (i) 15% for problem gambling prevention and mental health, (ii) 
15% to the Bureau of Gambling Control for the cost of enforcement and implementation 
of sports wagering and (iii) 70% to the general fund.  Proposed Sections 19671, 19672 
and 19673 to the Business & Professions Code. 

DFS Gaming Initiative 

No.  Indian Tribes will not pay any taxes. 

Indian Tribes are not required to pay taxes to the State of California on their Casino 
gaming revenues.   

Similarly, the DFS Gaming Initiative will not require Indian Tribes or their designated 
operators to pay taxes to the State of California or to any local governmental entity on 
revenues they derive from online sports betting.  In fact, all revenues the Indian Tribes, 
or their designated operators, derive from online sports betting are explicitly exempt 
from all forms of State and local taxation. Proposed Section 19.5(d) to Article IV of the 
California Constitution. 

Instead, the DFS Gaming Initiative requires operators to pay license fees in order to 
obtain a license to operate an online sports betting platform. In addition, this Initiative 
will impose a “surcharge” on each online sports betting operator payable to the State 
Treasury; but Indian Tribes will not be required to pay any surcharge amount.  Due to 
the Initiative’s exclusions, any revenue to the State Treasury from the proposed 
surcharge is largely illusory.  Proposed Section 19775(a) to the Business & Professions 
Code.  

The DFS Gaming Initiative states that the amount of the surcharge will be equal to 
10% of each operator’s adjusted gross online betting receipts.  In computing its adjusted 
gross online betting receipts, operators are permitted to deduct the amount of all 
winnings and prizes paid out.  The Initiative contemplates that an operator’s adjusted 
gross online betting receipts will be a negative amount, in which case the operator 
would pay no surcharge amount to the State Treasury. Proposed Sections 19775 and 
19794(a) to the Business & Professions Code.  

In addition, the Indian Tribes appointed operators are entitled to deduct the entire 
amount of their initial license fee of one hundred million dollars ($100,000,000) from any 
surcharge amount they would be obligated to pay to the State Treasury.  Such 
operators may take the deduction in five annual increments of twenty million dollars 
($20,000,000), or in subsequent years if the operators renew their licenses.  In addition, 
such operators are entitled to deduct the entire amount of their renewal license fees of 
ten million dollars ($10,000,000) from any surcharge amount they would be obligated to 



10 
 

pay to the State Treasury.  Proposed Section 19775(d) to the Business & Professions 
Code.  

Furthermore, the DFS Gaming Initiative fails to empower the California Department of 
Justice or any other state regulatory agency to review and correct the amount of an 
operator’s adjusted gross online betting receipts or the surcharge amount an operator 
may pay to the State Treasury.  Thus, operators are granted complete discretion to 
calculate the amount of their gaming revenues and the amount of any surcharge they 
are obligated to pay the State Treasury.  The Department of Justice is only authorized 
to request an operator to hire a private firm to perform an audit, which may have the 
effect of determining conclusively that the operator accurately calculated and paid the 
surcharge amount.  The Department is not granted authority to override the audit 
findings; and it is unclear whether the Department has the authority to challenge them.  
The Department has the authority to adopt regulations to carry out the provisions of the 
Initiative, but it is not granted explicit authority to adopt regulations pertaining to the 
surcharge. Proposed Section 19775(f) and 19778 to the Business & Professions Code. 

WILL CITIES BENEFIT? 

Cities Gaming Initiative 

Yes. 

All Cities will benefit from the 15% tax on gross revenues generated from sports 
wagering and all license fees, less regulatory costs associated with sports wagering, as 
the revenues must be expended by the legislature consistent with the California 
Constitution and Proposition 98 for public education with all remaining funds directed to 
local governments (cities and counties) to combat homelessness, create affordable 
housing, and mental health.  
 
Cities with licensed gambling establishments will continue to receive tax revenues from 
the games currently played and from the new games they will be authorized to play. 
 
Tribal Gaming Initiative 

No. 

The Tribal Gaming Initiative does not provide cities the opportunity to receive new tax 
revenues from licensed gambling establishments.  

Furthermore, the Tribal Gaming Initiative grants new powers to Indian Tribes sufficient 
to drive licensed gambling establishments out of business.  Licensed gambling 
establishments cannot compete with Indian Casinos that offer sports wagering, slot 
machines, craps, roulette, non-banked card games such as Blackjack and lotteries. 



11 
 

Finally, the Tribal Gaming Initiative establishes a complaint process that can be 
initiated by any person or entity against licensed gambling establishments for alleged 
gaming violations that will encourage frivolous and costly lawsuits against such 
establishments.  However, the complaint process is not made available for use against 
Tribal Casinos.  

DFS Gaming Initiative 

No. 

This Initiative does not grant authority to cities or licensed gambling establishments to 
conduct online sports betting. Thus, the DFS Gaming Initiative does not provide cities 
the opportunity to receive new tax revenues from online sports betting.  

WILL THE PUBLIC BE PROTECTED? 

Cities Gaming Initiative 

Yes. 

Subsection 19(j) imposes the following requirements on operators of sports wagering for 
the protection of the public: 

• Persons placing bets must be 21 years of age; 
• Sports wagering shall not mimic slot machines or other casino-style game; 
• Wages on officiating of any sport or the occurrence of injuries are prohibited; 
• Marketing of sports wagering shall not be attractive to children; 
• Official league or association data shall be used for live betting; 
• Providers shall cooperate in barring individual who may harm the integrity of 

sports wagering. 
 
In addition, the California Department of Consumer Affairs shall be required to perform 
all licensing, investigatory and auditing functions over facilities that operate sports 
wagering. 

Furthermore, the California State Auditor shall be required to perform an audit of each 
licensee’s gross revenue each year and make the audit results available to the public 
under the California Public Record Act.  

Finally, any action to contest the scope of the validity of this Initiative shall be defended 
vigorously by an independent counsel, appointed by the Attorney General, in the event 
the Governor or Attorney General refuse to defend this Initiative.  

 

 



12 
 

Tribal Gaming Initiative 

No.   

The Tribal Gaming Initiative does not prohibit persons under 21 years of age from 
engaging in sports wagering at Indian Casinos or on Indian Lands.  Persons under 21 
years are prohibited from sports wagering at Racing Tracks.  

Only the following events are excluded from sports wagering at Tribal Casinos, Indian 
Lands and Racing Tracks: 

• High school sport or athletic event; 
• A sport or athletic event in which any California college team participates; 
• Any sport or athletic event or horse race that has been completed; and 
• Horse races and horse race meetings authorized by Subsection 19(b). 

 
Subsection 19(i) to Article IV of the California Constitution.  

DFS Gaming Initiative 

Minimal. 
 
While persons under age 21 are prohibited from participating in online sports betting, 
violations by operators are punishable as infractions, but an unspecified disciplinary 
action may be imposed.  Proposed Section 19752 of the Business & Professions Code.  
 
Operators also are required to permit individuals to remove themselves from online 
sports betting.  Proposed Section 19754 of the Business & Professions Code.  
 
However, the public is granted no right to obtain information about the identity or 
finances of the persons who operate online sports betting in California.  
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AUTHORITY ON BALLOT MEASURES 

Local governmental entities may expend public resources to provide factual information 
and analysis about the purpose, provisions, or estimated impact of bond issues or ballot 
measures in some circumstances. Stanson v. Mott (1976) 17 C.3d. 206; Keller v. State 
Bar (1989) 47 C.3d 1152; Vargas v. City of Salinas (2009) 46 Cal 4th 1.  
 

“in Stanson we explicitly recognized that a governmental agency “pursues a 
proper informational role when it ... authorizes an agency employee to present the 
department's view of a ballot proposal at a meeting of [a private or public] 
organization” (Stanson, supra, 17 Cal.3d at p. 221, 130 Cal.Rptr. 697, 551 P.2d 
1), thus making it clear that it is permissible for a public entity to evaluate the merits 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1989028976&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=I6b78b2bb2dbb11deb23ec12d34598277&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1989028976&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=I6b78b2bb2dbb11deb23ec12d34598277&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1976114541&pubNum=661&originatingDoc=I6b78b2bb2dbb11deb23ec12d34598277&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1976114541&pubNum=661&originatingDoc=I6b78b2bb2dbb11deb23ec12d34598277&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)


13 
 

of a proposed ballot measure and to make its views known to the public. 
Accordingly, we agree with those Court of Appeal decisions rendered 
after Stanson that explicitly have held that Stanson does not preclude a 
governmental entity from publicly expressing an opinion with regard to the merits 
of a proposed ballot measure, so long as it does not expend public funds to mount 
a campaign on the measure.”  Vargas v. City of Salinas (2009) 46 Cal 4th 1, 36.  
 

Further, the Supreme Court’s statement, in Stanson, that a government “may not ‘take 
sides’ in election contests” means that a public entity’s use of the public treasury to mount 
an election campaign is the potentially suspect conduct rather than precluding a public 
entity’s analytically evaluating a proposed ballot measure and publicly expressing an 
opinion on its merits. Vargas v. City of Salinas (2009) 46 Cal 4th 1, 36.  

 
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

This comparative analysis of the three competing gaming initiatives described herein as 
the Tribal Gaming Initiative, DFS Gaming Initiative and the Cities Gaming Initiative 
demonstrates a profound disparity in the existence of benefits to the public versus the 
private benefits to gambling enterprises from these initiatives.   

The Tribal Gaming Initiative benefits Indian Tribes over all other entities engaged in 
gaming like licensed gambling establishments and all other entities seeking to offer 
sports wagering like professional sport teams from major league baseball, basketball 
and football, etc.  

Moreover, the Tribal Gaming Initiative exempts all Indian Tribal gaming revenues from 
state or location taxation including revenues from sports wagering. 

The DFS Gaming Initiative benefits Indian Tribes with Casinos by granting them a 
constitutional right to conduct online sports betting exclusively over all other entities 
engaged in gaming like licensed gambling establishments, racing tracks and all other 
entities that may seek to offer online sports betting like professional sports teams from 
major league baseball, basketball and football, etc.  

In addition, the DFS Gaming Initiative exempts all Indian Tribes with Casinos from 
state or location taxation on all revenues from online sports betting.  Instead, the state 
would receive the license fees paid by operators and there is a possibility of further 
revenue from a proposed 10% surcharge on operators appointed by the Tribes with 
Casinos. 

Conversely, the Cities Gaming Initiative opens sports wagering including online or 
mobile sports wagering to every entity licensed to conduct gaming in California including 
Indian Tribes and to all professional sports teams seeking to conduct sports wagering.   



14 
 

In addition, the Cities Gaming Initiative creates enormous revenues for the State of 
California through the imposition of several sources of tax revenues including a tax of 
15% on gross gaming revenues derived from sports wagering.  It also directs the 
legislature to expend such revenues to issues of homelessness, affordable housing, 
public education and mental health, as well as problem gambling programs. 

Further, the Cities Gaming Initiative authorizes new games that can be played at 
licensed gambling establishments and revenues on the new games become available to 
the cities that license them through taxes under existing ordinances.   

Given the three diverse outcomes of these initiatives on Californians as whole and on 
California gaming cities, the California Cities Gaming Authority and all California cities 
may take public positions on these initiatives. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Jimmy L. Gutierrez 
General Counsel 

 

 
 



RESOLUTION NO. ________ 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GARDENA 

SUPPORTING THE CITIES GAMING INITIATIVE 

WHEREAS, California’s cities and counties are on the frontlines of service 
delivery and public policy formulation to address a whole host of challenges 
facing California and its people, including homelessness, lack of sufficient 
affordable housing, inadequate mental health service accessibility, underfunded 
public schools, and more;  

WHEREAS, these challenges were already pulling at the seams of our 
social fabric prior to the breakout of the COVID 19 pandemic in 2020 with record 
numbers of homeless Californians and historically high home prices;  

WHEREAS, the COVID-19 pandemic has wreaked havoc across society 
causing record levels of devastation to our economic, healthcare, and social 
systems as millions of Americans became ill and several 
hundred thousand perished;  

WHEREAS, the COVID-19 devastation further strained local government’s 
capacity to meet its existing challenges while simultaneously facing the added 
burdens generated by the pandemic and its effect of drawing down municipal 
treasuries;  

WHEREAS, Federal efforts to backfill state and local coffers with stimulus 
funding will be depleted before the pandemic entirely recedes leaving local 
governments in need of additional funding sources;  

WHEREAS, the People of the State of California have a vested interest in 
adequate funding for their governments to fulfill a social compact that includes 
robust public safety, life-saving public health programs, access to housing people 
can afford, among many other public goods;  

WHEREAS, the right to legal, safe, and well-regulated wagering belongs to 
the public, and therefore, to the People of the State of California;  

WHEREAS, Leisure activities, be they tourism, gaming, live entertainment 
gatherings, lodging, among many such examples, regularly serve as sources of 
revenue to public treasuries in order to pay for public goods to mitigate the 
impacts of those activities and/or to confer a public benefit to the communities 
where they occur;  

WHEREAS, in May 2018, the United States Supreme Court held the 
federal prohibition on sports wagering to be unconstitutional. As a result, states 
now have the freedom to authorize sports wagering within their borders and to 
establish regulations, consumer protections, responsible gambling measures, 
and taxes on sports wagering.   

WHEREAS, unregulated and untaxed sports wagering is happening 
throughout California without any consumer or responsible gambling protections. 
Experts estimate that black market sports betting runs at least $10 billion dollars 
annually in California with operators being unlicensed and unregulated, paying 

Attachment B



no taxes, are unaccountable to California consumers, and put the integrity of 
athletic contests at risk.   

WHEREAS, the City of __________________ licenses, regulates and 
taxes gaming establishments within its jurisdiction and whose residents benefit 
from those revenues;  

WHEREAS, the mission of the City of ______________ is to protect and 
promote the interests of all residents by licensing, regulating and taxing legal 
betting activities in cardrooms;  

WHEREAS, City Council Members of California cities that seek the 
responsible regulation and taxation of wagering in California 
communities that allow such activities are proponents of a statewide initiative 
named the California Sports Wagering and Consumer Protection Act (hereafter 
called the Cities Gaming Initiative”), a measure aimed at conferring benefits 
on all Californians;  

WHEREAS, the Cities Gaming Initiative grants rights to conduct sports 
wagering to all existing and licensed gaming entities in the State of California 
including horse racing tracks, Indian tribes and cardrooms and to entities 
currently unlicensed to offer gaming in the State of California including all 
professional sports teams from Major league baseball, National Hockey League, 
National Basketball Association, National Football League, Women’s National 
Basketball Association and Major League Soccer and online or mobile sports 
wagering operators;  

WHEREAS, the Cities Gaming Initiative imposes an obligation on all 
gaming entities to pay taxes to the State of California from their net sports 
wagering revenues that will generate billions of dollars in funding for California 
local governments to address current societal ills at unprecedented levels;  

WHEREAS, the Cities Gaming Initiative directs the legislature to 
appropriate funding to homelessness, mental health services, public schools, and 
affordable housing programs at the local level;   

WHEREAS, the Cities Gaming Initiative protects children 
and consumers through tight regulation, including limiting wagering only to adults 
21 years of age or older, prohibiting advertising or marketing of sports wagering 
directed to children where none currently exist; and  

WHEREAS, the California Cities may lawfully state their opinions about the 
impact of sports wagering initiatives on the people of the State of California and 
on the residents of California cities.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BET IT RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS:  
  

1. The City Council of the City of ____________ declares its 
support for the Cities Gaming Initiative; and   

  
2. The City of ____________encourages all California cities to 
take and publish a similar position.   



Adopted this _____ day of  ________  2021.  
  
By: ____________________________  

, Mayor   
City of ___________  

  
  
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Res 2021-___ Cities Gaming Initiative Page 1 of 3 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-__ 
OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF COLMA 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF COLMA 
SUPPORTING THE CITIES GAMING INITIATIVE 

The City Council of the Town of Colma does hereby resolve: 

1. Background and Findings.

(a) California’s cities and counties are on the frontlines of service delivery and public policy 
formulation to address a whole host of challenges facing California and its people, including 
homelessness, lack of sufficient affordable housing, inadequate mental health service 
accessibility, underfunded public schools, and more. 

(b) These challenges were already pulling at the seams of our social fabric prior to the 
breakout of the COVID 19 pandemic in 2020 with record numbers of homeless Californians and 
historically high home prices. 

(c) The COVID-19 pandemic has wreaked havoc across society causing record levels of 
devastation to our economic, healthcare, and social systems as millions of Americans became ill 
and several hundred thousand perished. 

(d) The COVID-19 devastation further strained local government’s capacity to meet its 
existing challenges while simultaneously facing the added burdens generated by the pandemic 
and its effect of drawing down municipal treasuries. 

(e) Federal efforts to backfill state and local coffers with stimulus funding will be depleted 
before the pandemic entirely recedes leaving local governments in need of additional funding 
sources. 

(f) The People of the State of California have a vested interest in adequate funding for their 
governments to fulfill a social compact that includes robust public safety, life-saving public health 
programs, access to housing people can afford, among many other public goods. 

(g) The right to legal, safe, and well-regulated wagering belongs to the public, and therefore, 
to the People of the State of California. 

(h) Leisure activities, be they tourism, gaming, live entertainment gatherings, lodging, among 
many such examples, regularly serve as sources of revenue to public treasuries in order to pay 
for public goods to mitigate the impacts of those activities and/or to confer a public benefit to the 
communities where they occur. 

(i) In May 2018, the United States Supreme Court held the federal prohibition on sports 
wagering to be unconstitutional. As a result, states now have the freedom to authorize sports 
wagering within their borders and to establish regulations, consumer protections, responsible 
gambling measures, and taxes on sports wagering. 

(j) Unregulated and untaxed sports wagering is happening throughout California without any 
consumer or responsible gambling protections. Experts estimate that black market sports betting 
runs at least $10 billion dollars annually in California with operators being unlicensed and 
unregulated, paying no taxes, are unaccountable to California consumers, and put the integrity 
of athletic contests at risk. 

Attachment C



Res 2021-___ Cities Gaming Initiative  Page 2 of 3 

(k) The Town of Colma licenses, regulates and taxes gaming establishments within its 
jurisdiction and whose residents benefit from those revenues. 

(l) The mission of the Town of Colma is to protect and promote the interests of all residents 
by licensing, regulating and taxing legal betting activities in cardrooms. 

(m) City Council Members of California cities that seek the responsible regulation and taxation 
of wagering in California communities that allow such activities are proponents of a statewide 
initiative named the California Sports Wagering and Consumer Protection Act (hereafter called 
the “Cities Gaming Initiative”), a measure aimed at conferring benefits on all Californians. 

(n) The Cities Gaming Initiative grants rights to conduct sports wagering to all existing 
and licensed gaming entities in the State of California including horse racing tracks, Indian tribes 
and cardrooms and to entities currently unlicensed to offer gaming in the State of California 
including all professional sports teams from Major league baseball, National Hockey League, 
National Basketball Association, National Football League, Women’s National Basketball 
Association and Major League Soccer and online or mobile sports wagering operators. 

(o) The Cities Gaming Initiative imposes an obligation on all gaming entities to pay taxes 
to the State of California from their net sports wagering revenues that will generate billions of 
dollars in funding for California local governments to address current societal ills at unprecedented 
levels. 

(p) The Cities Gaming Initiative directs the legislature to appropriate funding to 
homelessness, mental health services, public schools, and affordable housing programs at the 
local level. 

(q) The Cities Gaming Initiative protects children and consumers through tight regulation, 
including limiting wagering only to adults 21 years of age or older, prohibiting advertising or 
marketing of sports wagering directed to children where none currently exist; and  

(r) The California Cities may lawfully state their opinions about the impact of sports wagering 
initiatives on the people of the State of California and on the residents of California cities.  

2. Order. 

(a) The City Council of the Town of Colma declares its support for the Cities Gaming 
Initiative; and 

(b) The Town of Colma encourages all California cities to take and publish a similar position. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Res 2021-___ Cities Gaming Initiative  Page 3 of 3 

Certificate of Adoption 

I certify that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-__ was duly adopted at a regular meeting of 
said City Council held on __________________, 2021 by the following vote: 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 

 Aye No Abstain Not Participating   

Diana Colvin, Mayor      

Helen Fisicaro      

Raquel Gonzalez      

Joanne F. del Rosario      

John Irish Goodwin      

Voting Tally      
 

 
 

Dated ______________________  ___________________________________ 
      Diana Colvin, Mayor 

 

      Attest:   ____________________________ 
         Caitlin Corley, City Clerk 

 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Ordinance for Mandatory Organic Waste Disposal Reduction Page 1 of 6 

STAFF REPORT 

TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council 
FROM: Kathleen Gallagher, Sustainability Programs Manager, CSG Consultants 

Chris Diaz, City Attorney, BBK 
VIA:  Brian Dossey, City Manager 
MEETING DATE: October 13, 2021 
SUBJECT: SB 1383 Ordinance: Mandatory Organic Waste Disposal Reduction 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends the City Council introduce and waive a further reading of the following 
ordinance: 

ORDINANCE AMENDING COLMA MUNICIPAL CODE SUBCHAPTER 3.05 RELATING TO 
THE COLLECTION, PROCESSING AND DISPOSAL OF SOLID WASTE, RECYCLING AND 
ORGANICS TO INCLUDE PROVISIONS RELATED TO MANDATORY ORGANIC WASTE 
DISPOSAL REDUCTION FOR COMPLIANCE WITH SENATE BILL (SB) 1383 
REGULATIONS. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Senate Bill (SB) 1383 (Chapter 395, Statutes of 2016) directed the California Department of 
Resources Recycling and Recovery (“CalRecycle”) to adopt regulations to reduce organic waste 
statewide by 50% from its 2014 baseline level by 2020 and 75% by 2025. The SB 1383 
Regulations require jurisdictions to adopt and enforce an ordinance to implement relevant 
provisions of the SB 1383 Regulations. At the July 28th Council meeting, City Council received a 
presentation from staff regarding SB 1383 regulations and related requirements for 
jurisdictions. The Mandatory Organic Waste Disposal Reduction Ordinance is one of the 
requirements for compliance with SB 1383 Regulations.  

The Town is required, by January 1, 20221, to adopt the Ordinance to implement relevant 
provisions of the SB 1383 Regulations including regulation of residential and commercial 
generators of organic waste, commercial generators of edible food, waste haulers and include 
enforcement mechanisms and penalties for violations. The Regulations are to support 
achievement of statewide organic waste disposal reduction targets. This Ordinance was 
developed by staff using a model ordinance provided by CalRecycle and includes provisions 
unique to the Town regarding our collection services, our hauler, our partnership with San 

1 See information regarding Senate Bill (SB) 619 under the ‘Background and Analysis’ section of this staff report 

Item #9



Ordinance for Mandatory Organic Waste Disposal Reduction  Page 2 of 6 

Mateo County’s Office of Sustainability for implementation of the Edible Food Recovery Program 
on behalf of the Town (an SB 1383 required program), and other provisions. Town staff met 
and discussed the ordinance with BBK staff, and BBK staff amended the ordinance for the 
Town’s Municipal Code Subchapter 3.05 related to the collection, processing and disposal of 
solid waste, recycling, and organics.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact to adopt the ordinance; staff has been working on many components 
of SB 1383 requirements and their fiscal impact and staff will be returning to Council in the 
coming months to provide further information.  

BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 

SB 1383 (Chapter 395, Statutes of 2016) directed the California Department of Resources 
Recycling and Recovery (“CalRecycle”) to adopt regulations to reduce organic waste by 50% 
from its 2014 baseline level by 2020 and 75% by 2025. The SB 1383 Regulations require 
jurisdictions to adopt and enforce an ordinance to implement relevant provisions of the SB 1383 
Regulations including regulation of residential and commercial generators of organic waste, 
commercial generators of edible food, waste haulers and include enforcement mechanisms and 
penalties for violations.  

As presented at the July 28, 2021 Council Meeting, SB 1383 established requirements to reduce 
organic waste that are landfilled to reduce methane, a powerful greenhouse gas. SB 1383 
regulations require jurisdictions to complete several requirements prior to January 1, 2022, 
which include adopt an enforceable ordinance, adopt an organics/recycled content procurement 
policy, require mandatory organics collection programs via enforceable mechanism (such as a 
franchise agreement) and include mandatory monitoring, reporting, route reviews and 
contamination audits, establish an edible food recovery program, and complete new compliance 
reporting to CalRecycle. By adopting the Ordinance, the Town is meeting one of the 
requirements of the SB 1383 Regulations and establishes authority for the Town to include 
mandatory organics collection and processing, require generators such as residents and 
businesses, haulers, and other entities to subscribe, participate, and separate the collected 
materials to be free of cross-contamination. The ordinance details requirements for education 
and outreach to generators, requirements for SB 1383 color-compliant bins, and includes 
enforcement and penalty information for non-compliance. Staff developed the Ordinance using 
the CalRecycle model and included provisions unique to the Town regarding our hauler, 
Republic Services, our partnership with San Mateo County’s Office of Sustainability for 
implementation of the Edible Food Recovery Program on behalf of the Town (another SB 1383 
requirement), and other provisions. Town staff met and discussed the ordinance with BBK staff 
and BBK amended the ordinance for the Town’s Municipal Code Subchapter 3.05 related to the 
collection, processing and disposal of solid waste, recycling, and organics. 

SB 619 Legislation Signed by Governor on October 5, 2021 

On October 5, 2021, Governor Newsom signed into law SB 619.  SB 619 (Laird) gives 
jurisdictions more time for implementation of SB 1383 regulations and compliance without fear 
of penalty for twelve months, for 2022 calendar year. The bill’s goal was to strike a balance 
between not delaying statewide organics diversion progress and not burdening jurisdictions with 



Ordinance for Mandatory Organic Waste Disposal Reduction  Page 3 of 6 

penalties if they are making a reasonable effort to comply with the regulations. SB 619 provides 
jurisdictions with additional time and flexibility to meet the Regulations and takes into 
consideration the challenging impacts from COVID-19, and the impacts of the Regulations and 
requirements on jurisdictions, residents, and businesses. Since the Regulations were not 
finalized until November 2020, it only gave jurisdictions 13 months to fully implement key 
components of the Regulations.  Now that SB 619 has been signed into law, jurisdictions can 
work with CalRecycle to communicate the steps they have taken towards compliance and state 
what they plan to implement to come into compliance in exchange for no penalties being 
imposed on their jurisdiction for the 2022 calendar year.  

Prior to SB 619 approval, Town staff had been working expeditiously to complete the 
requirements of SB 1383 Regulations by January 1, 2022. Staff is currently considering the 
implications of SB 619 on the Town’s timeline and any potential changes to possible project 
extension deadlines to early 2022. Staff will update Council on these potential deadline 
changes.    

Summary of Mandatory Organic Waste Disposal Reduction Ordinance 

The Ordinance includes the following provisions:  

• Updates. Updates the ‘Findings, Purpose and Authority’ in Article 1 to be inclusive of SB 
1383 Regulations and updates the ‘Definitions’ to include the numerous new terms used 
in SB 1383 Regulations.  

• Mandatory collection, subscription, and correct levels of service for organics. 
Requires all waste generators, residents, businesses, municipal facilities, etc.  to 
subscribe to mandatory collection of organics, recycling, and solid waste, and 
participate in these services. Generators are to subscribe to correct level of 
services (e.g., don’t subscribe to insufficient capacity of service). 

• Collection bins are to be SB 1383 color-compliant and include labels, 
graphics. Requires that the three collection bins be SB 1383 color compliant as follows: 
Blue bins for recycling, green bins for organics and black/grey for garbage (also referred 
to as a 3-bin collection system). The containers are required to include labels with 
pictures and graphics of what materials are accepted in the container and what is 
prohibited in the container.  

• No cross-contamination of materials. Requires generators to keep the three waste 
streams (organics, recycling, and solid waste) separate and not mix or not 
contaminate the materials. For example, a business should not place food/organic 
waste in their recycling bin.  

• Businesses are to provide indoor collection containers. Requires that businesses 
that generate organics and recyclables provide indoor collection bins for these materials. 
Businesses are to annually train and provide information to employees to properly 
separate materials, and periodically inspect containers. For multi-family, provide 
educational materials within fourteen days of occupancy.   



Ordinance for Mandatory Organic Waste Disposal Reduction  Page 4 of 6 

• Allows the Town to issue de minimus waivers to businesses. Provides the Town 
with the ability to provide a de minimus waiver to a business regarding compliance with 
some or all the collection requirements if the businesses submit an application and 
documentation that they don’t generate sufficient levels of organics, or they have 
physical space limitations for collection containers at their place of business. (Note: 
there is a previous mandate that requires new construction/remodels to ensure that 
solid waste enclosures have sufficient space and capacity for the three waste streams).   

• Includes requirements for a Commercial Edible Food Recovery Program. 
(EFRP). The Town approved an MOU with San Mateo County’s Office of Sustainability 
to administer the Commercial Edible Food Recovery Program on behalf of the Town. The 
Office of Sustainability staff and legal counsel provided additional text and edits to be 
included in the Ordinance to jurisdictions participating in this program. The OOS 
required that jurisdictions include their text provided verbatim and this text has been 
included in the Town’s Ordinance verbatim.  

• The Ordinance includes these requirements regarding this Edible Food Recovery 
program:  

o Requires commercial edible food generators that meet specific thresholds to 
arrange and contract for recovery of excess edible food for collection/distribution 
to food recovery organizations (such as Pacifica Resource Center, Second 
Harvest Food Bank, or other food pantries). Note the Town has only 2 
commercial food generators that meet these thresholds. The thresholds are 
established as ‘Tier 12’ generators and include supermarkets, grocery stores 
(10,000+ sq. ft.), food service providers, food distributor, and wholesale food 
vendors. ‘Tier 2’ generators include restaurants (≥ 250 seats or 5,000 sq. ft.). 
The Office of Sustainability (OOS) will work with the Town’s two generators to 
verify they have resources to meet the requirements on behalf of the Town. The 
OOS will ensure these generators arrange to have their edible food recovered 
that would otherwise be disposed and verify that they are complying with the 
commercial edible food generator recordkeeping requirements. Colma staff have 
been working with the San Mateo County Office of Sustainability who developed 
the countywide program at no cost to jurisdictions.  

o Places requirements on food recovery organizations to keep records and follow 
specific procedures on food recovery information as detailed by the Office of 
Sustainability; and provide information for sufficient edible food recovery 
capacity planning.  

• Organics Processing/Composting Facility/Requirements. Require that haulers 
(e.g., Republic Services) transport collected organics to only qualifying organic 
processing facilities; The Regulations require reporting and verification.  

• Comply with Education/Outreach Requirements. The education and outreach 
phase is from January 1, 2022, through December 31, 2023, and educational materials 
are to be provided to generators who do not comply with the requirements. The Town 

 
2 Tier 1 requirements go into effect in 2022 and Tier 2 requirements are effective 2024.  



Ordinance for Mandatory Organic Waste Disposal Reduction  Page 5 of 6 

already has a commercial outreach and education program in place via requirements of 
the current franchise agreement the Town has with Republic Services. Our franchise 
agreement requires Republic’s Recycling Coordinator to complete a minimum of 24 
hours every week to work with businesses to increase diversion, provide education, train 
staff, provide internal bins with labels and “right-size” bins to maximize recycling and 
organics collections.  The Town will supplement this service with outreach and education 
resources and partner with Republic to provide a robust outreach and education phase 
which will continue through December 2023. The ordinance gives the Town or Town 
designee (such as Republic and the Office of Sustainability) the authority to inspect 
containers, records, and facilities, as well as enforce compliance.   

• Enforcement. After January 1, 2024, fines may be imposed by the Town for non-
compliance with Ordinance provisions. 

• Process for Enforcement. After January 1, 2024, the process for enforcement 
includes monitoring accounts through required periodic route reviews and reporting. As 
part of the SB 1383 regulation requirements, Republic (as the Town’s designee) will 
complete these periodic route reviews and inspections. The Town via Republic Services 
will complete annual compliance reviews of businesses (similar to what Republic is doing 
now to verify compliance with AB 1826 Mandatory Organics Recycling); The compliance 
review can be on site visits to businesses and or ‘desk audits’ that involves review of 
reports to verify that the required service is provided and that the businesses are 
complying. The periodic route reviews will include a process to monitor contamination 
issues. (Republic will complete this task) and verify generators subscription to required 
collection service (validating desk review) and seeing that the business has the 
appropriate capacity of external containers. Work is underway through discussions by 
Town staff and Republic staff to discuss modifications to the franchise agreement to 
ensure it includes SB 1383 regulation provisions. The amended franchise agreement will 
be provided for City Council’s consideration in the coming months).   
 

• Penalties. Note penalties for non-compliance on generators and other entities would 
not be imposed until after January 2024. The focus will be on education and outreach 
from January 2022 through December 2023 and not focus on penalties. For the period 
starting January 2024, the ordinance includes details regarding penalties on generators 
and haulers who fail to comply with ordinance requirements. The ordinance references 
the Town’s current administrative citation fine schedule (CMC Section 1.05.020). The 
ordinance references the administrative penalty procedures (CMC Section 2.01.160 et 
seq.). The ordinance does not include fines on generators who have violations of 
contamination of container contents. The Town could choose to include this violation as 
potential fine imposition and could direct staff to change this section 3.05.340 (4) 
violation. Staff advises that the Town and Republic Services (as Designee) attain 
reduced contamination levels using a robust education and not imposition of fines.  

 
• Ordinance Effective Date. The effective date of the ordinance is December 20, 2021.  

 
 



Ordinance for Mandatory Organic Waste Disposal Reduction  Page 6 of 6 

Ongoing Discussions with Republic regarding amending Franchise Agreement to be 
SB 1383 Compliant 

  
Town staff have been discussing modifications to the Town’s Franchise Agreement with 
Republic Services to ensure the agreement is SB 1383 compliant. This work has been in process 
for several months and additional work and discussions with Republic Services staff will 
continue over the next few months.     

 
CalGreen, MWELO and Procurement Policy 
The model ordinance provided by CalRecycle states that jurisdictions will have to include other 
enforceable requirements to comply with specified CALGreen and Water Efficient Landscape 
Ordinance requirements (California Code of Regulations Title 24, Part 11), unless they already 
have such an enforceable mechanism in place. The Town already has the CalGreen and MWELO 
requirements in place therefore, they are not included in this ordinance. 
The Town has had a Sustainability Procurement Policy in place since 2013 and this Policy is 
currently being updated to include SB 1383 compliant aspects such as the requirement to 
procure a specified quantity of organics annually and include other provisions. The amended 
procurement policy will be presented to City Council at the November Council meeting for 
consideration and is not included in this ordinance. 

Council Adopted Values 

The adoption of this Ordinance is consistent with the Council value of vision and 
responsibility because it enables the Town to comply with SB 1383 Regulations and reduce 
organic waste to landfills, increase edible food donation/recovery, and reduce methane 
generation, a potent greenhouse gas.  

Sustainability Impact 

Adoption of the Ordinance will improve sustainability by reducing organic waste to landfills, 
increase edible food donation and recovery, and reduce methane generation, a potent 
greenhouse gas (GHG). The Ordinance will also assist the Town in meeting the Town’s Climate 
Action Plan 2030 GHG reduction targets.   
ATTACHMENT 

 
A. Mandatory Organic Waste Disposal Reduction Ordinance  
 
 
 
 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 1 of 39 

ORDINANCE NO. -____ 
OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF COLMA 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING COLMA MUNICIPAL CODE SUBCHAPTER 3.05 RELATING 
TO COLLECTION OF SOLID WASTE, RECYCLABLES, AND ORGANIC WASTE 

The City Council of the Town of Colma does ordain as follows: 

ARTICLE 1.  FINDINGS, PURPOSE AND AUTHORITY 

The City Council of the Town of Colma finds: 

(a) SB 1383 (Chapter 395, Statutes of 2016) directed the California Department of Resources 
Recycling and Recovery (“CalRecycle”) to adopt regulations to reduce organic waste by 50 percent 
from its 2014 baseline level by 2020 and 75 percent by 2025. 

(b) SB 1383 also requires the regulations to recover, for human consumption, at least 20 
percent of edible food that is currently thrown away. 

(c) CalRecycle promulgated regulations as directed in SB 1383 in Chapter 12 (Short-Lived 
Climate Pollutants) of Division 7 of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations (“SB 1383 
Regulations”). 

(d) The SB 1383 Regulations require cities, counties, and special districts providing solid waste 
collection services to adopt and enforce an ordinance or other enforceable mechanism to 
implement relevant provisions of the SB 1383 Regulations including regulation of waste haulers 
and generators of organic waste and edible food, and enforcement mechanisms and penalties for 
violations.  

(e) The SB 1383 Regulations requires the Town of Colma to adopt an ordinance to enforce 
the SB 1383 Regulations by January 1, 2022.  

(e) The City Council desires to amend Colma Municipal Code Subchapter 3.05 to comply with 
the SB 1383 Regulations. 

ARTICLE 2.  SUBCHAPTER 3.05 AMENDED  

Subchapter 3.05 of the Colma Municipal Code is hereby repealed and restated in its entirety to 
read as provided herein.   

ARTICLE 3.  SUBCHAPTER 3.05, DIVISION 1 – GENERAL 

The following sections are added to subchapter 3.05, Collection of Solid Waste, Recyclables, 
and Organic Waste, of the Colma Municipal Code as “Division 1 – General.” 

Attachment A



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 2 of 39 

Subchapter 5.04 - Collection of Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste 

Division 1: General 

 
3.05.010 Findings; Purposes. 

(a) The City Council finds and determines that: 

(1) It is in the public interest to: 

(A) maximize waste reduction, Recycling and composting options; 

(B) reduce the amount of Solid Waste, Recyclables and Organic Waste 
disposed in landfills; 

(C) recycle paper, aluminum, metal containers, glass, corrugated cardboard, 
certain plastic containers, and other Recyclable Materials as may be 
determined from time to time by the City Council; 

(D) grant franchises and permits to persons and businesses engaged in the 
collection of Recyclable Materials therein; and 

(E) require comprehensive reporting of the collection of Recyclable Material by 
all haulers in the Town to assist in compliance with the CalRecycle 
Electronic Annual Report. 

(2) The Town’s Recycling program may be negatively impacted by unauthorized 
scavengers taking Recyclable Materials before those materials can be picked up by 
a Franchisee or Permittee. 

(b) State Recycling law, Assembly Bill 939, or the California Integrated Waste Management 
Act of 1989 (California Public Resources Code Section 40000, et seq., as amended, supplemented, 
superseded, and replaced from time to time), requires cities and counties to reduce, reuse, and 
recycle (including composting) Solid Waste generated in their  local jurisdictions to the maximum 
extent feasible before any incineration or landfill disposal of waste, to conserve water, energy, 
and other natural resources, and to protect the environment. 

(c) State Recycling law, AB 341 of 2011, places requirements on businesses and Multi-Family 
property owners that generate a specified threshold amount of Solid Waste to arrange for 
Recycling services and requires local jurisdictions to implement a Mandatory Commercial 
Recycling program. 

(d) State organics Recycling law, Assembly Bill 1826 of 2014, requires businesses and Multi-
Family property owners that generate a specified threshold amount of Solid Waste, Recycling, 
and Organic Waste per week to arrange for Recycling services for that waste, requires local 
jurisdictions to implement a Recycling program to divert Organic Waste from businesses subject 
to the law, and requires local jurisdictions to implement a Mandatory Commercial Organics 
Recycling program. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 3 of 39 

(e) SB 1383, the Short-lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Act of 2016, requires local 
jurisdictions to adopt and enforce an ordinance or enforceable mechanism to implement 
relevant provisions of SB 1383 Regulations. The SB 1383 Regulations are intended to divert 
organic waste from landfills and recover edible food for human consumption. 

(f) The purpose of this subchapter is to comply with the Recycling and reporting requirements 
of AB 939 (hereafter, the “Waste Management Act”), as amended from time to time, including 
amendments made by SB 1016, AB 341, AB 1826, SB 1383, and their implementing regulations. 
Specifically, but without limitation, this subchapter is intended to: 

(1) increase Recycling participation rates; 

(2) improve the recovery rates of Recyclable Materials; 

(3) improve reporting capabilities to CalRecycle; 

(4) comply with state Recycling laws; 

(5) reduce waste to landfill; and 

(6) maintain a cost effective, garbage, Recycling, and organic waste collection 
program for the residents, businesses and institutions of the Town. 

3.05.020 Definitions. 

For the purpose of this subchapter, the following terms, phrases, words and their derivations shall 
have the meaning given herein. When consistent with the context, words used in the present 
tense include the future, words in the plural number include the singular number, and words in 
the singular include the plural number. 

(a) “Blue Container” has the same meaning as in 14 CCR Section 18982.2(a)(5) and shall be 
used for the purpose of storage and collection of Source Separated Recyclable Materials. 

(b) “CalRecycle” means the California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery, which 
is the Department designated with responsibility for developing, implementing, and enforcing SB 
1383 Regulations. 

(c) “California Code of Regulations” or “CCR” means the State of California Code of 
Regulations. CCR references in this subchapter are preceded with a number that refers to the 
relevant Title of the CCR (e.g., “14 CCR” refers to Title 14 of CCR). 

(d) “Charitable Entity” means any not-for-profit organization or entity maintained for 
community service, education or the public good, including service clubs, scouting organizations, 
religious and educational organizations and recognized charities. 

(e) “Collect” or “Collection” means the operation of gathering together and transporting Solid 
Waste to a point of disposal and/or Recycling or composting. 

(f) “Commercial Business” or “Commercial” means a firm, partnership, proprietorship, joint-
stock company, corporation, or association, whether for-profit or nonprofit, strip mall, industrial 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 4 of 39 

facility, or a multifamily residential dwelling, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 
18982(a)(6).  

(g) “Commercial Edible Food Generator” includes a Tier One or a Tier Two Commercial Edible 
Food Generator as defined in this subchapter.  

(h) “Community Composting” means any activity that composts green material, agricultural 
material, food material, and vegetative food material, alone or in combination, and the total 
amount of feedstock and Compost on-site at any one time does not exceed 100 cubic yards and 
750 square feet, as specified in 14 CCR Section 17855(a)(4), or, as otherwise defined by 14 CCR 
Section 18982(a)(8). 

(i) “Compost” means the product resulting from the controlled biological decomposition of 
organic Solid Wastes that are Source Separated from the municipal Solid Waste stream, or which 
are separated at a centralized facility. 

(j) “Compliance Review” means a review of records by the Town to determine compliance 
with this subchapter. 

(k) “Construction and Demolition Debris” or “C&D” means materials resulting from 
construction, renovation, remodeling, repair or demolition operations and which has been 
segregated for Recycling, reuse or remanufacture. Materials include but are not limited to wood, 
asphalt, concrete, drywall, steel rebar, roofing material and other materials resulting construction, 
renovation, remodeling, repair or demolition operations. 

(l) “Container” means a cart, bin, roll-off, compactor or similar receptacle used to temporarily 
store Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, or Organic Waste for collection service. 

(m) “Container Contamination” or “Contaminated Container” means a container, regardless of 
color, that contains Prohibited Container Contaminants, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 
18982(a)(55). 

(n) “Designee” means an entity that the Town contracts with or otherwise arranges to carry 
out any of the Town’s responsibilities of this subchapter as authorized in 14 CCR Section 18981.2. 
A Designee may be a government entity, a franchised hauler, a private entity, or a combination 
of those entities. 

(o) “Designee for Edible Food Recovery” means the County of San Mateo’s Office of 
Sustainability with which the Town has a Memorandum of Understanding for the purposes of 
Edible Food Recovery including, but not limited to, inspection, investigation, and enforcement of 
the Edible Food Recovery provisions of this subchapter. Contact information for the Designee for 
Edible Food Recovery can be found on the County of San Mateo Office of Sustainability website. 

(p) “Donate” or “donation” means the act of a generator of Recyclable Materials or Organic 
Waste giving or conveying items or materials to another person or company, without paying the 
recipient or providing any other form of consideration for taking and/or hauling away the donated 
materials. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 5 of 39 

(q) “E-waste” means electronic equipment nearing the end of its useful life and determined by 
the Department of Toxic Substances Control to be covered by the Electronic Waste Recycling Act 
of 2003. Computers, televisions, VCRs, stereos, copiers, and fax machines are common E-waste 
products. 

(r) “Edible Food” means food intended for and fit for human consumption and collected or 
received from a Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator. 

(s) “Edible Food Recovery” means actions to collect, receive, and/or re-distribute Edible Food 
for human consumption from Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators that 
otherwise would be disposed of. 

(t) “Enforcement Action” means an action of the Town to address non-compliance with this 
subchapter including, but not limited to, issuing administrative citations, fines, penalties, or using 
other remedies. 

(u) “Excluded Waste” means hazardous substance, hazardous waste, infectious waste, 
designated waste, volatile, corrosive, medical waste, infectious, regulated radioactive waste, and 
toxic substances or material that facility operator(s), which receive materials from the Town and 
its generators, reasonably believe(s) would, as a result of or upon acceptance, transfer, 
processing, or disposal, be a violation of local, State, or Federal law, regulation, or ordinance, 
including: land use restrictions or conditions, waste that cannot be disposed of in Class III landfills 
or accepted at the facility by permit conditions, waste that in the Town’s, or its Designee’s 
reasonable opinion would present a significant risk to human health or the environment, cause a 
nuisance or otherwise create or expose Town, or its Designee, to potential liability; but not 
including de minimis volumes or concentrations of waste of a type and amount normally found in 
Single-Family or Multi-Family Solid Waste after implementation of programs for the safe collection, 
processing, Recycling, treatment, and disposal of batteries and paint in compliance with Sections 
41500 and 41802 of the California Public Resources Code. 

(v) “Food Distributor” means a company that distributes food to entities including, but not 
limited to, Supermarkets and Grocery Stores. 

(w) “Food Facility” has the same meaning as in Section 113789 of the Health and Safety Code. 

(x) “Food Recovery Organization” means an entity that engages in the collection or receipt of 
Edible Food from Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators and distributes that 
Edible Food either directly or through other entities, including, but not limited to: 

(1) A food bank as defined in Section 113783 of the Health and Safety Code. 

(2) A nonprofit charitable organization as defined in Section 113841 of the Health 
and Safety code; and, 

(3) A nonprofit charitable temporary food facility as defined in Section 113842 of the 
Health and Safety Code. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 6 of 39 

(y) “Food Recovery Service” means a person or entity that collects and transports Edible 
Food from a Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator to a Food Recovery 
Organization or other entities for Edible Food Recovery. 

(z) “Food Service Provider” means an entity primarily engaged in providing food services to 
institutional, governmental, commercial, or industrial locations of others based on contractual 
arrangements with these types of organizations. 

(aa) “Food Scraps” means all food such as, but not limited to, fruits, vegetables, meat, 
poultry, seafood, shellfish, bones, rice, beans, pasta, bread, cheese, and eggshells and other 
food materials and may be modified from time to time per Hauler’s organics collection materials 
requirements. Food Scraps excludes fats, oils, and grease. 

(bb) “Food-Soiled Paper” is compostable paper material that has come in contact with food or 
liquid, such as, but not limited to, compostable paper plates, paper coffee cups, napkins, pizza 
boxes, and milk cartons and materials and may be modified from time to time per Hauler’s 
organics collection materials requirements . 

(cc) “Food Waste” means all Food Scraps, Food-Soiled Paper, and includes Biodegradeable 
Products Institute (BPI) certified container products and other materials which may be included 
in the organics collection. 

(dd) “Franchise Agreement” means an agreement between the Town and an individual, 
association or firm, organization or other business entity for the collection of Solid Waste, 
including Recyclables and Organic Waste. 

(ee) “Franchisee” means an individual, association, firm, organization or other business entity 
who has entered into a franchise agreement with the Town, whether or not said entity is 
operated for profit, for the collection of Solid Waste, including Recyclables, within the Town. 

(ff) “Gray Container” has the same meaning as in 14 CCR Section 18982.2(a)(28) and shall 
be used for the purpose of storage and collection of Gray Container Waste. 

(gg) “Gray Container Waste” means Solid Waste that is collected in a Gray Container that is 
part of a three-container Organic Waste collection service that prohibits the placement of 
Organic Waste in the Gray Container as specified in 14 CCR Sections 18984.1(a) and (b), or as 
otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 17402(a) (6.5). 

(hh) “Green Container” has the same meaning as in 14 CCR Section 18982.2(a)(29) and shall 
be used for the purpose of storage and collection of Source Separated Green Container Organic 
Waste. 

(ii) “Greenhouse gas” or “GHG” means carbon dioxide (CO2), methane (CH4), nitrous oxide 
(N2O), sulfur hexafluoride (SF6), hydrofluorocarbons (HFC), perfluorocarbons (PFC), and other 
fluorinated greenhouse gases. 

(jj) “Grocery Store” means a store primarily engaged in the retail sale of canned food; dry 
goods; fresh fruits and vegetables; fresh meats, fish, and poultry; and any area that is not 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 7 of 39 

separately owned within the store where the food is prepared and served, including a bakery, 
deli, and meat and seafood departments. 

(kk) “Hauler” means a person or entity, or the agents or employees thereof, whom the Town 
shall have duly licensed, franchised, granted a permit to, or contracted with, to collect, carry, 
transport, compost, and/or recycle Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste within the 
Town. 

(ll) “Hauler Route” means the designated itinerary or sequence of stops for each segment of 
the Town’s collection service area, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a) (31.5). 

(mm) “Hazardous Waste” means any material, which by reason of its quality, concentration, 
composition or physical, chemical or infectious characteristics may cause or significantly 
contribute to an increase in mortality or an increase in serious illness or pose a substantial 
threat or potential hazard to human health or the environment when improperly treated, stored, 
transported or disposed of or otherwise mismanaged or any waste which is defined or regulated 
as a hazardous waste, toxic waste, hazardous chemical substance or mixture, or asbestos under 
Applicable Law. If two or more governmental agencies having concurrent or overlapping 
jurisdiction over hazardous waste adopt conflicting definitions of “hazardous waste”, for 
purposes of collection, transportation, processing and/or disposal, the broader, more expansive 
definition shall be employed for purposes of this subchapter. Hazardous Waste includes, but is 
not limited to any of the following: 

(1) Materials regulated by section 40141 of the California Public Resources Code, 
sections 25110.02, 25115, 25117, 25281 or 25316 of the California Health and 
Safety Code (the California Hazardous Waste Control Act), and section 13050 of 
the California Water Code; 

(2) Low-level radioactive waste regulated under Chapter 7.6 (commencing with § 
28500) of Division 20 of the Health and Safety Code or under Chapter 6.1 
(commencing with § 25015) of Division 20 of the Health and Safety Code); 

(3) Materials regulated under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. 
Section 6901 et seq., as amended (including, but not limited to, amendments 
thereto made by the Solid Waste Disposal Act Amendments of 1980), and related 
federal, State and local laws and regulations; 

(4) Materials regulated under the Toxic Substance Control Act, 15 U.S.C. Section 2601 
et seq., as amended, and related federal State of California, and local laws and 
regulations, including the California Toxic Substances Account Act, California 
Health and Safety Code Section 25300 et seq.; 

(5) Materials regulated under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, 
Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. 9601, et seq., as amended, and 
regulations promulgated thereunder; or materials regulated under any future 
amendments to or re-codification of these statutes or regulations promulgated 
thereunder and any future additional or substitute federal, State or local laws and 
regulations pertaining to the identification, transportation, treatment, storage or 
disposal of toxic substances or hazardous waste. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 8 of 39 

(nn) “High Diversion Organic Waste Processing Facility” means a facility that is in compliance 
with the reporting requirements of 14 CCR Section 18815.5(d) and meets or exceeds an annual 
average Mixed Waste organic content Recovery rate of 50 percent between January 1, 2022 
and December 31, 2024, and 75 percent after January 1, 2025, as calculated pursuant to 14 
CCR Section 18815.5(e) for Organic Waste received from the “Mixed waste organic collection 
stream” as defined in 14 CCR Section 17402(a)(11.5); or, as otherwise defined in 14 CCR 
Section 18982(a)(33). 

(oo) “Household Hazardous Waste” means latex paint, batteries, oil filters, fluorescent lamps 
and tubes including compact fluorescent light bulbs (CFLs), motor oil and other petroleum-
based products, cleaning supplies, fire extinguishers, mercury products including thermometers, 
thermostats, oil based paints, thinners, stains, fertilizers, pesticides, aerosols and antifreeze 
commonly used in residences. 

(pp) “Inspection” means a site visit where the Town, the franchised hauler or other Designee 
reviews records, containers, and an entity’s collection, handling, Recycling, or landfill disposal of 
Organic Waste or Edible Food handling to determine if the entity is complying with 
requirements set forth in this subchapter, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 
18982(a)(35). “Inspection” for the purposes of Edible Food Recovery, “Inspection” means 
actions to review contracts and other records related to the recovery of Edible Food and may 
occur off-site via email and other forms of electronic communication, as well as the on-site 
review of an entity’s records and collection, handling, and other procedures for the recovery of 
Edible Food to determine if the entity is complying with the requirements of this subchapter. 

(qq) “Large Event“ means an event, including, but not limited to, a sporting event or a flea 
market, that charges an admission price, or is operated by a local agency, and serves an 
average of more than 2,000 individuals per day of operation of the event, at a location that 
includes, but is not limited to, a public, nonprofit, or privately owned park, parking lot, golf 
course, street system, or other open space when being used for an event. If the definition in 14 
CCR Section 18982(a)(38) differs from this definition, the definition in 14 CCR Section 
18982(a)(38) shall apply to this subchapter. 

(rr) “Large Venue” means a permanent venue facility that annually seats or serves an 
average of more than 2,000 individuals within the grounds of the facility per day of operation of 
the venue facility. For purposes of this subchapter and implementation of the SB 1383 
Regulations, a venue facility includes, but is not limited to, a public, nonprofit, or privately 
owned or operated stadium, amphitheater, arena, hall, amusement park, conference or civic 
center, zoo, aquarium, airport, racetrack, horse track, performing arts center, fairground, 
museum, theater, or other public attraction facility. For purposes of this subchapter and 
implementation of the SB 1383 Regulations, a site under common ownership or control that 
includes more than one Large Venue that is contiguous with other Large Venues in the site, is a 
single Large Venue. If the definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(39) differs from this definition, 
the definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(39) shall apply to this sun. 

(ss) “Local Education Agency” means a school district, charter school, or county office of 
education that is not subject to the control of city or county regulations related to Solid Waste, 
or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(40). 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 9 of 39 

(tt) “Multi-Family Residential Dwelling” or “Multi-Family” means of, from, or pertaining to 
residential premises with five (5) or more dwelling units. Multi-Family premises do not include 
hotels, motels, or other transient occupancy facilities, which are considered Commercial 
Businesses. 

(uu) “Non-Organic Recyclables” means non-putrescible and non-hazardous recyclable wastes 
including but not limited to bottles, cans, metals, plastics, and glass, or as otherwise defined in 
14 CCR Section 18982(a)(43). 

(vv) “Notice of Violation” or “NOV” means a notice that a violation has occurred that includes 
a compliance date to avoid an action to seek penalties, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR 
Section 18982(a)(45) or further explained in 14 CCR Section 18995.4. 

(ww) “Nuisance” means anything which is injurious to human health or is indecent or offensive 
to the senses and interferes with the comfortable enjoyment of life or property, and affects at 
the same time an entire community or neighborhood or any considerable number of persons 
although the extent of annoyance or damage inflicted upon the individual may be unequal, and 
which occurs as a result of the storage, removal, transport, processing or disposal of Solid 
Waste. 

(xx) “Organic Waste” means Solid Waste containing material originated from living organisms 
and their metabolic waste products, including but not limited to food, green material, landscape 
and pruning waste, organic textiles and carpets, lumber, wood, Paper Products, Printing and 
Writing Paper, manure, biosolids, digestate, and sludges or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR 
Section 18982(a)(46). Biosolids and digestate are as defined by 14 CCR Section 18982(a). 

(yy) “Organic Waste Generator” means a person or entity that is responsible for the initial 
creation of Organic Waste, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(48). 

(zz) “Paper Products” include, but are not limited to, paper janitorial supplies, cartons, 
wrapping, packaging, file folders, hanging files, corrugated boxes, tissue, and toweling, or as 
otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(51). Printing, writing papers including, but are 
not limited to, copy, xerographic, watermark, cotton fiber, offset, forms, computer printout 
paper, white wove envelopes, manila envelopes, book paper, note pads, writing tablets, 
newsprint, and other uncoated writing papers, posters, index cards, calendars, brochures, 
reports, magazines, and publications, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(54). 

(aaa) “Permittee” means an individual, association, firm, organization or other business entity 
person which has a valid permit from the Town to collect Recyclables within the Town. 

(bbb) “Prohibited Container Contaminants” means the following: 

(1) discarded materials placed in the Blue Container that are not identified as 
acceptable Source Separated Recyclable Materials for the Town’s Blue Container. 

(2) discarded materials placed in the Green Container that are not identified as 
acceptable Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste for the Town’s 
Green Container. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 10 of 39 

(3) discarded materials placed in the Gray Container that are acceptable Source 
Separated Recyclable Materials and/or Source Separated Green Container 
Organic Wastes to be placed in Town’s Green Container and/or Blue Container; 
and,  

(4) Excluded Waste placed in any container. 

(ccc) “Recovered Organic Waste Products” means products made from California, 
landfill-diverted recovered Organic Waste processed in a permitted or otherwise 
authorized facility, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(60). 

(ddd) “Recovery” means any activity or process described in 14 CCR Section 18983.1(b), or as 
otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(49). 

(eee) “Recyclable Materials” or “Recyclables” means Solid Waste which may be reused or 
processed into a form suitable for reuse through reprocessing or remanufacture consistent with 
the requirements of AB 939, as amended, including, without limitation: paper, newsprint, 
printed matter, pasteboard, paper containers, cardboard, glass, aluminum, PET, HDPE, and 
other plastics, metal, food and beverage containers, compostable materials (including food 
waste, yard waste and other organic materials); wood, brick and stone in reusable size and 
condition; and Construction and Demolition Debris. 

(fff) “Recycle” or “Recycling” means the process of collecting, sorting, cleansing, treating, 
and/or reconstituting materials that would otherwise become Solid Wastes, and returning them 
to the economic mainstream in the form of raw material for new, reused, or reconstituted 
products which meet the quality standards necessary to be used in the marketplace. Recycling 
does not include transformation, as defined in Public Resources Code section 40201. 

(ggg) “Recycled-Content Paper” means Paper Products and Printing and Writing Paper that 
consists of at least 30 percent, by fiber weight, postconsumer fiber, or as otherwise defined in 
14 CCR Section 18982(a)(61). 

(hhh) “Refuse” means all putrescible and non-putrescible Solid Wastes (except body wastes), 
whether combustible or non-combustible, including garbage, rubbish, ashes, street cleanings, 
dead animals, and solid industrial wastes. 

(iii) “Remote Monitoring” means the use of the internet of things (IoT) and/or wireless 
electronic devices to see contents of Containers for purposes of identifying the quantity of 
materials in containers (level of fill) and/or presence of Prohibited Container Contaminants. 

(jjj) “Renewable Gas” means gas derived from Organic Waste that has been diverted from a 
California landfill and processed at an in-vessel digestion facility that is permitted or otherwise 
authorized by 14 CCR to recycle Organic Waste, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 
18982(a)(62). 

(kkk) “Responsible Person” means an individual, association, firm, organization or other 
business entity, whether or not said entity is operated for profit, determined by the Town to be 
qualified and capable of performing each and every obligation imposed by this subchapter. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 11 of 39 

(lll) “Restaurant” means an establishment primarily engaged in the retail sale of food and 
drinks for on-premises or immediate consumption, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 
18982(a)(64). 

(mmm) “Roll-off containers” or “pull-on containers” means any large detachable containers, 
eight cubic yards or more in capacity, employed in a system of materials handling in which the 
loaded container is pulled onto the service vehicle mechanically and transported to an approved 
site for emptying. 

(nnn) “Route Review” means a visual Inspection of containers along a Hauler Route for the 
purpose of determining Container Contamination and may include mechanical Inspection 
methods such as the use of cameras, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(65). 

(ooo) “SB 1383” means Senate Bill 1383 (Chapter 395, Statutes of 2016), establishing methane 
emissions reduction targets in a Statewide effort to reduce emissions of short-lived climate 
pollutants as amended, supplemented, superseded, and replaced from time to time. 

(ppp) “SB 1383 Regulations” means the regulations developed by CalRecycle and contained 
within 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12 and the amended portions of 14 CCR and 27 CCR. 

(qqq) “Scavenge” means the act of removing Solid Waste, Recyclables, and/or Organic Waste 
from a can, bin, or other container into which the Solid Waste, Recyclables, and/or Organic 
Waste have been placed for collection by a Hauler. Removal by a Hauler shall not constitute 
scavenging. 

(rrr) “Self-Hauler” means a person, who hauls Solid Waste, Organic Waste, or Recyclable 
Materials he or she has generated to another person. Self-Hauler also includes a person who 
back-hauls waste, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(66). Back-haul means 
generating and transporting Organic Waste to a destination owned and operated by the 
generator using the generator’s own employees and equipment, or as otherwise defined in 14 
CCR Section 18982(a)(66)(A). For the purposes of Edible Food Recovery, “Self-Hauler” means a 
Commercial Edible Food Generator which holds a contract with and hauls Edible Food to a Food 
Recovery Organization or other site for redistribution according to the requirements of this 
subchapter. 

(sss) “Single-Family” means of, from, or pertaining to any residential premises with fewer than 
five (5) units. 

(ttt) “Solid Waste” means all putrescible and non-putrescible solid, semisolid, and liquid 
wastes, and all Recyclables and Organic Waste, including but not limited to garbage, trash, 
refuse, paper, rubbish, ashes, industrial wastes, abandoned vehicles and parts thereof, 
discarded home and industrial appliances, dewatered, treated, or chemically fixed sewage 
sludge which is not hazardous waste, manure, vegetable or animal solid and semi-Solid Wastes, 
and other discarded solid and semi-solid Wastes, except that Solid Waste does not mean or 
include any of the following wastes: 

(1) Hazardous waste, as defined in Public Resources Code, section 40141; 

(2) Special waste, as defined in this subchapter; 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 12 of 39 

(3) Radioactive waste regulated pursuant to the Radiation Control Law (Chapter 8 
(commencing with Section 114960) of Part 9 of Division 104 of the Health and 
Safety Code); and 

(4) Medical waste regulated pursuant to the Medical Waste Management Act (Part 
14 (commencing with Section 117600) of Division 104 of the Health and Safety 
Code). Untreated medical waste shall not be disposed of in a Solid Waste landfill, 
as defined in Section 40195.1. Medical waste that has been treated and deemed 
to be Solid Waste shall be regulated pursuant to this division. 

(uuu) “Source Separated” means materials, including commingled recyclable materials, that 
have been separated or kept separate from the Solid Waste stream, at the point of generation, 
for the purpose of additional sorting or processing those materials for Recycling or reuse in 
order to return them to the economic mainstream in the form of raw material for new, reused, 
or reconstituted products, which meet the quality standards necessary to be used in the 
marketplace, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 17402.5(b)(4). For the purposes of the 
subchapter, Source Separated shall include separation of materials by the generator, property 
owner, property owner’s employee, property manager, or property manager’s employee into 
different containers for the purpose of collection such that Source Separated materials are 
separated from Gray Container Waste or other Solid Waste for the purposes of collection and 
processing. 

(vvv) “Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste” means Source Separated Organic 
Waste that can be placed in a Green Container that is specifically intended for the separate 
collection of Organic Waste. 

(www) “Source Separated Recyclable Materials” means Source Separated Non-Organic 
Recyclables. 

(xxx) “Special Waste” means any waste matter which is a Hazardous Waste or which requires 
special handling or processing, including any of the following: flammable waste; waste 
transported in a bulk tanker; liquid waste; sewage sludge; waste from a septic system or other 
wastewater treatment or pollution control process; residue and debris from the cleanup of a 
spill or release of any chemical substance; any soil, waste, residue, debris or other material 
contaminated by any hazardous material or hazardous waste; dead animals; manure; explosive 
substances or substances or materials that have been exposed to highly infectious or 
contagious diseases. 

(yyy) “State” means the State of California. 

(zzz) “Supermarket” means a full-line, self-service retail store with gross annual sales of two 
million dollars ($2,000,000), or more, and which sells a line of dry grocery, canned goods, or 
nonfood items and some perishable items, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 
18982(a)(71). 

(aaaa) “Tier One Commercial Edible Food Generator” means a Commercial Edible Food 
Generator that is one of the following: Supermarket, Grocery Store with a total facility size 
equal to or greater than 10,000 square feet, Food Service Provider, Food Distributor or 
Wholesale Food Vendor. If the definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(73) of Tier One 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 13 of 39 

Commercial Edible Food Generator differs from this definition, the definition in 14 CCR Section 
18982(a)(73) shall apply to this subchapter. 

(bbbb) “Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator”  means a Commercial Edible Food 
Generator that is one of the following: Restaurant with 250 or more seats, or a total facility 
size equal to or greater than 5,000 square feet, Hotel with an on-site Food Facility and 200 or 
more rooms, Health facility with an on-site Food Facility and 100 or more beds, Large Venue, 
Large Event or a State agency with a cafeteria with 250 or more seats or total cafeteria facility 
size equal to or greater than 5,000 square feet, or a Local Education Agency facility with an 
on-site Food Facility. If the definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(74) of Tier Two Commercial 
Edible Food Generator differs from this definition, the definition in 14 CCR Section 
18982(a)(74) shall apply to this subchapter. 

(cccc) “Town” means the Town of Colma, California. 

(dddd) “Town Enforcement Official” means the city manager or their Designee who is 
responsible for enforcing the subchapter, including a Regional or County Agency Enforcement 
Official. 

(eeee) “Universal waste” means materials that are hazardous wastes and are generated by 
several sectors of society, rather than a single source or industry. Universal wastes are not to 
be disposed of in the trash but are to be properly recycled and or handled in accordance with 
laws regarding Universal Waste. Universal waste include batteries, cell phones, computers, 
computer monitors, fluorescent light bulbs, televisions, non-empty aerosol cans, items 
containing mercury, electronic devices, or any other material, device or item meeting the 
definitions of “universal waste” or “electronic device” in 22 CCR Sections 66273.9 or 66261.9, 
as they may be amended. 

(ffff) “Vector” means any insect or other arthropod, rodent or other animal capable of 
transmitting the causative agents of human disease, or disrupting the normal enjoyment of 
life by adversely affecting the public health and well-being. 

(gggg) “Wholesale Food Vendor” means a business or establishment engaged in the merchant 
wholesale distribution of food, where food (including fruits and vegetables) is received, 
shipped, stored, prepared for distribution to a retailer, warehouse, distributor, or other 
destination, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 189852(a)(76). 

3.05.030 Minimum Standards. 

The provisions of this subchapter shall be the minimum requirements for compliance with state 
Recycling and organic waste diversion mandates, and for protecting the, public health, safety, 
convenience and general welfare. Higher standards may be imposed by a franchise agreement 
or a permit. 

3.05.040 No Hauling without a Franchise or Permit. 

Except as expressly provided in this subchapter, it is unlawful for any person to collect, transport 
over any of the streets of the Town, or dispose of, any Solid Waste generated or accumulated in 
the Town of Colma, including Recyclables and Organic Waste, unless such person has entered 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 14 of 39 

into a franchise agreement with or has obtained a permit issued by the Town to collect and 
dispose of one or more types of Solid Waste, Recyclables, or Organic Waste. 

3.05.050 Illegal Dumping. 

It is unlawful to dump or place Solid Waste, including Recyclables, Organic Waste, Special Waste 
or Hazardous Waste materials on any lot, land, street, avenue, alley, creek or highway within the 
Town, except to the extent that a temporary accumulation of such materials is allowed in a 
particular place under the provisions of a permit issued by the Town. 

3.05.060 Duty to Properly Store, Dispose of Solid Waste, and Sort Recyclables, 
and Organic Waste. 

(a) It is unlawful to keep, deposit, bury or dispose of any Solid Waste (including Recyclables 
and Organic Waste), Special Waste and Hazardous Waste materials in or upon any public 
property, street, alley, sidewalk, gutter, park or upon the banks of any stream or creek in the 
Town, or in or upon any of the waters thereof, except as provided in this subchapter, and every 
person in the Town who disposes of Solid Waste materials shall dispose of same only in the 
manner provided in this subchapter. 

(b) It is unlawful to keep, deposit, bury or dispose of any Solid Waste (including Recyclables 
and Organic Waste), Special Waste and Hazardous Waste materials in or upon any private 
property without the permission of the owner or occupant of that property. Each person who 
disposes of Solid Waste materials on private property shall dispose of same only in the manner 
provided in this subchapter. 

(c) It is unlawful to store Solid Waste in such a manner so as to promote the propagation, 
harborage, attraction of vectors, or the creation of a nuisance, or dispose of refuse except as 
provided in this subchapter. 

(d) Each person owning, operating, occupying or in charge of any vacant or occupied premises, 
business establishment, industry or other property in the Town shall be responsible for the safe 
and sanitary storage and disposal of Solid Waste (including Recyclables and Organic Waste), 
special waste and hazardous waste accumulated on the property. 

3.05.070 Mandatory Subscription to Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic 
Waste Collection Services. 

(a) Each person owning, operating, occupying or in charge of any occupied premises, 
business establishment, industry or other property in the Town shall subscribe to Solid Waste, 
Recyclables, an Organic Waste collection service provided by an Franchisee or Permittee in 
compliance with the provisions of this subchapter. 

(b) Single-Family Organic Waste Generators shall subscribe to the Town’s Organic Waste 
collection services for all Organic Waste. Town or its Designee shall have the right to review the 
number and size of a generator’s containers to evaluate adequacy of capacity provided for each 
type of collection service for proper separation of materials and containment of materials; and, 
Single-Family generators shall adjust its service level for its collection services as requested by 
the Town or its Designee. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 15 of 39 

(c) Generators that are Commercial Businesses, including Multi-Family Residential Dwellings, 
shall subscribe to Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste collection service provided by an 
Franchisee or Permittee in compliance with the provisions of this subchapter, unless it receives a 
waiver under Section 3.05.130 or is otherwise exempt.  Town or its Designee shall have the right 
to review the number and size of a generator’s containers and frequency of collection to evaluate 
adequacy of capacity provided for each type of collection service for proper separation of 
materials and containment of materials; and, Commercial Businesses shall adjust their service 
level for their collection services as requested by the Town or their Designee. 

(d) It is unlawful to arrange for Solid Waste, Recyclables, or Organic Waste collection services 
provided by any Franchisee or Permittee not holding a valid franchise or permit issued by the 
Town, whether such services are provided on an ongoing basis, as needed, or with any other 
frequency. 

3.05.080 Design Requirements. 

The design of any new, substantially remodeled, or expanded building or other facility shall 
provide for the proper storage and collection of Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste, 
and must be approved by the Building Official prior to commencement of construction. 

3.05.090 Maintenance and Use of Containers. 

(a) Preparation of Solid Waste. All Solid Waste, including Recyclables and Organic Waste, shall 
be drained of free liquid before being deposited for collection. 

(b) Unlawful Use. 

(1) It is unlawful to use Solid Waste, Recycling, or Organic Waste containers provided 
by a Franchisee or Permittee for any purpose other than to facilitate collection by 
such Franchisee or Permittee. 

(2) It is unlawful to use Solid Waste, Recycling, or Organic Waste containers provided 
by the owner or occupant of property for any purpose other than to facilitate 
collection of Solid Waste by the owner or occupant of the property or by persons 
authorized by the owner or occupant to use such containers. 

(c) Maintaining Solid Waste, Recycling, or Organic Waste Containers.  It is the duty of each 
person subscribing to services for the collection and handling of Solid Waste, Recyclables, and 
Organic Waste to maintain receptacles in a reasonably safe and secure manner; and all such 
receptacles shall be so placed and kept at the designated collection location so as to be readily 
accessible for removal and collection therefrom and placed such that they will not be a public 
nuisance or in any degree offensive. 

(d) Containers. All Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste containers for residents or 
businesses must be non-absorbent, water-tight, vector-resistant, durable, easily cleanable, and 
designed for safe handling. Containers should be of an adequate size and in sufficient numbers 
to contain, without overflowing, all the Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste that a 
residence, business or other establishment generates within the designated removal period. 
Containers when filled shall not exceed weight limits established by the Hauler. Containers shall 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 16 of 39 

be maintained in a clean, safe, sound condition, free from putrescible residue, and may not have 
ragged or sharp edges, or have any other defect liable to hamper or injure any person collecting 
the contents thereof. 

(e) Separation of Solid Waste from Recyclables and Organics. Generators shall separate Solid 
Wastes from Recyclables and Organic Waste and are to be placed in separate containers. Solid 
Waste shall not be commingled with Recyclables or Organic Waste, and Recyclables shall not be 
commingled with Organic Waste. Generators shall place designated materials in designated 
containers and shall not place Prohibited Container Contaminants in collection containers. Using 
the three-container Collection service (Blue Container, Green Container, and Gray Container), 
Generator shall place Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste, including Food Waste, 
in the Green Container; Source Separated Recyclable Materials in the Blue Container; and Gray 
Container Waste in the Gray Container.  Generators shall not place materials designated for the 
Gray Container into the Green Container or Blue Container. 

(f) Points of Collection. Containers shall be placed for collection at ground level on the 
property, not within the right-of-way of a street or alley, and accessible to not more than forty 
feet from the side of the street or alley from which collection is made, provided that containers 
may be placed for collection at other than ground level and at a distance of more than forty feet 
when an additional payment for the extra service is agreed upon with the operator. 
Notwithstanding the provisions of this subsection, Containers used in automated collection service 
may be placed in a street or alley as directed by the Hauler. 

(g) Additional Requirements for Commercial Businesses. Commercial Businesses (including 
Multi-Family Residential Dwellings) shall: 

(1) Supply and allow access to adequate number, size, and location of Town’s Blue 
Container, Green Container, and Gray Container collection containers with 
sufficient labels that include language and or graphic images showing the materials 
accepted, and materials that are prohibited in that Container. (conforming with 
Sections 3.05.090(g)(3)(A) and 3.05.090(g)(3)(B) below) for employees, 
contractors, tenants, and customers, consistent with Town’s Blue Container, Green 
Container, and Gray Container collection service. 

(2) Provide containers for collection of Source Separated Green Container Organic 
Waste and Source Separated Recyclable Materials in all indoor and outdoor areas 
where disposal containers are provided for customers, for materials generated by 
that business (excludes Multi-Family Residential Dwellings). If a Commercial 
Business does not generate any of the materials that would be collected in one 
type of container, then the business does not have to provide that container in all 
areas where disposal containers are provided for customers. 

(3) Pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18984.9(b), these Containers provided by the 
business shall have either: 

(A) A body or lid that is color compliant: Green for Source Separated Organic 
Waste including Food Waste; Blue for Source Separated Recyclable 
Materials, Gray for non-Organic Waste and non-Recyclable Waste. A 
Business is not required to replace functional containers, including 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 17 of 39 

containers purchased prior to January 1, 2022, that do not comply with the 
requirements of the subsection prior to the end of the useful life of those 
containers, or prior to January 1, 2036, whichever comes first. 

(B) Container labels that include language and or graphic images showing the 
materials accepted, and the materials that are prohibited in that Container 
and or Containers with imprinted text or graphic images that indicate the 
materials accepted and materials prohibited in the container. Pursuant 14 
CCR Section 18984.8, the container labeling requirements are required on 
new containers commencing January 1, 2022. 

(4) Through education, training, Inspection, and/or other measures to the extent 
possible (excluding Multi-Family Residential Dwellings), prohibit employees from 
placing materials in a Container not designated for those materials per the Town’s 
Blue Container, Green Container, and Gray Container collection service. 

(5) Periodically inspect Blue Containers, Green Containers, and Gray Containers for 
contamination and inform employees if containers are contaminated and of the 
requirements to keep Contaminants out of those containers pursuant to 14 CCR 
Section 18984.9(b)(3) (excluding Multi-Family Residential Dwellings). 

(6) Annually provide information to employees, contractors, tenants, and customers 
about Organic Waste Recovery requirements and about proper sorting of Source 
Separated Green Container Organic Waste and Source Separated Recyclable 
Materials. 

(7) Provide education information before or within fourteen (14) days of occupation 
of the premises to new tenants that describes requirements to keep Source 
Separated Green Container Organic Waste and Source Separated Recyclable 
Materials separate from Gray Container Waste (when applicable) and the location 
of containers and the rules governing their use at each property. 

(8) Provide access for Town or its Designee to their properties during all Inspections 
conducted in accordance with Section 3.05.330 to confirm compliance with the 
requirements of this subchapter. 

(9) Cooperate with Town’s or its Designee’s Inspection of the contents of containers 
for Prohibited Container Contaminants. 

(10) Nothing in this Section prohibits a generator from preventing or reducing waste 
generation, managing Organic Waste on site, or using a Community Composting 
site pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18984.9(c). 

(11) Commercial Businesses that are Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food 
Generators shall comply with Food Recovery requirements, pursuant to Section 
3.05.190. 

3.05.100 Unauthorized Removal of Solid Waste, Recyclables, or Organic Waste 
from Containers. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 18 of 39 

No person, other than the owner or occupant of premises generating the Solid Waste, 
Recyclables, and Organic Waste that has been placed for collection in a container, or an employee 
or agent of the Franchisee or Permittee, shall tamper with any Container or remove or scavenge 
its contents. Among other things, this section prohibits the scavenging of Recyclable Materials 
from any Container in which they have been placed for collection, but shall not be deemed to 
prohibit the generator of Recyclable Materials from selling or donating such materials to a buyer 
or donee other than a Hauler. 

3.05.110 Disposal and Handling of Special Waste. 

(a) Contagious Disease Refuse. The removal of clothing, bedding or other Refuse from homes 
or other places where highly infectious or contagious diseases have prevailed should be 
performed under the supervision and direction of the County Health Officer. Such Refuse shall 
not be placed in Containers for regular Collection. 

(b) Inflammable or Explosive Refuse. Highly inflammable or explosive material shall not be 
placed in containers for regular collection or refuse, but shall be disposed of as directed by the 
Colma Fire District Chief at the expense of the owner or processor thereof. 

(c) Special Waste and Universal Waste. Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
subchapter, it shall be unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to dispose of, discard or place 
any Special Waste or universal waste in any receptacle or container placed and intended for 
Collection and disposal by a Hauler, unless otherwise authorized by the Hauler. All Special Waste 
and universal waste shall be disposed of in compliance with applicable state laws and regulations. 

3.05.120 Frequency of Collection. 

(a) No person owning, operating, occupying, or in charge of any premises, business 
establishment, industry or other property, vacant or occupied, in the Town shall permit, allow or 
suffer any garbage to be, remain, or accumulate on any such premises for any period longer than 
one week. 

(b) Each person engaged in selling or furnishing food or drink to members of the public, 
whether as a primary business or incidental to another business, such as but not limited to bars, 
soda fountains, restaurants, and theaters, shall remove, or cause to be removed, all garbage 
accumulated in connection therewith as often as necessary as directed by the County Health 
Officer, but not less than one time each week. 

3.05.130 Waivers. 

(a) De Minimis Waivers. The Town may waive a Commercial Business’ obligation (including 
Multi-Family Residential Dwellings) to comply with some or all the Organic Waste requirements 
of this subchapter if the Commercial Business provides documentation that the business 
generates below a certain amount of Organic Waste material as described in Section 
3.05.130(a)(2) below. Commercial Businesses requesting a de minimis waiver shall: 

(1) Submit an application specifying the services that they are requesting a waiver 
from and provide documentation as noted in Section 3.05.130(a)(2) below. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 19 of 39 

(2) Provide documentation that either: 

(A) The Commercial Business’ total Solid Waste collection service is two cubic 
yards or more per week and Organic Waste subject to collection in a Green 
Container comprises less than 20 gallons per week per applicable container 
of the business’ total waste; or, 

(B) The Commercial Business’ total Solid Waste collection service is less than 
two cubic yards per week and Organic Waste subject to collection in a 
Green Container comprises less than 10 gallons per week per applicable 
container of the business’ total waste. 

(3) Notify Town if circumstances change such that Commercial Business’s Organic 
Waste exceeds threshold required for waiver, in which case waiver will be 
rescinded.  

(4) Provide written verification of eligibility for de minimis waiver every 5 years if 
Town has approved de minimis waiver. 

(b) Physical Space Waivers. The Town may waive a Commercial Business’ or property owner’s 
obligations (including Multi-Family Residential Dwellings) to comply with some or all of the 
Recyclable Materials and/or Organic Waste collection service requirements if the Town has 
evidence from its own staff, a hauler, licensed architect, or licensed engineer demonstrating that 
the premises lacks adequate space for the collection Containers required for compliance with the 
Organic Waste collection requirements. 

A Commercial Business or property owner may request a physical space waiver through the 
following process: 

(1) Submit an application form specifying the type(s) of collection services for which 
they are requesting a compliance waiver. 

(2) Provide documentation that the premises lacks adequate space for Blue Containers 
and/or Green Containers including documentation from its hauler, licensed 
architect, or licensed engineer. 

(3) Provide written verification to Town that it is still eligible for physical space waiver 
every five years if Town has approved application for a physical space waiver. 

ARTICLE 4.  SUBCHAPTER 3.05, DIVISION 2 – RECYCLING AND ORGANIC WASTE 
COLLECTION 

The following sections are added to subchapter 3.05, Collection of Solid Waste, Recyclables, 
and Organic Waste, of the Colma Municipal Code as “Division 2 – Recycling and Organic Waste 
Collection.” 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 20 of 39 

Subchapter 5.04 - Collection of Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste 

Division 2: Recycling and Organic Waste Collection 

3.05.140 Mandatory Recycling and Organic Waste Collection Services. 

(a) Each owner or operator of a Commercial Business shall arrange for Recycling and from a 
Franchisee or Permittee.  Each owner or operator of a Commercial Business shall arrange for 
Organic Waste Collection from a Franchisee.  Each owner or operator of a Commercial Business 
shall Source-separate Recyclable Materials and Organic Waste from Solid Waste and subscribe to 
Recycling and Organic Waste Collection services that includes collection, self-haul, or make other 
arrangements for the pick-up of Recyclable Materials or Organic Waste; or 

(b) A property owner of a Multi-Family Residential Dwelling may require tenants to source 
separate their Recyclable Materials and Organic Waste to aid in compliance with this section. 

3.05.150 Preparation and Ownership of Recyclables and Organic Waste. 

(a) Containers containing Recyclable Materials for residential units shall be placed at curbside 
for collection by the Franchisee or Permittee, and Containers containing Organic Waste for 
residential units shall be placed at curbside for Collection by the Franchisee, but Containers shall 
not be placed at curbside earlier than twelve hours prior to the date and time for scheduled 
collection, nor left remaining at curbside longer than twelve hours following the date and time for 
scheduled Collection. 

(b) Containers containing Recyclable Materials for a Multi-Residential Dwelling, Commercial 
and/or institutional locations shall be of a size and serviceability agreed to by the Franchisee or 
Permittee and thereafter placed at the designated collection location.  Containers containing 
Organic Waste for a Multi-Residential Dwelling, Commercial and/or institutional locations shall be 
of a size and serviceability agreed to by the Franchisee and thereafter placed at the designated 
Collection location. 

(c) From the time of placement of Recyclable Materials at a designated location for collection 
of Recyclable Materials, or in any Container used for Recycling provided by a Franchisee or 
Permittee, those Recyclable Materials shall be and become the property of the Franchisee or 
Permittee.  From the time of placement of Organic Waste at a designated location for collection 
of Organic Waste, or in any Container used for Organic Waste collection provided by a Franchisee, 
that Organic Waste shall be and become the property of the Franchisee. 

3.05.160 Collection of Recyclables or Organic Waste By Unauthorized Persons 
Prohibited. 

(a) It is unlawful for any person, business or other entity to Collect Recyclable Materials or 
Organic Waste in the Town, except as otherwise provided in this subchapter. 

(b) Any person engaged in the unauthorized Collection of Recyclable Materials or Organic 
Waste is guilty of an infraction. Any such unauthorized collections from one or more locations 
within the Town shall constitute a separate and distinct offense. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 21 of 39 

(c) As an alternative to criminal enforcement, both the Town and the Franchisee or Permittee 
have the independent authority to civilly enforce any provisions of this subchapter, to and 
including the authority to seek treble damages pursuant to California Government Code Section 
66764. The City Manager may invoke these remedies, or any of them, whenever he or she deems 
it appropriate. 

3.05.170 Duty to Properly Use Recycling and Organic Waste Containers. 

(a) Each person subscribing to Recycling collection service shall, to the greatest extent 
practical, make use of the Recyclable Materials collection service provided by the Franchisee or 
Permittee, by separating Recyclable Materials from Refuse and Organic Waste and placing the 
Recyclable Materials in the container provided by the Franchisee or Permittee for this purpose. 

(b) Each person subscribing to Organic Waste collection service shall, to the greatest extent 
practical, make use of the Organic Waste collection service provided by the Franchisee, by 
separating Organic Waste from Refuse and Recyclable Materials and placing the Organic Waste 
in the Container provided by the Franchisee for this purpose. 

(c) Recyclable Materials for donation, sale, or collection by or to any person or entity, other 
than a Franchisee or Permittee, may not be stored or transferred by use of the Recycling 
Containers described in this subchapter, or any other containers used for Recycling provided by 
the Franchisee or Permittee. Storage of Recyclable Materials at the designated collection location 
other than for pickup by the Franchisee or Permittee as defined herein, is prohibited. 

3.05.180 Sale or Donation of Recyclable Materials or Organic Waste. 

Nothing in this subchapter shall prohibit the generator of Recyclable Materials or Organic Waste 
from selling or donating such materials to a buyer or donee, provided that, if the Town has 
awarded an exclusive franchise for the collection and disposal of Solid Waste, Recyclables, or 
Organic Waste, a generator may not pay any other person other than a Franchisee for collecting, 
Recycling, or disposing of Recyclables or Organic Waste. 

ARTICLE 5.  SUBCHAPTER 3.05, DIVISION 3 – EDIBLE FOOD RECOVERY 

The following sections are added to subchapter 3.05, Collection of Solid Waste, Recyclables, 
and Organic Waste, of the Colma Municipal Code as “Division  – Edible Food Recovery.” 

Subchapter 5.04 - Collection of Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste 

Division 3: Edible Food Recovery 

3.05.190 Requirements for Commercial Edible Food Generators. 

(a) Tier One Commercial Edible Food Generators must comply with the requirements of this 
Section commencing January 1, 2022, and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators must 
comply commencing January 1, 2024, pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18991.3. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 22 of 39 

(b) Large Venue or Large Event operators not providing food services, but allowing for food to 
be provided by others, shall require Food Facilities operating at the Large Venue or Large Event 
to comply with the requirements of this Section, commencing January 1, 2024. 

(c) Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators shall comply with the 
following requirements: 

(1) Arrange to recover the maximum amount of Edible Food that would otherwise be 
disposed. 

(2) Use the CalRecycle Model Food Recovery Agreement or the contractual elements 
contained in the Requirements for Food Recovery Organizations and Food 
Recovery Services section of this subchapter to contract with, or otherwise enter 
into a written agreement with Food Recovery Organizations or Food Recovery 
Services for: 

(A) the collection of Edible Food for Edible Food Recovery from the Tier One 
or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator’s premises; or, 

(B) the acceptance of Edible Food that the Tier One or Tier Two Commercial 
Edible Food Generator self-hauls to the Food Recovery Organization. 

(3) Contract with Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services able to 
demonstrate a positive reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from their Edible 
Food Recovery activity. A list of Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery 
Services is available on the County of San Mateo Office of Sustainability website. 

(4) Shall not intentionally spoil Edible Food that is capable of being recovered by a 
Food Recovery Organization or a Food Recovery Service. 

(5) Allow Town’s enforcement entity or its Designee for Edible Food Recovery to 
access the premises and inspect procedures and review records related to Edible 
Food Recovery and/or provide them electronically if requested by the Town or 
the Designee for Edible Food Recovery. 

(6) Keep records that include the following information: 

(A) A list of each Food Recovery Organization or a Food Recovery Service that 
collects or receives Edible Food from the Tier One or Tier Two Commercial 
Edible Food Generator pursuant to a contract or written agreement as 
required by this subchapter. 

(B) A copy of all contracts or written agreements established under the 
provisions of this subchapter. 

(C) A record of the following information for each of those Food Recovery 
Services or Food Recovery Organizations: 

(i) The name, address and contact information of the Food Recovery 
Service or Food Recovery Organization. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 23 of 39 

(ii) The types of food that will be collected by or self-hauled to the Food 
Recovery Service or Food Recovery Organization. 

(iii) The established schedule or frequency that food will be collected or 
self-hauled. 

(iv) The quantity of food, measured in pounds recovered per month, 
collected or self-hauled to a Food Recovery Service or Food 
Recovery Organization for Food Recovery. 

(7) No later than June 30th of each year commencing no later than July 1, 2022 for 
Tier One Commercial Edible Food Generators and July 1, 2024 for Tier  Two 
Commercial Edible Food Generators, they shall provide an annual Edible Food 
Recovery report to the Designee for Edible Food Recovery that includes, but is not 
limited to, the following information: a list of all contracts with Food Recovery 
Organizations and Food Recovery Services, the amount and type of Edible Food 
donated to Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services, the 
schedule of Edible Food pickup by Food Recovery Organizations and Food 
Recovery Services, a list of all types of Edible Food categories they generate, such 
as “baked goods,” that are not accepted by the Food Recovery Organizations and 
Food Recovery Services with whom they contract, the contact information for the 
manager and all staff responsible for Edible Food Recovery, and certification that 
all staff responsible for  Edible Food Recovery have obtained a food handler card 
through an American National Standards Institute (ANSI) accredited training 
provider that meets ASTM International E2659-09 Standard Practice for Certificate 
Programs, such as ServSafe. Except for the food safety and handling training 
certification, Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators may 
coordinate with their Edible Food Recovery contractors to supply this information. 
The Designee for Edible Food Recovery will assist in the preparation of these 
reports by providing guidance and a template located on the County of San Mateo 
Office of Sustainability website. 

(8) Mandate their Edible Food Recovery staff learn and follow the donation guidelines  
and attend trainings conducted by Food Recovery Organizations or Food Recovery 
Services with which they contract regarding best practices and requirements for 
the timely identification, selection, preparation, and storage of Edible Food to 
ensure the maximum amount of Edible Food is recovered and to avoid supplying 
food for collection that is moldy, has been improperly stored, or is otherwise unfit 
for human consumption. 

(9) Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators who self-haul Edible 
Food shall require those transporting Edible Food for recovery to obtain a food 
handler card through an American National Standards Institute (ANSI) accredited 
training provider that meets ASTM International E2659-09 Standard Practice for 
Certificate Programs, such as ServSafe and follow the best practices and standards 
for proper temperature control, methods, and procedures for the safe handling 
and transport of food. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 24 of 39 

(d) Nothing in this subchapter shall be construed to limit or conflict with the protections 
provided by the California Good Samaritan Food Donation Act of 2017, the Federal Good 
Samaritan Act, or share table and school food donation guidance pursuant to Senate Bill 557 
(Chapter 285, Statutes of 2017), as amended from time to time. 

3.05.200 Requirements for Food Recovery Organizations and Services. 

(a) Food Recovery Services operating in the Town and collecting or receiving Edible Food 
directly from Tier One and/or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators via a contract or 
written agreement established under the requirements of this subchapter, shall maintain the 
following records: 

(1) The name, address, and contact information for each Tier One and Tier Two 
Commercial Edible Food Generator from which the service collects Edible Food. 

(2) The quantity in pounds of Edible Food by type collected from each Tier One and 
Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator per month. 

(3) The quantity in pounds of Edible Food by type transported to each Food Recovery 
Organization or redistribution site per month. 

(4) The name, address, and contact information for each Food Recovery Organization 
or redistribution site that the Food Recovery Service transports Edible Food to for 
Edible Food Recovery. 

(b) Food Recovery Organizations operating in the Town and collecting or receiving Edible Food 
directly from Tier One and/or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators via a contract or 
written agreement established under the requirements of this subchapter, or receiving Edible 
Food from Food Recovery Services or from other Food Recovery Organizations, shall maintain the 
following records: 

(1) The name, address, and contact information for each Tier One and Tier Two 
Commercial Edible Food Generator, Food Recovery Service, or other Food 
Recovery Organization from which the organization collects or receives Edible 
Food. 

(2) The quantity in pounds of Edible Food by type collected or received from each Tier 
One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator, Food Recovery Service, or 
other Food Recovery Organization per month. 

(3) The name, address, and contact information for other Food Recovery 
Organizations or redistribution sites that the Food Recovery Organization 
transports Edible Food to for Edible Food Recovery. 

(c) Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating in the Town shall 
inform Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators from which they collect or 
receive Edible Food about California and Federal Good Samaritan Food Donation Act protection 
in written communications, such as in their contract or agreement established as required by this 
subchapter. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 25 of 39 

(d) Commencing no later than July 1, 2022, Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery 
Services operating in the Town and collecting or receiving Edible Food from Tier One and Tier 
Two Commercial Edible Food Generators or any other source shall report to the Designee for 
Edible Food Recovery the following: a detailed Edible Food activity report of the information 
collected as required under this subchapter, including weight in pounds by type and source of 
Edible Food, the schedule/frequency of pickups/drop-offs of Edible Food from/to each Edible Food 
source or redistribution site, brief analysis of any necessary process improvements or additional 
infrastructure needed to support Edible Food Recovery efforts, such as training, staffing, 
refrigeration, vehicles, etc., and an up to date list of Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible 
Food Generators with whom they have contracts or agreements established as required under 
this subchapter. The Designee for Edible Food Recovery will assist in the preparation of these 
reports by providing guidance and a template located on the County of San Mateo Office of 
Sustainability website. This Edible Food activity report shall be submitted quarterly, or at the 
discretion of the Designee for Edible Food Recovery, less frequently, and shall cover the activity 
that occurred since the period of the last submission. 

(e) Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating in the Town shall 
contact the Designee for Edible Food Recovery to discuss the requirements of this subchapter 
before establishing new contracts or agreements with Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible 
Food Generators and to maintain existing contracts or agreements for the recovery of Edible Food 
with Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators. 

(f) In order to provide the required records to the State, the Town, or the Designee for Edible 
Food Recovery, and Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators, contracts between 
Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating in the Town and Tier One 
and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators shall either: 

(1) Use the CalRecycle Model Food Recovery Agreement and include a clause requiring 
the Food Recovery Organization or Food Recovery Service to report to the Tier 
One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators with whom they have 
contracts the annual amount of Edible Food recovered and to inform them of the 
tax benefits available to those who donate Edible Food to non-profits; or 

(2) Include in their contracts the following elements: 

(A) List/description of allowable foods the Food Recovery Organization/Food 
Recovery Service will receive. 

(B) List/description of foods not accepted by the Food Recovery 
Organization/Food Recovery Service. 

(C) Conditions for refusal of food. 

(D) Food safety requirements, training, and protocols. 

(E) Transportation and storage requirements and training. 

(F) A protocol for informing the Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food 
Generators of a missed or delayed pickup. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 26 of 39 

(G) Notice that donation dumping is prohibited. 

(H) Provisions to collect sufficient information to meet the record-keeping 
requirements of this subchapter. 

(I) Fees/financial contributions/acknowledgement of terms for the pickup and 
redistribution of Edible Food. 

(J) Terms and conditions consistent with the CalRecycle Model Food Recovery 
Agreement. 

(K) Information supplying the Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food 
Generators with the annual amount of Edible Food recovered and informing 
them of the tax benefits that may be available to those who donate Edible 
Food to non-profits. 

(L) Contact name, address, phone number, and email for both responsible 
parties, including the current on-site staff responsible for Edible Food 
Recovery. 

(M) Food Recovery Organizations accepting self-hauling of Edible Food from 
Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators must provide a 
schedule, including days of the week and acceptable times for drop-offs, 
and information about any limitation on the amount of food accepted, 
and/or the packaging requirements or other conditions of transport, such 
as, but not limited to, maintaining proper temperature control, and other 
requirements for the safe handling and transport of food, the self-hauler 
must follow for the Edible Food to be accepted. 

(g) Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating in the Town shall 
demonstrate that all persons, including volunteers and contracted workers using their own 
vehicle, involved in the handling or transport of Edible Food, have obtained a food handler card 
through an American National Standards Institute (ANSI) accredited training provider that meets 
ASTM International E2659-09 Standard Practice for Certificate Programs, such as ServSafe. 

(h) Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating in the Town shall use 
the appropriate temperature control equipment and methods and maintain the required 
temperatures for the safe handling of Edible Food recovered from Tier One and Tier Two 
Commercial Edible Food Generators for the duration of the transportation of the Edible Food for 
redistribution, including Edible Food transported by private vehicles. 

(i) In order to ensure recovered Edible Food is eaten and to prevent donation dumping, Food 
Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating in the Town shall provide 
documentation that all redistribution sites which are not themselves Food Recovery Organizations 
to which they deliver Edible Food have a feeding or redistribution program in place to distribute, 
within a reasonable time, all the Edible Food they receive. Such documentation may include a 
website address which explains the program or pamphlets/brochures prepared by the 
redistribution site. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 27 of 39 

(j) Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating in the Town unable 
to demonstrate a positive reduction in GHG emissions for their Edible Food Recovery operational 
model cannot contract with Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators in the 
Town for the purpose of recovering Edible Food as defined in this subchapter. Food Recovery 
Organizations and Food Recovery Services contracting to recover Edible Food from a Tier One 
and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator for redistribution shall consult with the Town’s 
Designee for Edible Food Recovery to document that their overall operational model will achieve 
a greenhouse gas emissions reduction. Such review may analyze route review, miles traveled for 
pick-up and redistribution, amount of food rescued, and the likelihood of consumption after 
redistribution. 

(k) Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating in the Town shall 
visually inspect all Edible Food recovered or received from a Tier One and Tier Two Commercial 
Edible Food Generator. If significant spoilage is found, or if the food is otherwise found to be unfit 
for redistribution for human consumption, Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery 
Services shall immediately notify the Designee for Edible Food Recovery using the process found 
on the County of San Mateo Office of Sustainability’s website. The notice shall include: 

(1) The type and amount, in pounds, of spoiled food or food unfit for redistribution 
for human consumption, or provide a photographic record of the food, or both. 

(2) The date and time such food was identified. 

(3) The name, address and contact information for the Tier One or Tier Two 
Commercial Edible Food Generator which provided the food. 

(4) The date and time the food was picked up or received. 

(5) A brief explanation of why the food was rejected or refused. 

(A) Contracts between Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food 
Generators and Food Recovery Organizations or Food Recovery Services 
shall not include any language prohibiting Tier One or Tier Two Commercial 
Edible Food Generators from contracting or holding agreements with 
multiple Food Recovery Organizations or Food Recovery Services listed on 
the County of San Mateo Office of Sustainability website. 

(l) Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating in the Town shall 
conduct trainings and develop educational material such as donation guidelines and handouts to 
provide instruction and direction to Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators 
with whom they contract regarding best practices and requirements for the timely identification, 
selection, preparation, and storage of Edible Food to ensure the maximum amount of Edible Food 
is recovered and to avoid the collection of food that is moldy, has been improperly stored, or is 
otherwise unfit for human consumption. 

(m) Edible Food Recovery Capacity Planning 

(1) Food Recovery Services and Food Recovery Organizations. To support Edible Food 
Recovery capacity planning assessments or other such studies, Food Recovery 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 28 of 39 

Services and Food Recovery Organizations operating in the Town shall provide 
information and consultation to the Town and its Designee for Edible Food 
Recovery upon request, regarding existing, or proposed new or expanded, Edible 
Food Recovery capacity that could be accessed by the Town and its Tier One and 
Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators. A Food Recovery Service or Food 
Recovery Organization contacted by the Town, or its Designee for Edible Food 
Recovery shall respond to such requests for information within 60 days. 

(n) Allow Town’s enforcement entity or their Designee for Edible Food Recovery to access the 
premises and inspect procedures and review records related to Edible Food Recovery and/or 
provide them electronically if requested by the Town or the Designee for Edible Food Recovery. 

ARTICLE 6.  SUBCHAPTER 3.05, DIVISION 4 – REGULATION OF FRANCHISEES AND 
PERMITTEES, AND COLLECTION PRACTICES 

The following sections are added to subchapter 3.05, Collection of Solid Waste, Recyclables, 
and Organic Waste, of the Colma Municipal Code as “Division 4 – Regulation of Franchisees and 
Permittees, and Collection Practices.” 

Subchapter 5.04 - Collection of Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste 

Division 4: Regulation of Franchisees and Permittees, and Collection Practices 

3.05.210 Franchise to Collect Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste. 

The City Council may, with or without having invited bids therefor, enter into an exclusive contract 
with any Responsible Person to collect and handle any or all Solid Waste, including Recyclables 
and Organic Waste, within the Town. The Franchisee with whom the Town has entered into an 
exclusive franchise agreement shall have the exclusive right to collect, convey, and transport Solid 
Waste, including Recyclables and Organic Waste, in, along, or over the public streets, alleys, and 
highways in the Town, or to designated properties or areas in the Town, for so long as the 
Franchisee is not in material breach of any term of the franchise agreement. A Franchisee with a 
franchise agreement shall pay the Town the franchise fee required under the franchise 
agreement; no permit fee shall be required of such Franchisee. 

The Franchisee shall, through written notice to the Town annually on or before October 1st 
identify the facilities to which they will transport Organic Waste including facilities for Source 
Separated Recyclable Materials, Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste, and Mixed 
Waste as defined in 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12, Article 2. 

Franchisees, Facility Operators and Community Composting Operations. Owners of facilities, 
operations, and activities that recover Organic Waste, including, but not limited to, Compost 
facilities, in-vessel digestion facilities, and publicly owned treatment works shall, upon the Town’s 
request, provide information regarding available and potential new or expanded capacity at their 
facilities, operations, and activities, including information about throughput and permitted 
capacity necessary for planning purposes. Entities contacted by the Town, or their Designee shall 
respond within 60 days. Community Composting operators, upon the Town’s request, shall 
provide information to the Town to support Organic Waste capacity planning, including, but not 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 29 of 39 

limited to, an estimate of the amount of Organic Waste anticipated to be handled at the 
Community Composting operation. Entities contacted by the Town shall respond within 60 days. 

3.05.220 Permit to Collect Solid Waste. 

Upon finding that it is in the best interests of the Town to do so, the City Council may grant a 
permit, good for one year, to any Responsible Person to collect and handle any or all Solid Waste 
from such properties or areas in the Town that are not eligible for service by a Franchisee 
operating under an exclusive franchise agreement, and to convey, and transport such Solid Waste 
in, along, or over the public streets, alleys, and highways in the Town. The City Council may 
renew the permit each year if the permittee is not in material default of any provisions in its 
existing permit and renewal is in the best interests of the Town. The permittee shall pay the Town 
an annual permit fee set forth in the Master Fee Schedule. 

3.05.230 Permit to Collect Recyclables. 

Upon finding that it is in the best interests of the Town to do so, the City Council may grant a 
permit, good for one year, to any Responsible Person to provide collect Recyclables only from 
any properties or areas in the Town, and to convey, and transport such Recyclables in, along, or 
over the public streets, alleys, and highways in the Town. Thereafter, the City Manager may 
renew the permit each year if the Permittee is not in material default of any provisions in its 
existing permit and renewal is in the best interests of the Town. A denial of a request to renew a 
Permit to Collect Recyclables may be appealed to the City Council in accordance with Colma 
Municipal Code section 1.02.270. The Permittee shall pay the Town an annual permit fee set forth 
in the Master Fee Schedule. 

3.05.240 Franchisee or Permittee with Continuation Rights. 

(a) Nothing in this subchapter shall affect the continuation rights granted by section 49520 of 
the California Public Resources Code to any Franchisee or Permittee, provided that the 
Franchisee or Permittee shall have paid all required fees and is not in material breach of any 
term of the permit or franchise under which the Franchisee or Permittee is operating. Any 
Franchisee or Permittee claiming continuation rights shall be responsible for demonstrating to 
the Town how those rights have been acquired, and shall provide to the Town a list of that 
Hauler’s customers as of the date upon which continuation rights are first claimed. 

(b) To the extent that a Hauler is operating under continuation rights granted by section 49520 
of the California Public Resources Code, and the Town gave such Hauler notice of termination 
of continuation rights prior to November 9, 2010, such Hauler may not commence service to 
any new customers from and after the effective date of any new Solid Waste, Recyclables or 
Organic Waste collection franchise granted by the Town. 

3.05.250 Authorization for Haulers of Electronics Waste (E-waste). 

An approved E-Waste Recycler or Hauler may, without obtaining a permit, collect E-waste, 
including computers, televisions, copiers, fax machines, stereos and VCRs, that has been left at 
either the curbside in a marked container or a drop-off site, provided that such Recycler or Hauler 
has provided to the City Clerk its Covered Electronic Waste Identification (CEWID) number prior 
to collection of any E-waste. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 30 of 39 

3.05.260 Self-Haulers and Other Exemptions. 

(a) Nothing in this subchapter shall prohibit a self-hauler from personally collecting, conveying, 
Recycling, processing or disposing of such Solid Waste, Recyclables or Organic Waste without 
obtaining the permit required herein, provided that the self-hauler complies with other provisions 
of this subchapter and any other applicable law. 

(b) Nothing herein contained shall prevent any person, business or other entity from allowing 
Recyclable Materials or Organic Waste to be picked up, dropped off, or otherwise donated to any 
Charitable Entity or community composting facility. 

(c) Nothing herein contained shall inhibit, regulate or restrict any Recycling center, nonprofit 
dropoff program or Recycling processor as permitted by the Solid Waste Management Resource 
and Recovery Act of 1972 or the California Beverage Container Recycling and Litter Reduction Act 
of 1986. 

(d) Nothing herein shall prohibit a contractor from Recycling, re-using, or disposing of 
demolition and construction debris, provided that such contractor shall comply with all Town 
diversion, recordkeeping and reporting requirements set forth in this subchapter. 

3.05.270 Terms of a Franchise or Permit. 

(a) A Franchise agreement or permit shall be in writing, naming the holder of the franchise or 
permit, and shall include such terms and conditions as the City Council shall establish to further 
the purposes of this subchapter, which may include but are not limited to: 

(1) Requirements pertaining to the manner, time and frequency of collection; 

(2) Requirements pertaining to collecting and handling Recyclable Materials or Organic 
Waste; 

(3) Indemnification and insurance provisions satisfactory to the Town; 

(4) Provisions requiring the Franchisee or Permittee to provide requested Solid Waste, 
Recycling, and Organic Waste diversion reports to the Town, cooperate with the 
city in reporting requirements, Solid Waste generation studies and the preparation 
of waste stream and container contamination audits, and to implement measures 
to reach the Recycling and organic waste diversion targets mandated by the Waste 
Management Act (California Public Resources Code Section 40000 et seq.), SB 
1016, AB 341, AB 1826, and SB 1383, and their implementing regulations, as they 
may be amended from time to time; and 

(5) Reporting Requirements, as more fully described elsewhere in this subchapter. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 31 of 39 

3.05.280 Records and Reporting. 

(a) Each Franchisee shall prepare the following reports and submit them to the City Manager 
within 45 days after the close of the reporting period: 

(1) A monthly Service Complaints Report containing all complaints by residents or 
businesses in the Town of Colma relating to service, including missed pickups, and 
a description of how each complaint was handled. 

(2) A biannual AB 341/SB 1383 Report on the implementation and monitoring of the 
legislation referenced in Section 3.05.270(a)(4), which shall include information 
about the: 

(A) The number of businesses subject to AB 341 and the SB 1383 Regulations, 
modifications to service compared to the prior reporting period, and the 
related disposal and Recycling generated from each account and each 
account’s address. 

(B) Information about the businesses that are out of compliance with AB 341 
and the SB 1383 Regulations and the legislation referenced in Section 
3.05.270(a)(4). 

(3) A quarterly Recycling and Disposal - by Sector - Report, which shall include the 
amount of disposed Solid Waste, Recycled Materials, and Organic Waste from each 
of the three sectors: commercial, residential, and debris box service, the Recycling 
and Organic Waste Recycling rate for the commercial, residential sectors and 
debris box service and the total Recycling rate for the Town. 

(4) An annual Recycling and Disposal by Sector-Cumulative Annual Report that 
includes the residential, commercial and roll-off/debris box disposed and diverted 
amounts in a year-to-year comparison. 

(5) An annual Household Hazardous Waste Report to be sent to the Town prior to 
August 30 if each year that details the amount and type of Household Hazardous 
Waste that was collected in the Town. 

(b) Each Hauler (and if applicable, the Permittee, as it relates to Organic Waste) shall prepare 
the following reports and submit them to the City Manager within 45 days after the close of the 
reporting period: 

(1) A monthly Service Complaints Report containing all complaints by residents or 
businesses in the Town relating to service, including missed pickups, and a 
description of how each complaint was handled. 

(2) A quarterly Recyclable Materials Report, which shall be submitted by the Hauler 
45 days after the close of the reporting period, and which shall state for the 
reporting period: 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 32 of 39 

(A) Each location name and address serviced by Hauler, and the monthly Solid 
Waste, Recycling and Organic Waste subscription level for each customer; 

(B) Type and quantity of Recyclable Materials collected monthly, e.g., 
cardboard, paper, beverage containers, mixed Recyclables, wood waste 
and scrap metal, collected; 

(C) Type and quantity of Organic Waste collected monthly, e.g., green waste, 
food waste, and paper, collected; 

(D) The name of the Material Recovery Facility, authorized Recycling facility, 
or authorized processing facility where the Recyclable Materials and 
Organic Waste were delivered and processed; and 

(E) Colma Permit number (if applicable), address, phone number, contact 
person, email of Hauler. 

3.05.290 Collection Practices. 

(a) Collection of Solid Waste. No person may convey Solid Waste, including Recyclables and 
Organic Waste, over the streets of the Town except in equipment that is water-tight, vector-
resistant, durable, easily cleanable and designed for safe hauling, and so operated as to prevent 
offensive odors escaping there from and garbage from being blown, dropped or spilled. 

(b) Hauler vehicles. No Hauler shall collect, convey over the streets and alleys of the Town, 
dispose of any refuse except in equipment that is water-tight, vector-resistant, durable, easily 
cleanable and designed for safe hauling, and so operated as to prevent offensive odors escaping 
there from and garbage from being blown, dropped or spilled. 

(c) Disposal. Disposal of Solid Waste, Recyclables and Organic Waste shall be made outside 
the Town limits, at a transfer station or disposal facility that is operating in compliance with all 
applicable laws and holds all permits and other authorizations required for its operations. 

(d) Equipment Safety. Vehicles and equipment used in the transport of Solid Waste, 
Recyclables, and Organic Waste shall be constructed and maintained in such a manner to 
minimize the health and safety hazards to collection personnel and the public. 

(e) Equipment Parking. For reasons of nuisance and vector problems, uncleaned Solid Waste 
collection vehicles containing putrescible material shall not be stored on public streets or roads 
except under emergency conditions. The Hauler must designate a location where the vehicles will 
be parked when not in service. 

(f) Identification of Hauler. Each vehicle used for the collection and transport of Solid Waste, 
Recyclables, and Organic Waste shall be clearly marked with the name of the agency or firm 
operating the vehicle. 

(g) Time of Collection. No person shall remove any Solid Waste, Recyclables, or Organic Waste  
between the hours of 5:00 p.m. and 2:30 a.m. the following date. A Hauler shall provide regular 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 33 of 39 

collection service, in compliance with any schedule established by the franchise between the 
Hauler and the Town, or permit issued by the Town, and the requirements of this subchapter. 

3.05.300 Delivery and Recycling and Disposal Requirements. 

(a) Solid Waste other than Recyclables or Organic Waste may only be delivered to a licensed 
landfill site or licensed transfer station for disposal. 

(b) Recyclable Materials may only be delivered, after having been separated from other Solid 
Wastes, to a material recovery facility (MRF) or other authorized Recyclable collection facility. 

(c) Organic Waste may only be delivered to an approved composting facility or a facility that 
allows diversion credit for the delivered organics materials. 

(d) Construction and Demolition Debris may only be delivered to certified construction and 
demolition Recycling facility or other authorized collection site. The Town’s Construction and 
Demolition ordinance reporting requirements for projects in Colma remain in full effect and the 
reporting requirements in the subchapter are not modified. 

3.05.310 Modification or Revocation. 

The City Council may modify or revoke a franchise or permit to collect Solid Waste, Recyclables, 
or Organic Waste for failure to comply with any provision of this subchapter. 

3.05.320 Franchisee’s Existing Rights. 

Nothing in this subchapter shall modify, limit, or abrogate in any manner any franchise or permit 
previously granted or extended by the Town, or the existing right of a person or business to sell 
or donate its Recyclable Materials or Organic Waste. 

ARTICLE 7.  SUBCHAPTER 3.05, DIVISION 5 – INSPECTIONS AND ENFORCEMENT  

The following sections are added to subchapter 3.05, Collection of Solid Waste, Recyclables, 
and Organic Waste, of the Colma Municipal Code as “Division 5 – Inspections and 
Enforcement.” 

Subchapter 5.04 - Collection of Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste 

Division 5: Inspections and Enforcement 

3.05.330 Inspections and Investigations 

(a) Town representatives and/or Designee, including the Designee for Edible Food Recovery 
are authorized to conduct Inspections and investigations, at random or otherwise, of any 
collection container, collection vehicle loads, or transfer, processing, or disposal facility for 
materials collected from generators, or Source Separated materials to confirm compliance with 
this subchapter by Organic Waste Generators, Commercial Businesses (including Multi-Family 
Residential Dwellings), property owners, Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food 
Generators, haulers, Self-Haulers, Food Recovery Services, and Food Recovery Organizations, 
subject to applicable laws. This Section does not allow Town to enter the interior of a private 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 34 of 39 

residential property for Inspection. Town may conduct container Inspections for Prohibited 
Container Contaminants using Remote Monitoring, and Commercial Businesses shall 
accommodate and cooperate with the Remote Monitoring. 

(b) Regulated entity shall provide or arrange for access during all Inspections (except for 
residential property interiors) and shall cooperate with the Town’s employee, Designee or 
Designee for Edible Food Recovery during such Inspections and investigations.  Such Inspections 
and investigations may include confirmation of proper placement of materials in containers, Edible 
Food Recovery activities, records, or any other requirement of this subchapter described herein.  
Failure to provide or arrange for: (i) access to an entity’s premises; (ii) installation and operation 
of Remote Monitoring equipment (optional); or (ii) access to records for any Inspection or 
investigation is a violation of this subchapter and may result in penalties described. 

(c) Town or its Designee are authorized to conduct Inspections and investigations, at random 
or otherwise, of any collection container, collection vehicle loads, or transfer, processing, or 
disposal facility for materials collected from generators, or Source Separated materials to confirm 
compliance with this subchapter by Organic Waste Generators, Commercial Businesses (including 
Multi-Family Residential Dwellings), property owners, Commercial Edible Food Generators, 
haulers, Self-Haulers, Food Recovery Services, and Food Recovery Organizations, subject to 
applicable laws. 

(d) The regulated entity shall provide or arrange for access during all Inspections (except for 
residential property interiors) and shall cooperate with the Town’s employee or its designated 
entity/Designee during such Inspections and investigations.  Such Inspections and investigations 
may include confirmation of proper placement of materials in containers, Edible Food Recovery 
activities, records, or any other requirement of this subchapter described herein.  Failure to 
provide or arrange for: (i) access to an entity’s premises; access to records for any Inspection or 
investigation is a violation of this subchapter and may result in penalties described. 

(e) Any records obtained by the Town, or its Designee during its Inspections and other reviews 
shall be subject to the requirements and applicable disclosure exemptions of the Public Records 
Act as set forth in Government Code Section 6250 et seq. 

(f) Town or its Designee are authorized to conduct any Inspections or other investigations as 
reasonably necessary to further the goals of this subchapter, subject to applicable laws. 

(g) Town or its Designee shall receive written complaints from persons regarding an entity 
that may be potentially non-compliant with SB 1383 Regulations, including receipt of anonymous 
complaints. 

3.05.340 Enforcement. 

(a) Violation of any provision of this subchapter shall constitute grounds for issuance of a 
Notice of Violation and assessment of a fine by a Town Enforcement Official, Designee for Edible 
Food Recovery, or representative. Enforcement Actions under this subchapter are issuance of an 
administrative citation and assessment of a fine. The Town’s procedures on imposition of 
administrative fines under Section 2.01.160 et seq. shall govern the imposition, enforcement, 
collection, and review of administrative citations issued to enforce this subchapter and any rule 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 35 of 39 

or regulation adopted pursuant to this subchapter, except as otherwise indicated in this 
subchapter. 

(b) Responsible Entity for Enforcement.  

(1) Enforcement pursuant to this subchapter may be undertaken by the Town 
Enforcement Official, which may be the city manager or their designated entity or 
combination thereof.  

(2) Enforcement may also be undertaken by a Regional or County Agency Enforcement 
Official, Town’s franchised Hauler, or other Designee in consultation with Town 
Enforcement Official.  

(A) Town Enforcement Official, Regional or County Agency Enforcement 
Official will interpret subchapter; determine the applicability of waivers, if 
violation(s) have occurred; implement Enforcement Actions; and, 
determine if compliance standards are met.  

(B) Town Enforcement Official(s), Regional Agency Enforcement Official, or 
Designee for Edible Food Recovery may issue Notices of Violation(s). 

(c) Process for Enforcement.   

(1) Town Enforcement Official, the Town’s franchised Hauler or Regional or County 
Enforcement Officials and/or Town’s Designee for Edible Food Recovery will 
monitor compliance with the subchapter randomly and through Compliance 
Reviews, Route Reviews, investigation of complaints, and an Inspection program. 

(2) Town or its Designee for Edible Food Recovery may issue an official notification to 
notify regulated entities of its obligations under this subchapter. 

(3) The Town or its Designee for Edible Food Recovery will issue a Notice of Violation 
to any Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator found to have 
Edible Food in any waste container or to any Food Recovery Organization or Food 
Recovery Service found to have Edible Food recovered from a Tier One or Tier 
Two Edible Food Generator in a waste collection container which has not been 
documented by a notice of significant spoilage as required in this subchapter. Such 
notice will be provided by email communication immediately upon identification of 
the violation or within three (3) calendar days after determining that a violation 
has occurred. If the Town or its Designee for Edible Food Recovery observes Edible 
Food in a Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator, or Food 
Recovery Organization, or Food Recovery Service waste container on more than 
two (2) consecutive occasion(s), the Town or its Designee for Edible Food 
Recovery may assess an administrative citation and fine, pursuant to the Edible 
Food Recovery penalties provisions contained in Section 1.05.020 et. seq., on the 
Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator, Food Recovery 
Organization, or Food Recovery Service. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 36 of 39 

(4) Except for violations of generator contamination of container contents, Town shall 
issue a Notice of Violation requiring compliance within 60 days of issuance of the 
notice. 

(5) Absent compliance by the respondent within the deadline set forth in the Notice 
of Violation, Town shall commence an action to impose penalties, via an 
administrative citation and fine, pursuant to Sections 1.05.020 and 2.01.160 et 
seq.   

For the purposes of Edible Food Recovery, the Designee for Edible Food Recovery 
shall commence an action to impose penalties, via an administrative citation and 
fine, pursuant to the Edible Food Recovery penalties provision contained in this 
subchapter.  

Notices shall be sent to “owner” at the official address of the owner maintained by 
the tax collector for the Town or if no such address is available, to the owner at 
the address of the dwelling or Commercial property or to the party responsible for 
paying for the collection services, depending upon available information. 

(d) Violations and Penalty Amounts for Types of Violations. 

(1) Any person violating any of the provisions of this subchapter which result in 
noncompliance with the SB 1383 Regulations, shall be subject to the fines set forth 
in section 1.05.020 et seq. of the Colma Municipal Code. 

(2) For violations other than Section 3.05.340(d)(1):  

(A) Any person violating this subchapter shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, 
which shall be punishable as set forth in Section 1.05.010 et seq. 

(B) Keeping or maintaining any property or condition in violation of this 
subchapter is declared to be a public nuisance, which may be abated 
pursuant to the procedures set forth in the Property Maintenance and 
Nuisance Abatement subchapter of the Town of Colma (Colma Municipal 
Code, subchapter 2.01). 

(e) Compliance Deadline Extension Considerations. 

The Town may extend the compliance deadlines set forth in a Notice of Violation issued in 
accordance with this section if it finds that there are extenuating circumstances beyond the control 
of the respondent that make compliance within the deadlines impracticable, including the 
following: 

(1) Acts of God such as earthquakes, wildfires, flooding, and other emergencies or 
natural disasters. 

(2) Delays in obtaining discretionary permits or other government agency approvals; 
or, 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 37 of 39 

(3) Deficiencies in Organic Waste recycling infrastructure or Edible Food Recovery 
capacity and the Town is under a corrective action plan with CalRecycle pursuant 
to 14 CCR Section 18996.2 due to those deficiencies. 

(f) Appeals Process. 

Persons receiving an administrative citation containing a penalty for an uncorrected violation may 
request a hearing to appeal the citation pursuant to Section 2.01.230 et seq.  A hearing will be 
held only if it is requested within the time prescribed and consistent with Town’s procedures in 
the Town’s codes for appeals of administrative citations. Evidence may be presented at the 
hearing. The Town will appoint a hearing officer who shall conduct the hearing and issue a final 
written order. 

(g) Education Period for Non-Compliance 

Beginning January 1, 2022 and through December 31, 2023, Town and or their Designee will 
conduct Inspections, Remote Monitoring, Route Reviews or waste evaluations, and Compliance 
Reviews, depending upon the type of regulated entity, to determine compliance, and if Town or 
their Designee determines that Organic Waste Generator, Self-Hauler, hauler, Tier One 
Commercial Edible Food Generator, Food Recovery Organization, Food Recovery Service, or other 
entity is not in compliance, it shall provide educational materials to the entity describing its 
obligations under this subchapter and a notice that compliance is required by January 1, 2022, 
and that violations may be subject to administrative civil penalties starting on January 1, 2024. 

(h) Civil Penalties for Non-Compliance 

Beginning January 1, 2024, if the Town determines that an Organic Waste Generator, Self-Hauler, 
franchised Hauler, Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator, Food Recovery 
Organization, Food Recovery Service, or other entity is not in compliance with this subchapter, it 
shall document the noncompliance or violation, issue a Notice of Violation, and take Enforcement 
Action pursuant to this section, as needed. 

ARTICLE 8. SEVERABILITY  

If any section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase added by this 
ordinance, or any part thereof, is for any reason held to be unconstitutional or invalid or ineffective 
by any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity or effectiveness 
of the remaining portions of this ordinance or any part thereof.  The City Council hereby declares 
that it would have passed each section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause or 
phrase thereof irrespective of the fact that any one or more subsections, subdivisions, paragraphs, 
sentences, clauses or phrases are declared unconstitutional, invalid or ineffective. 

ARTICLE 9. CEQA COMPLIANCE 

The City Council finds that the changes made to the Codes are exempt from environmental review 
requirements pursuant to California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA") Section 15378(b)(5) 
because adoption of this Ordinance is not a project.  The Ordinance is an organizational or 
administrative activity of the government that will not result in direct or indirect physical changes 
in the environment. 



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 38 of 39 

ARTICLE 10. EFFECTIVE DATE  

This ordinance shall take effect on December 20, 2021. 

  



Ord __ Colma Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Code (Adopted ________) Page 39 of 39 

Certification of Adoption 

I certify that the foregoing Ordinance No. __ was duly introduced at a regular meeting of the City 
Council of the Town of Colma held on October 13, 2021, and adopted at a regular meeting of the 
City Council of the Town of Colma held on October 27, 2021, by the following vote: 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 

  Aye No Abstain Not Participating   

Diana Colvin, Mayor      

Helen Fisicaro      

Raquel Gonzalez   
 

  

Joanne F. del Rosario      

John Irish Goodwin      

Voting Tally      
 
 
Dated: ____________________  _____________________________________ 
      Diana Colvin, Mayor  
 
 
 
      Attest: ______________________________ 
       Caitlin Corley, City Clerk 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Staff Report re Resolution AB 361 Page 1 of 3 

STAFF REPORT

TO:  Mayor and Members of the City Council 

FROM:  Christopher J. Diaz, City Attorney 

VIA:  Brian Dossey, City Manager 

MEETING DATE: October 13, 2021 

SUBJECT: Resolution Making Findings and Determinations Under Assembly Bill 361 
for the Continuation of Virtual Meetings 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt the following: 

RESOLUTION MAKING FINDINGS AND DETERMINATIONS UNDER ASSEMBLY BILL 361 
FOR THE CONTINUATION OF VIRTUAL MEETINGS 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

On March 17, 2020, in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic, Governor Gavin Newsom issued 
Executive Order N-29-20 suspending certain provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act in order to 
allow for local legislative bodies to conduct their meetings completely telephonically or by other 
electronic means.  

The provisions in the Brown Act that were suspended by the Governor’s Executive Order are 
contained at Government Code Section 54953(b)(3) and require that when teleconferencing is 
used, outside of a statewide emergency, that the following occur: 

• An agenda is required to be posted at all locations, including any teleconference locations

• Each teleconference location must be identified on the actual agenda

• Each teleconference location shall be accessible to the public

• A quorum of the legislative body must be in the jurisdiction

With the Governor’s Executive Order, the four above requirements were suspended allowing 
councilmembers to not have to post an agenda at their teleconference location, not have to 
identify their location on the meeting agenda, not have to ensure public accessibility at the 
teleconference location, and the legislative body did not need a quorum in the jurisdiction.  As 

Item #10



Staff Report re Resolution AB 361  Page 2 of 3 

the City Council is well aware, this allowed City Council meetings to be conducted by Zoom with 
councilmembers, staff, and the public, all joining from remote virtual locations. 

The suspension of certain provisions of the Brown Act was further extended by the Governor on 
June 11, 2021 by the issuance of Executive Order N-08-21 which continued to allow for complete 
virtual meetings until September 30, 2021.   

With the expiration of the Governor’s Executive Order along with the uncertainty that surrounded 
the Governor’s potential recall last month, the State Legislature also took the remote meeting 
issue into its own hands through the adoption of Assembly Bill 361.  

ANALYSIS 

On September 16, 2021, the Governor signed AB 361, which allows legislative bodies to meet 
virtually provided there is a state of emergency declared by the Governor, and either: 

(1) state or local officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social 
distancing; or  
 

(2) the legislative body determines by majority vote that meeting in person would present 
imminent risks to the health and safety of attendees.   

The Governor by executive order signed on September 20, 2021, suspended the effective date of 
AB 361 to October 1, 2021.  As a result, if the City desires to have virtual meetings on or after 
October 1, 2021, it must do so consistent with the requirements of AB 361.   

AB 361 preserves many of the provisions of the earlier executive orders, including the suspension 
of the four teleconferencing requirements noted above, while also adding new requirements to 
the management of remote and teleconference public meetings in order to better achieve the 
levels of transparency that the Brown Act demands.  Specifically, AB 361 imposes two new rules 
on remote public meetings: 

1. Local governments and agencies hosting teleconference meetings in lieu of traditional in-
person public meetings must permit direct public comment during the teleconference, and 
must leave open the opportunity for public comment until the comment period for a given 
item is closed during the ordinary course of the meeting. The opportunity to make public 
comment must be of a sufficient duration so as to allow actual public participation. 

2. Any action by the governing body during a public teleconference meeting must occur while 
the agency is actively and successfully broadcasting to members of the public through a 
call-in option or an internet-based service option. If a technical disruption within the 
agency’s control prevents members of the public from either viewing the meeting of the 
public agency, or prevents members of the public from offering public comment, the 
agency must cease all action on the meeting agenda until the disruption ends and the 
broadcast is restored. Action taken during an agency-caused disruption may be challenged 
as a violation of the Brown Act. 

In order to continue to qualify for AB 361’s waiver of in-person meeting requirements, the City 
Council must, within thirty (30) days of its first meeting under AB 361, and every thirty (30) days 



Staff Report re Resolution AB 361 Page 3 of 3 

thereafter, make findings that (a) state or local officials continue to recommend measures to 
promote social distancing, or that (b) an in-person meeting would constitute an imminent risk to 
the safety of attendees.  

Lastly, it is important to note that AB 361 is optional. If the City Council wishes, it may meet in 
person.  In addition, hybrid meetings are permissible where Council attends in person and the 
public attends remotely via Zoom.   

FISCAL IMPACT 

The City Council’s adoption of the resolution to continue with virtual meetings will maintain the 
status quo and no financial impact is anticipated by the adoption of the resolution. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES 

The City Council’s adoption of the resolution is not a project under the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) Guideline 15378(b)(5) as it constitutes an organizational or administrative 
activity of the government that will not result in direct or indirect physical changes in the 
environment.  Further, virtual meetings are likely to reduce certain impacts associated with 
vehicular travel related to in-person public meetings. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Adopt the resolution making findings and determinations under Assembly Bill 361 for the 
continuation of virtual meetings. 

ATTACHMENTS 

A. Resolution 





Reso 2021-__ AB 361 Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION 2021-__ 
OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF COLMA 

RESOLUTION MAKING FINDINGS AND DETERMINATIONS  
UNDER AB 361 FOR THE CONTINUATION OF VIRTUAL MEETINGS 

The City Council of the Town of Colma does hereby resolve as follows: 

1. Background

(a) The Ralph M. Brown Act (Gov. Code § 54950 et seq.) generally requires local
agencies meeting via teleconference, including through other virtual or electronic means, to, 
among other things, provide public access at each location in which members of the legislative 
body are teleconferencing; and 

(b) The Legislature recently enacted Assembly Bill 361 (AB 361), which amended 
Government Code section 54953 to allow local agencies to meet fully virtually, without fully 
adhering to the rules otherwise applicable to teleconferencing, during a proclaimed state of 
emergency if state or local officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social 
distancing, or where the City Council finds that meeting in person would present imminent risks 
to the health and safety of attendees; and   

(c) The Governor issued a proclamation declaring a state of emergency on March 4, 
2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic, pursuant to section 8625 of the California Emergency 
Services Act, and this proclaimed state of emergency currently remains in effect. 

2. Findings

(a) The City Council of the Town of Colma has considered the circumstances of the
state of emergency; and 

(b) State or local officials continue to recommend measures to promote social 
distancing to prevent the spread of COVID-19, in particular, Cal-OSHA regulation 3205 
recommends physical distancing in the workplace generally and regulates a “close contact” 
defined as being within 6 feet of another under certain circumstances; and 

(c) In order to continue to impose social distancing while holding in-person meetings 
there is a high likelihood that members of the public would not all be able to be present in the 
meetings spaces, and there is a current health risk with meeting in person based on the current 
imminent health risks associated with COVID-19 in indoor locations; and  

(d) The continuation of virtual meetings will allow for full participation by members of 
the public until social distancing recommendations are no longer necessary and the health risks 
have been alleviated; and  

(e) The City Council of the Town of Colma desires that the City Council, and any other 
legislative bodies subject to the Brown Act, continue to hold virtual meetings pursuant to AB 361 
and Government Code section 54953(e).    

Attachment A



Reso 2021-__ AB 361 Page 2 of 2 

3. Order

(a) The City Council has considered the full record before it, which may include but
is not limited to such things as the staff report, testimony by staff and the public, and other 
materials and evidence submitted or provided to it. Furthermore, the recitals set forth above are 
found to be true and correct and are incorporated herein by reference. 

(b) The City Council, and any other legislative bodies of the Town of Colma who are 
required to hold open and public meetings under the Brown Act, shall continue to meet virtually 
in accordance with Government Code section 54953(e) and without compliance with section 
54953(b)(3) based upon the findings and determinations hereby made by the City Council. 

(c) This resolution shall become effective upon adoption. 

Certification of Adoption 

I certify that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-__ was adopted at a regular meeting of the City 
Council of the Town of Colma held on October 13, 2021 by the following vote: 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
Aye No Abstain Not Participating 

Diana Colvin, Mayor 
Helen Fisicaro 
Raquel Gonzalez 
Joanne F. del Rosario 
John Irish Goodwin 

Voting Tally 

Dated ______________________ ___________________________________ 
Diana Colvin, Mayor 

ATTEST: ____________________________ 
 Caitlin Corley, City Clerk 



Public Art program - Wall Mural Study Session Page 1 of 6 
October 13, 2021 

STAFF REPORT

TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council 
FROM: Farhad Mortazavi APA, City Planner 

Laurel Mathews, Associate Planner 
VIA: Brian Dossey, City Manager 
SUBJECT: Public Art in Colma 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the Council consider whether they would like to move forward with a 
Public Art program as described in the 2020-2022 Strategic Plan. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The purpose of this study session is to explore Colma’s options for adding a public mural to one 
of its retaining walls, and to outline for the Mayor and the City Council some details of how 
jurisdictions fund, make decisions about, and maintain Public Art programs.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

Public Art displays (i.e. murals) can range in cost from about $10,000 to $300,000, with most 
staying under $100,000. Cost depends on the mural size, the level and type of public 
engagement around the mural, the experience level of the artist, the complexity of the decision-
making process and the associated staff time, equipment and materials, and lifespan (how long 
the mural is maintained before it is taken down or painted over). The highest costs are likely to 
be associated with: 

- Staff or consultant time to set up the program, policies, committee, and funding 
ordinances 

- Staff or consultant time to create the mural workplan, vision, and call for artists 

- Staff or consultant time to review submissions, conduct interviews, and select the artist 

- Artist fee for the design and installation of the mural 

Costs associated with a Wall Mural are likely to be highest in the first 1-3 years of the project 
(planning and implementation), but will also require a much smaller amount of yearly funding 
for on-going maintenance and eventual removal of the mural. 

Item #11



Public Art program - Wall Mural Study Session    Page 2 of 6 
October 13, 2021 
 

Other types of public art can be installed for much less cost than murals. For example, painted 
utility boxes have an artist fee of $200-$500 each. 

BACKGROUND  

The Town of Colma Strategic Plan for 2020-2022 includes an objective of developing a public 
art and wayfaring programing, in the interest of building upon our community identity and 
maintaining quality of life. In addition, the Town recently embarked on a project to repair the F 
Street Retaining wall and install additional drainage to prevent future damage. Once this wall 
has been repaired, it might be a candidate for a piece of public art.  

Before pursuing the idea for a mural on the F Street retaining wall, the City Planning 
Department, in coordination with the City Manager, decided to widen their lens and explore 
opportunities to add a mural anywhere in the Town of Colma.  

This staff report summarizes the Planning Department’s survey of blank surfaces in Colma and 
research about the process and considerations for what it takes to commission a public mural. 
It also builds on a previous effort to implement a wall mural in Colma. The purpose of this staff 
report is not to make a recommendation, but instead to present available options to support 
Council in their decision as to whether a mural should be commissioned in Colma. This study 
session will be presented to Council at the meeting on October 13, 2021. 

 
ANALYSIS  

Potential public mural locations in Colma 

The Planning Department, in coordination with the City Manager, identified four retaining walls 
where a mural could be located: 

1. F Street at El Camino Real (Owned by Town of Colma) 

2. Junipero Serra Boulevard north of Colma Blvd (Owned by Caltrans) 

3. D Street at its transition to F Street (Owned by Town of Colma, very close to the border 
with Unincorporated San Mateo County) 

4. Junipero Serra Blvd North of Hickey Blvd (Appears to be owned by Town of Colma, 
further analysis is required if this location is chosen) 

5. BART overpass at El Camino Real and F Street (Owned by BART) 



Public Art program - Wall Mural Study Session Page 3 of 6 
October 13, 2021 

Figure 1: Map of potential locations for a wall mural in Colma. Numbers on the map correspond 
to the numbered list above. 

Content and Impact 

Murals can: 

• Tell a story about history: Many towns use murals as an opportunity to bring history
to life by telling a story about their history. This can be a depiction of a notable event, a
story of a town’s evolution over time, or a depiction of something that has stayed
consistent over time, like a persevering tradition, building, or industry.

• Honor a person or organization: Murals often honor individual people, for historic or
sometimes recent accomplishments and contributions. Many small towns include murals
depicting local leaders, notable activists, honorable residents, or famous people buried in
a local cemetery.

• Express an idea or value: Many murals have a goal of invoking a particular feeling,
like peace, joy, or unity. They can also promote more concrete ideas, like the
importance of education or the welcoming of new immigrants to the community.

• Communicate the context of a place: In addition to providing historic context,
murals can also communicate the natural, economic, political, architectural, or social



Public Art program - Wall Mural Study Session    Page 4 of 6 
October 13, 2021 
 

context of a place. Many murals depict the dominant industry that has supported their 
town’s development, or native animals and plants. 

• Beautify a public place: Murals can serve as a visually striking statement piece for a 
landscape. They can enliven a streetscape while highlighting what is already beautiful 
about the space. Public art can make a commercial center or business district 
memorable and attractive to customers. 

The above is an incomplete list of what a mural can accomplish. Many murals accomplish 
multiple of the above goals, and some accomplish a different set of goals entirely.  

Decision-making 

Decisions about public murals are typically made by a multi-stakeholder committee or 
commission. The most typical structure is to convene one selection committee with the power 
to make final decisions, and one advisory committee to do research, collaborate with the artist, 
and make recommendations to the selection committee. The artist is also an important part of 
the decision-making team. For a small art project that is not politically contentious, an advisory 
committee may not be necessary. 

The Selection Committee is typically made of 3-5 people, representing a range of affected 
stakeholders. These people can be members of a local historical commission or local museum, 
local arts organizations, business owners (and developers if the art is on the site of a new 
development), residents, city staff (usually public works or planning), and/or one or two city 
members. 

The Selection Committee and Advisory Committee should make some key decisions up front: 

• Project timeline and meeting schedule 

• Key goals and guidelines 

• Limitations and constraints 

• Roles, responsibilities, and how to resolve conflicts 

Public input can be an important part of commissioning and installing a public mural, especially 
if it is in a very visible location or if the goal of the mural is to engage the community. The 
public should be brought into the vision-making and goal-setting process before the call for 
artists is drafted. In some cases, the public is also given an opportunity to view and comment 
on the first draft of the mural design. However, the artist and the selection committee should 
set expectations with the public about what can and can’t be changed late in the process once a 
preliminary design has already been completed. Other ways to engage the public about a mural 
include building a plaque on site describing the project, building seating onsite to support 
viewing of the mural, posting information about the mural project on the town website, and 
inviting the public to the mural’s unveiling ceremony. 

Finally, the decision-making process varies based on local arts ordinances and who owns the 
site. In a piece of public art on the site of a new development, the developer will have 



Public Art program - Wall Mural Study Session Page 5 of 6 
October 13, 2021 

significant say in the decision-making process. If the City Council decides to commission a mural 
on the Caltrans or BART wall, the agency with ownership will need to approve the project up 
front and they will have final approval or veto power over the mural design. The agency who 
owns the wall will also need to coordinate with the Town on who will conduct routine 
maintenance on the mural and what permissions may be required to do so. 

Financing 

The most common framework for funding public art is through a “percent for the arts” 
ordinance. These ordinances devote 0.5 – 2% of a funding bucket to public art. They take 
many different forms, including: 

- City discretionary funding/General Fund contribution/surplus: Some 
communities vote to contribute a small percentage of the General Fund (or a smaller 
bucket of the General Fund) toward public art. This can take the form of a one-time 
contribution or a yearly contribution. On top of the general fund contribution to ensure 
some consistent program funding over time, some cities add an additional surplus 
provision, which stipulates that some percentage of a budget surplus will fund public art. 

- Developer fee: Often, communities create a development impact fee of 0.5-2% of the 
construction cost of a new development to support public art. If the city doesn’t want to 
administer or manage the public art project, they can instead give the developer to add 
their own piece of on-site public art equivalent to the same percentage of the project 
cost. If a jurisdiction is uncomfortable with the fee model, they can offer incentives to 
developers, like more density or more stories, in exchange for the developer building 
public art or paying a public art fee. Finally, in jurisdictions where developers frequently 
have to complete environmental impact assessments and pay environmental mitigation 
fees, the jurisdiction can devote a percentage of each environmental mitigation fee 
toward public art.  

- Capital Improvement Project: In a jurisdiction that frequently funds capital 
improvement projects, there are examples of devoting a percentage of each capital 
improvement project budget toward a public art fund. Alternatively, a community may 
include the mural in their Capital Improvement Plan to be funded directly as a one-time 
Capital Improvement Project. 

A mural project budget should consider and include: staff time, cost to prepare the site, artist 
fee, general liability insurance for the work site, sidewalk closures/cordoning, on-site signage, 
unveiling ceremony, routine maintenance and inspections for the mural’s lifespan, and mural 
removal. Budgeting for a ten percent contingency is a best practice. 

Maintenance 

Murals often require routine maintenance for the duration of their lifetimes, including 
retouching, repair, and graffiti removal. A maintenance plan should be developed with the artist 
up front. In some cases, the artist can be contractually required to draft a materials declaration 
document, which lists all materials used and makes maintenance recommendations. This 
materials declaration can be kept on file with the commissioning agency to support future 
maintenance efforts. 



Public Art program - Wall Mural Study Session Page 6 of 6 
October 13, 2021 

A mural that is routinely maintained can be expected to last 10-15 years. After 10-15 years, the 
community has two options: They can either do a major restoration or remove the mural. If the 
city would prefer a shorter-term mural, they are free to set a shorter lifespan. In some cases, a 
shorter life span can make a mural more likely to resonate with the public’s political and cultural 
views. 

Non-mural public art 

In addition to murals, there are many other opportunities to add public art in Colma, in line with 
the strategic plan. Painted utility boxes, sculptures in parks, plazas, and medians, other outdoor 
installations, and lighting installations can all be commissioned through a similar process to the 
one described above for murals. Later staff reports can dive into these options in more detail, if 
the council is interested.  

Council Adopted Values 

Public Art could support the Council-adopted value of Community, since it can build upon our 
community identity and maintain quality of life. 

The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 

In most cases, a mural consists of exterior alterations to an existing public facility with 
negligible or no expansion of use. Therefore, a mural project is likely to be exempt from the 
provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act (VEQA), pursuant to Article 19, 15301(a) 
of California CEQA Guidelines. 

CONCLUSION 

City Council is encouraged to participate in the presentation by providing comments and 
direction to staff and the consultant team on their interest in a public mural in the Town of 
Colma.  Staff encourages feedback and discussion on: 

• Is the City Council interested in using existing retaining walls for murals?

• If yes, what funding ideas appeal to members of City Council?

• What are the next steps with respect to forming a selection committee and/or public art
advisory committee?



Minutes – Regular Meeting 09.22.21 Page 1 of 4 

UPDATED 
MINUTES 

REGULAR MEETING 
City Council of the Town of Colma 

Meeting Held Remotely via Zoom.us 
Wednesday, September 22, 2021 

Closed Session - 6:00 PM 
Regular Session - 7:00 PM 

CLOSED SESSION 

1. In Closed Session Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.6 – Conference
with Labor Negotiators.

Agency Negotiator: Austris Rungis, IEDA 
Employee Organizations: Colma Peace Officers Association and Colma 

Communications/Records Association 
Unrepresented Employees: All 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND ROLL CALL 

Mayor Diana Colvin called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
Council Present – Mayor Diana Colvin, Vice Mayor Helen Fisicaro, Council Members Raquel 
Gonzalez, Council Member Joanne F. del Rosario, and John Irish Goodwin were all present. 
Council Member Joanne F. del Rosario was absent. 
Staff Present – City Manager Brian Dossey, City Attorney Christopher Diaz, Administrative 
Services Director Pak Lin, Chief of Police John Munsey, Director of Public Works Brad 
Donohue, City Planner Farhad Mortazavi, Associate Planner Laurel Mathews, and City Clerk 
Caitlin Corley were in attendance.  
The Mayor announced, “Welcome to another of our completely remote Council Meeting. A 
few notes about tonight’s meeting: We are accepting public comments through email or the 
chat function—you can email our City Clerk at ccorley@colma.ca.gov or use the chat 
function to let her know which item you would like to speak on. Please keep your comments 
to 3 minutes or less. Thank you.” 

REPORT FROM CLOSED SESSION 

Mayor Colvin announced, “No action was taken at tonight’s closed session.” 

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 

Mayor Colvin asked if there were any changes to the agenda; none were requested. She 
asked for a motion to adopt the agenda. 

Action: Council Member Gonzalez moved to adopt the agenda; the motion was seconded 
by Council Member del Rosario and carried by the following vote: 

ITEM #2 - UPDATED 10.12.21



Minutes – Regular Meeting 09.22.21   Page 2 of 4 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
 Aye No Abstain Not Participating  
Diana Colvin, Mayor      
Helen Fisicaro      
Raquel Gonzalez      
Joanne F. del Rosario      
John Irish Goodwin      
 5 0    

PRESENTATION 
 Cypress Lawn Arboretum Director Josh Gevertz gave a presentation on Arboretum Day. 
 Director of Public Works and Planning Brad Donohue introduced new City Planner Farhad 

Mortazavi. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
Mayor Colvin opened the public comment period at 7:19 p.m. and seeing no one request to 
speak, she closed the public comment period. 

CONSENT CALENDAR 

2. Motion to Accept the Minutes from the September 8, 2021 Regular Meeting. 
3. Motion to Adopt a Resolution Adjusting Salary for Part-Time Staff to Meet the Minimum 

Wage Requirement Set Forth by the State of California and Amending the Salary Schedule. 
Action: Council Member Goodwin moved to approve the consent calendar items #2 and 3; 
the motion was seconded by Council Member del Rosario and carried by the following vote:  

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
 Aye No Abstain Not Participating  
Diana Colvin, Mayor      
Helen Fisicaro      
Raquel Gonzalez      
Joanne F. del Rosario      
John Irish Goodwin      
 5 0    

NEW BUSINESS 
4. GRAND JURY RESPONSE – RACIAL IDENTITY AND PROFILING ACT 

Chief of Police John Munsey presented the staff report. Mayor Colvin opened the public 
comment period at 7:30 p.m. and seeing no one request to speak, she closed the public 
comment period. Council discussion followed. 
Action: Council Member Goodwin moved to approve the Town’s Response to the Grand 
Jury Report Dated July 27, 2021, Regarding “Building Better Trust Between the Community 
& Law Enforcement Via the Racial Identity and Profiling Act;” the motion was seconded by 



Minutes – Regular Meeting 09.22.21   Page 3 of 4 

Council Member del Rosario and carried by the following vote:  

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
 Aye No Abstain Not Participating  
Diana Colvin, Mayor      
Helen Fisicaro      
Raquel Gonzalez      
Joanne F. del Rosario      
John Irish Goodwin      
 5 0    

 
5. REPORT ON AB 361 AND EXECUTIVE ORDER REGARDING REMOTE MEETINGS 

City Attorney Christopher Diaz presented the staff report. Mayor Colvin opened the public 
comment period at 7:47 p.m. and seeing no one request to speak, the Mayor closed the 
public comment period. Council discussion followed.  
Action: Vice Mayor Fisicaro moved to Receive a Report on Assembly Bill 361 and the Status 
of the Governor’s Executive Order Regarding Remote Meetings, and Provide Input, if any; 
the motion was seconded by Council Member del Rosario and carried by the following vote:  

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
 Aye No Abstain Not Participating  
Diana Colvin, Mayor      
Helen Fisicaro      
Raquel Gonzalez      
Joanne F. del Rosario      
John Irish Goodwin      
 5 0    

COUNCIL CALENDARING 
The next Regular Meeting will be on Wednesday, October 13, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. 

REPORTS   

City Manager Brian Dossey gave an update on the following topics: 
 He will be attending the League of California Cities Conference on September 23 – 24, 

2021.  
 The C.A.P.E. program will be holding a Refresher Course for currently certified CERT 

members on Thursday, September 23, 2021.  
 There will be a new C.A.P.E. course series beginning on September 30, 2021. 
 The Annual Business Recognition event will be held on Thursday, October 7 at 11:30 

p.m. at the Colma Community Center. 

ADJOURNMENT  



Minutes – Regular Meeting 09.22.21   Page 4 of 4 

Mayor Colvin adjourned the meeting at 8:02 p.m.  

 
Respectfully submitted,  
 
 
 
Caitlin Corley 
City Clerk 


	10.13.21 Regular Meeting Agenda
	1. Closed Session - In Conference with Legal Counsel
	2. Minutes - Regular Meeting 09.22.21
	3. Report of Checks Paid - September 2021
	4. Quarterly Rec Review - July - September
	A. July - September 2021 Quarterly Review

	5. Grand Jury Report - Sea Level Rise
	A. Grand Jury Report - Sea Level Rise
	B. Grand Jury Response Letter - Sea Level Rise

	6. 2021 Highway Program Measures A and W Funding Application
	A. Resolution - Highway Program

	7. Reject All Bids on F Street Retaining Wall Repair Project
	8. CCGA Cities Initiative
	A. CCGA Comparative Analysis of Three Gaming Measures
	B. Cities Initiative Sample Resolution
	C. Colma Reso 2021-   Cities Initiative

	9. SB 1383 Ordinance - Mandatory Organic Waste Disposal Reduction
	A. Ordinance - SB 1383
	ARTICLE 1.  FINDINGS, PURPOSE AND AUTHORITY
	ARTICLE 3.  SUBCHAPTER 3.05, DIVISION 1 – GENERAL
	Division 1: General

	3.05.010 Findings; Purposes.
	(a) The City Council finds and determines that:
	(1) It is in the public interest to:
	(A) maximize waste reduction, Recycling and composting options;
	(B) reduce the amount of Solid Waste, Recyclables and Organic Waste disposed in landfills;
	(C) recycle paper, aluminum, metal containers, glass, corrugated cardboard, certain plastic containers, and other Recyclable Materials as may be determined from time to time by the City Council;
	(D) grant franchises and permits to persons and businesses engaged in the collection of Recyclable Materials therein; and
	(E) require comprehensive reporting of the collection of Recyclable Material by all haulers in the Town to assist in compliance with the CalRecycle Electronic Annual Report.

	(2) The Town’s Recycling program may be negatively impacted by unauthorized scavengers taking Recyclable Materials before those materials can be picked up by a Franchisee or Permittee.

	(b) State Recycling law, Assembly Bill 939, or the California Integrated Waste Management Act of 1989 (California Public Resources Code Section 40000, et seq., as amended, supplemented, superseded, and replaced from time to time), requires cities and ...
	(c) State Recycling law, AB 341 of 2011, places requirements on businesses and Multi-Family property owners that generate a specified threshold amount of Solid Waste to arrange for Recycling services and requires local jurisdictions to implement a Man...
	(d) State organics Recycling law, Assembly Bill 1826 of 2014, requires businesses and Multi-Family property owners that generate a specified threshold amount of Solid Waste, Recycling, and Organic Waste per week to arrange for Recycling services for t...
	(e) SB 1383, the Short-lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Act of 2016, requires local jurisdictions to adopt and enforce an ordinance or enforceable mechanism to implement relevant provisions of SB 1383 Regulations. The SB 1383 Regulations are intended...
	(f) The purpose of this subchapter is to comply with the Recycling and reporting requirements of AB 939 (hereafter, the “Waste Management Act”), as amended from time to time, including amendments made by SB 1016, AB 341, AB 1826, SB 1383, and their im...
	(1) increase Recycling participation rates;
	(2) improve the recovery rates of Recyclable Materials;
	(3) improve reporting capabilities to CalRecycle;
	(4) comply with state Recycling laws;
	(5) reduce waste to landfill; and
	(6) maintain a cost effective, garbage, Recycling, and organic waste collection program for the residents, businesses and institutions of the Town.


	3.05.020 Definitions.
	(a) “Blue Container” has the same meaning as in 14 CCR Section 18982.2(a)(5) and shall be used for the purpose of storage and collection of Source Separated Recyclable Materials.
	(b) “CalRecycle” means the California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery, which is the Department designated with responsibility for developing, implementing, and enforcing SB 1383 Regulations.
	(c) “California Code of Regulations” or “CCR” means the State of California Code of Regulations. CCR references in this subchapter are preceded with a number that refers to the relevant Title of the CCR (e.g., “14 CCR” refers to Title 14 of CCR).
	(d) “Charitable Entity” means any not-for-profit organization or entity maintained for community service, education or the public good, including service clubs, scouting organizations, religious and educational organizations and recognized charities.
	(e) “Collect” or “Collection” means the operation of gathering together and transporting Solid Waste to a point of disposal and/or Recycling or composting.
	(f) “Commercial Business” or “Commercial” means a firm, partnership, proprietorship, joint-stock company, corporation, or association, whether for-profit or nonprofit, strip mall, industrial facility, or a multifamily residential dwelling, or as other...
	(g) “Commercial Edible Food Generator” includes a Tier One or a Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator as defined in this subchapter.
	(h) “Community Composting” means any activity that composts green material, agricultural material, food material, and vegetative food material, alone or in combination, and the total amount of feedstock and Compost on-site at any one time does not exc...
	(i) “Compost” means the product resulting from the controlled biological decomposition of organic Solid Wastes that are Source Separated from the municipal Solid Waste stream, or which are separated at a centralized facility.
	(j) “Compliance Review” means a review of records by the Town to determine compliance with this subchapter.
	(k) “Construction and Demolition Debris” or “C&D” means materials resulting from construction, renovation, remodeling, repair or demolition operations and which has been segregated for Recycling, reuse or remanufacture. Materials include but are not l...
	(l) “Container” means a cart, bin, roll-off, compactor or similar receptacle used to temporarily store Solid Waste, Recyclable Materials, or Organic Waste for collection service.
	(m) “Container Contamination” or “Contaminated Container” means a container, regardless of color, that contains Prohibited Container Contaminants, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(55).
	(n) “Designee” means an entity that the Town contracts with or otherwise arranges to carry out any of the Town’s responsibilities of this subchapter as authorized in 14 CCR Section 18981.2. A Designee may be a government entity, a franchised hauler, a...
	(o) “Designee for Edible Food Recovery” means the County of San Mateo’s Office of Sustainability with which the Town has a Memorandum of Understanding for the purposes of Edible Food Recovery including, but not limited to, inspection, investigation, a...
	(p) “Donate” or “donation” means the act of a generator of Recyclable Materials or Organic Waste giving or conveying items or materials to another person or company, without paying the recipient or providing any other form of consideration for taking ...
	(q) “E-waste” means electronic equipment nearing the end of its useful life and determined by the Department of Toxic Substances Control to be covered by the Electronic Waste Recycling Act of 2003. Computers, televisions, VCRs, stereos, copiers, and f...
	(r) “Edible Food” means food intended for and fit for human consumption and collected or received from a Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator.
	(s) “Edible Food Recovery” means actions to collect, receive, and/or re-distribute Edible Food for human consumption from Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators that otherwise would be disposed of.
	(t) “Enforcement Action” means an action of the Town to address non-compliance with this subchapter including, but not limited to, issuing administrative citations, fines, penalties, or using other remedies.
	(u) “Excluded Waste” means hazardous substance, hazardous waste, infectious waste, designated waste, volatile, corrosive, medical waste, infectious, regulated radioactive waste, and toxic substances or material that facility operator(s), which receive...
	(v) “Food Distributor” means a company that distributes food to entities including, but not limited to, Supermarkets and Grocery Stores.
	(w) “Food Facility” has the same meaning as in Section 113789 of the Health and Safety Code.
	(x) “Food Recovery Organization” means an entity that engages in the collection or receipt of Edible Food from Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators and distributes that Edible Food either directly or through other entities, including...
	(1) A food bank as defined in Section 113783 of the Health and Safety Code.
	(2) A nonprofit charitable organization as defined in Section 113841 of the Health and Safety code; and,
	(3) A nonprofit charitable temporary food facility as defined in Section 113842 of the Health and Safety Code.

	(y) “Food Recovery Service” means a person or entity that collects and transports Edible Food from a Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator to a Food Recovery Organization or other entities for Edible Food Recovery.
	(z) “Food Service Provider” means an entity primarily engaged in providing food services to institutional, governmental, commercial, or industrial locations of others based on contractual arrangements with these types of organizations.
	(aa) “Food Scraps” means all food such as, but not limited to, fruits, vegetables, meat, poultry, seafood, shellfish, bones, rice, beans, pasta, bread, cheese, and eggshells and other food materials and may be modified from time to time per Hauler’s o...
	(bb) “Food-Soiled Paper” is compostable paper material that has come in contact with food or liquid, such as, but not limited to, compostable paper plates, paper coffee cups, napkins, pizza boxes, and milk cartons and materials and may be modified fro...
	(cc) “Food Waste” means all Food Scraps, Food-Soiled Paper, and includes Biodegradeable Products Institute (BPI) certified container products and other materials which may be included in the organics collection.
	(dd) “Franchise Agreement” means an agreement between the Town and an individual, association or firm, organization or other business entity for the collection of Solid Waste, including Recyclables and Organic Waste.
	(ee) “Franchisee” means an individual, association, firm, organization or other business entity who has entered into a franchise agreement with the Town, whether or not said entity is operated for profit, for the collection of Solid Waste, including R...
	(ff) “Gray Container” has the same meaning as in 14 CCR Section 18982.2(a)(28) and shall be used for the purpose of storage and collection of Gray Container Waste.
	(gg) “Gray Container Waste” means Solid Waste that is collected in a Gray Container that is part of a three-container Organic Waste collection service that prohibits the placement of Organic Waste in the Gray Container as specified in 14 CCR Sections ...
	(hh) “Green Container” has the same meaning as in 14 CCR Section 18982.2(a)(29) and shall be used for the purpose of storage and collection of Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste.
	(ii) “Greenhouse gas” or “GHG” means carbon dioxide (CO2), methane (CH4), nitrous oxide (N2O), sulfur hexafluoride (SF6), hydrofluorocarbons (HFC), perfluorocarbons (PFC), and other fluorinated greenhouse gases.
	(jj) “Grocery Store” means a store primarily engaged in the retail sale of canned food; dry goods; fresh fruits and vegetables; fresh meats, fish, and poultry; and any area that is not separately owned within the store where the food is prepared and s...
	(kk) “Hauler” means a person or entity, or the agents or employees thereof, whom the Town shall have duly licensed, franchised, granted a permit to, or contracted with, to collect, carry, transport, compost, and/or recycle Solid Waste, Recyclables, an...
	(ll) “Hauler Route” means the designated itinerary or sequence of stops for each segment of the Town’s collection service area, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a) (31.5).
	(mm) “Hazardous Waste” means any material, which by reason of its quality, concentration, composition or physical, chemical or infectious characteristics may cause or significantly contribute to an increase in mortality or an increase in serious illne...
	(1) Materials regulated by section 40141 of the California Public Resources Code, sections 25110.02, 25115, 25117, 25281 or 25316 of the California Health and Safety Code (the California Hazardous Waste Control Act), and section 13050 of the Californi...
	(2) Low-level radioactive waste regulated under Chapter 7.6 (commencing with § 28500) of Division 20 of the Health and Safety Code or under Chapter 6.1 (commencing with § 25015) of Division 20 of the Health and Safety Code);
	(3) Materials regulated under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. Section 6901 et seq., as amended (including, but not limited to, amendments thereto made by the Solid Waste Disposal Act Amendments of 1980), and related federal, Stat...
	(4) Materials regulated under the Toxic Substance Control Act, 15 U.S.C. Section 2601 et seq., as amended, and related federal State of California, and local laws and regulations, including the California Toxic Substances Account Act, California Healt...
	(5) Materials regulated under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. 9601, et seq., as amended, and regulations promulgated thereunder; or materials regulated under any future amendments to or re-codificati...

	(nn) “High Diversion Organic Waste Processing Facility” means a facility that is in compliance with the reporting requirements of 14 CCR Section 18815.5(d) and meets or exceeds an annual average Mixed Waste organic content Recovery rate of 50 percent ...
	(oo) “Household Hazardous Waste” means latex paint, batteries, oil filters, fluorescent lamps and tubes including compact fluorescent light bulbs (CFLs), motor oil and other petroleum-based products, cleaning supplies, fire extinguishers, mercury prod...
	(pp) “Inspection” means a site visit where the Town, the franchised hauler or other Designee reviews records, containers, and an entity’s collection, handling, Recycling, or landfill disposal of Organic Waste or Edible Food handling to determine if th...
	(qq) “Large Event“ means an event, including, but not limited to, a sporting event or a flea market, that charges an admission price, or is operated by a local agency, and serves an average of more than 2,000 individuals per day of operation of the ev...
	(rr) “Large Venue” means a permanent venue facility that annually seats or serves an average of more than 2,000 individuals within the grounds of the facility per day of operation of the venue facility. For purposes of this subchapter and implementati...
	(ss) “Local Education Agency” means a school district, charter school, or county office of education that is not subject to the control of city or county regulations related to Solid Waste, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(40).
	(tt) “Multi-Family Residential Dwelling” or “Multi-Family” means of, from, or pertaining to residential premises with five (5) or more dwelling units. Multi-Family premises do not include hotels, motels, or other transient occupancy facilities, which ...
	(uu) “Non-Organic Recyclables” means non-putrescible and non-hazardous recyclable wastes including but not limited to bottles, cans, metals, plastics, and glass, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(43).
	(vv) “Notice of Violation” or “NOV” means a notice that a violation has occurred that includes a compliance date to avoid an action to seek penalties, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(45) or further explained in 14 CCR Section 18995.4.
	(ww) “Nuisance” means anything which is injurious to human health or is indecent or offensive to the senses and interferes with the comfortable enjoyment of life or property, and affects at the same time an entire community or neighborhood or any cons...
	(xx) “Organic Waste” means Solid Waste containing material originated from living organisms and their metabolic waste products, including but not limited to food, green material, landscape and pruning waste, organic textiles and carpets, lumber, wood,...
	(yy) “Organic Waste Generator” means a person or entity that is responsible for the initial creation of Organic Waste, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(48).
	(zz) “Paper Products” include, but are not limited to, paper janitorial supplies, cartons, wrapping, packaging, file folders, hanging files, corrugated boxes, tissue, and toweling, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(51). Printing, writ...
	(aaa) “Permittee” means an individual, association, firm, organization or other business entity person which has a valid permit from the Town to collect Recyclables within the Town.
	(bbb) “Prohibited Container Contaminants” means the following:
	(1) discarded materials placed in the Blue Container that are not identified as acceptable Source Separated Recyclable Materials for the Town’s Blue Container.
	(2) discarded materials placed in the Green Container that are not identified as acceptable Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste for the Town’s Green Container.
	(3) discarded materials placed in the Gray Container that are acceptable Source Separated Recyclable Materials and/or Source Separated Green Container Organic Wastes to be placed in Town’s Green Container and/or Blue Container; and,
	(4) Excluded Waste placed in any container.

	(ccc) “Recovered Organic Waste Products” means products made from California, landfill-diverted recovered Organic Waste processed in a permitted or otherwise authorized facility, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(60).
	(ddd) “Recovery” means any activity or process described in 14 CCR Section 18983.1(b), or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(49).
	(eee) “Recyclable Materials” or “Recyclables” means Solid Waste which may be reused or processed into a form suitable for reuse through reprocessing or remanufacture consistent with the requirements of AB 939, as amended, including, without limitation...
	(fff) “Recycle” or “Recycling” means the process of collecting, sorting, cleansing, treating, and/or reconstituting materials that would otherwise become Solid Wastes, and returning them to the economic mainstream in the form of raw material for new, ...
	(ggg) “Recycled-Content Paper” means Paper Products and Printing and Writing Paper that consists of at least 30 percent, by fiber weight, postconsumer fiber, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(61).
	(hhh) “Refuse” means all putrescible and non-putrescible Solid Wastes (except body wastes), whether combustible or non-combustible, including garbage, rubbish, ashes, street cleanings, dead animals, and solid industrial wastes.
	(iii) “Remote Monitoring” means the use of the internet of things (IoT) and/or wireless electronic devices to see contents of Containers for purposes of identifying the quantity of materials in containers (level of fill) and/or presence of Prohibited ...
	(jjj) “Renewable Gas” means gas derived from Organic Waste that has been diverted from a California landfill and processed at an in-vessel digestion facility that is permitted or otherwise authorized by 14 CCR to recycle Organic Waste, or as otherwise...
	(kkk) “Responsible Person” means an individual, association, firm, organization or other business entity, whether or not said entity is operated for profit, determined by the Town to be qualified and capable of performing each and every obligation imp...
	(lll) “Restaurant” means an establishment primarily engaged in the retail sale of food and drinks for on-premises or immediate consumption, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(64).
	(mmm) “Roll-off containers” or “pull-on containers” means any large detachable containers, eight cubic yards or more in capacity, employed in a system of materials handling in which the loaded container is pulled onto the service vehicle mechanically ...
	(nnn) “Route Review” means a visual Inspection of containers along a Hauler Route for the purpose of determining Container Contamination and may include mechanical Inspection methods such as the use of cameras, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Sectio...
	(ooo) “SB 1383” means Senate Bill 1383 (Chapter 395, Statutes of 2016), establishing methane emissions reduction targets in a Statewide effort to reduce emissions of short-lived climate pollutants as amended, supplemented, superseded, and replaced fro...
	(ppp) “SB 1383 Regulations” means the regulations developed by CalRecycle and contained within 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12 and the amended portions of 14 CCR and 27 CCR.
	(qqq) “Scavenge” means the act of removing Solid Waste, Recyclables, and/or Organic Waste from a can, bin, or other container into which the Solid Waste, Recyclables, and/or Organic Waste have been placed for collection by a Hauler. Removal by a Haule...
	(rrr) “Self-Hauler” means a person, who hauls Solid Waste, Organic Waste, or Recyclable Materials he or she has generated to another person. Self-Hauler also includes a person who back-hauls waste, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(66...
	(sss) “Single-Family” means of, from, or pertaining to any residential premises with fewer than five (5) units.
	(ttt) “Solid Waste” means all putrescible and non-putrescible solid, semisolid, and liquid wastes, and all Recyclables and Organic Waste, including but not limited to garbage, trash, refuse, paper, rubbish, ashes, industrial wastes, abandoned vehicles...
	(1) Hazardous waste, as defined in Public Resources Code, section 40141;
	(2) Special waste, as defined in this subchapter;
	(3) Radioactive waste regulated pursuant to the Radiation Control Law (Chapter 8 (commencing with Section 114960) of Part 9 of Division 104 of the Health and Safety Code); and
	(4) Medical waste regulated pursuant to the Medical Waste Management Act (Part 14 (commencing with Section 117600) of Division 104 of the Health and Safety Code). Untreated medical waste shall not be disposed of in a Solid Waste landfill, as defined i...

	(uuu) “Source Separated” means materials, including commingled recyclable materials, that have been separated or kept separate from the Solid Waste stream, at the point of generation, for the purpose of additional sorting or processing those materials...
	(vvv) “Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste” means Source Separated Organic Waste that can be placed in a Green Container that is specifically intended for the separate collection of Organic Waste.
	(www) “Source Separated Recyclable Materials” means Source Separated Non-Organic Recyclables.
	(xxx) “Special Waste” means any waste matter which is a Hazardous Waste or which requires special handling or processing, including any of the following: flammable waste; waste transported in a bulk tanker; liquid waste; sewage sludge; waste from a se...
	(yyy) “State” means the State of California.
	(zzz) “Supermarket” means a full-line, self-service retail store with gross annual sales of two million dollars ($2,000,000), or more, and which sells a line of dry grocery, canned goods, or nonfood items and some perishable items, or as otherwise def...
	(aaaa) “Tier One Commercial Edible Food Generator” means a Commercial Edible Food Generator that is one of the following: Supermarket, Grocery Store with a total facility size equal to or greater than 10,000 square feet, Food Service Provider, Food Di...
	(bbbb) “Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator”  means a Commercial Edible Food Generator that is one of the following: Restaurant with 250 or more seats, or a total facility size equal to or greater than 5,000 square feet, Hotel with an on-site Fo...
	(cccc) “Town” means the Town of Colma, California.
	(dddd) “Town Enforcement Official” means the city manager or their Designee who is responsible for enforcing the subchapter, including a Regional or County Agency Enforcement Official.
	(eeee) “Universal waste” means materials that are hazardous wastes and are generated by several sectors of society, rather than a single source or industry. Universal wastes are not to be disposed of in the trash but are to be properly recycled and or...
	(ffff) “Vector” means any insect or other arthropod, rodent or other animal capable of transmitting the causative agents of human disease, or disrupting the normal enjoyment of life by adversely affecting the public health and well-being.
	(gggg) “Wholesale Food Vendor” means a business or establishment engaged in the merchant wholesale distribution of food, where food (including fruits and vegetables) is received, shipped, stored, prepared for distribution to a retailer, warehouse, dis...

	3.05.030 Minimum Standards.
	3.05.040 No Hauling without a Franchise or Permit.
	3.05.050 Illegal Dumping.
	3.05.060 Duty to Properly Store, Dispose of Solid Waste, and Sort Recyclables, and Organic Waste.
	(a) It is unlawful to keep, deposit, bury or dispose of any Solid Waste (including Recyclables and Organic Waste), Special Waste and Hazardous Waste materials in or upon any public property, street, alley, sidewalk, gutter, park or upon the banks of a...
	(b) It is unlawful to keep, deposit, bury or dispose of any Solid Waste (including Recyclables and Organic Waste), Special Waste and Hazardous Waste materials in or upon any private property without the permission of the owner or occupant of that prop...
	(c) It is unlawful to store Solid Waste in such a manner so as to promote the propagation, harborage, attraction of vectors, or the creation of a nuisance, or dispose of refuse except as provided in this subchapter.
	(d) Each person owning, operating, occupying or in charge of any vacant or occupied premises, business establishment, industry or other property in the Town shall be responsible for the safe and sanitary storage and disposal of Solid Waste (including ...

	3.05.070 Mandatory Subscription to Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste Collection Services.
	(a) Each person owning, operating, occupying or in charge of any occupied premises, business establishment, industry or other property in the Town shall subscribe to Solid Waste, Recyclables, an Organic Waste collection service provided by an Franchis...
	(b) Single-Family Organic Waste Generators shall subscribe to the Town’s Organic Waste collection services for all Organic Waste. Town or its Designee shall have the right to review the number and size of a generator’s containers to evaluate adequacy ...
	(c) Generators that are Commercial Businesses, including Multi-Family Residential Dwellings, shall subscribe to Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste collection service provided by an Franchisee or Permittee in compliance with the provisions of ...
	(d) It is unlawful to arrange for Solid Waste, Recyclables, or Organic Waste collection services provided by any Franchisee or Permittee not holding a valid franchise or permit issued by the Town, whether such services are provided on an ongoing basis...

	3.05.080 Design Requirements.
	3.05.090 Maintenance and Use of Containers.
	(a) Preparation of Solid Waste. All Solid Waste, including Recyclables and Organic Waste, shall be drained of free liquid before being deposited for collection.
	(b) Unlawful Use.
	(1) It is unlawful to use Solid Waste, Recycling, or Organic Waste containers provided by a Franchisee or Permittee for any purpose other than to facilitate collection by such Franchisee or Permittee.
	(2) It is unlawful to use Solid Waste, Recycling, or Organic Waste containers provided by the owner or occupant of property for any purpose other than to facilitate collection of Solid Waste by the owner or occupant of the property or by persons autho...

	(c) Maintaining Solid Waste, Recycling, or Organic Waste Containers.  It is the duty of each person subscribing to services for the collection and handling of Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste to maintain receptacles in a reasonably safe and...
	(d) Containers. All Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste containers for residents or businesses must be non-absorbent, water-tight, vector-resistant, durable, easily cleanable, and designed for safe handling. Containers should be of an adequate...
	(e) Separation of Solid Waste from Recyclables and Organics. Generators shall separate Solid Wastes from Recyclables and Organic Waste and are to be placed in separate containers. Solid Waste shall not be commingled with Recyclables or Organic Waste, ...
	(f) Points of Collection. Containers shall be placed for collection at ground level on the property, not within the right-of-way of a street or alley, and accessible to not more than forty feet from the side of the street or alley from which collectio...
	(g) Additional Requirements for Commercial Businesses. Commercial Businesses (including Multi-Family Residential Dwellings) shall:
	(1) Supply and allow access to adequate number, size, and location of Town’s Blue Container, Green Container, and Gray Container collection containers with sufficient labels that include language and or graphic images showing the materials accepted, a...
	(2) Provide containers for collection of Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste and Source Separated Recyclable Materials in all indoor and outdoor areas where disposal containers are provided for customers, for materials generated by that bus...
	(3) Pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18984.9(b), these Containers provided by the business shall have either:
	(A) A body or lid that is color compliant: Green for Source Separated Organic Waste including Food Waste; Blue for Source Separated Recyclable Materials, Gray for non-Organic Waste and non-Recyclable Waste. A Business is not required to replace functi...
	(B) Container labels that include language and or graphic images showing the materials accepted, and the materials that are prohibited in that Container and or Containers with imprinted text or graphic images that indicate the materials accepted and m...

	(4) Through education, training, Inspection, and/or other measures to the extent possible (excluding Multi-Family Residential Dwellings), prohibit employees from placing materials in a Container not designated for those materials per the Town’s Blue C...
	(5) Periodically inspect Blue Containers, Green Containers, and Gray Containers for contamination and inform employees if containers are contaminated and of the requirements to keep Contaminants out of those containers pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18984...
	(6) Annually provide information to employees, contractors, tenants, and customers about Organic Waste Recovery requirements and about proper sorting of Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste and Source Separated Recyclable Materials.
	(7) Provide education information before or within fourteen (14) days of occupation of the premises to new tenants that describes requirements to keep Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste and Source Separated Recyclable Materials separate fr...
	(8) Provide access for Town or its Designee to their properties during all Inspections conducted in accordance with Section 3.05.330 to confirm compliance with the requirements of this subchapter.
	(9) Cooperate with Town’s or its Designee’s Inspection of the contents of containers for Prohibited Container Contaminants.
	(10) Nothing in this Section prohibits a generator from preventing or reducing waste generation, managing Organic Waste on site, or using a Community Composting site pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18984.9(c).
	(11) Commercial Businesses that are Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators shall comply with Food Recovery requirements, pursuant to Section 3.05.190.


	3.05.100 Unauthorized Removal of Solid Waste, Recyclables, or Organic Waste from Containers.
	3.05.110 Disposal and Handling of Special Waste.
	(a) Contagious Disease Refuse. The removal of clothing, bedding or other Refuse from homes or other places where highly infectious or contagious diseases have prevailed should be performed under the supervision and direction of the County Health Offic...
	(b) Inflammable or Explosive Refuse. Highly inflammable or explosive material shall not be placed in containers for regular collection or refuse, but shall be disposed of as directed by the Colma Fire District Chief at the expense of the owner or proc...
	(c) Special Waste and Universal Waste. Notwithstanding any other provision of this subchapter, it shall be unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to dispose of, discard or place any Special Waste or universal waste in any receptacle or container...

	3.05.120 Frequency of Collection.
	(a) No person owning, operating, occupying, or in charge of any premises, business establishment, industry or other property, vacant or occupied, in the Town shall permit, allow or suffer any garbage to be, remain, or accumulate on any such premises f...
	(b) Each person engaged in selling or furnishing food or drink to members of the public, whether as a primary business or incidental to another business, such as but not limited to bars, soda fountains, restaurants, and theaters, shall remove, or caus...

	3.05.130 Waivers.
	(a) De Minimis Waivers. The Town may waive a Commercial Business’ obligation (including Multi-Family Residential Dwellings) to comply with some or all the Organic Waste requirements of this subchapter if the Commercial Business provides documentation ...
	(1) Submit an application specifying the services that they are requesting a waiver from and provide documentation as noted in Section 3.05.130(a)(2) below.
	(2) Provide documentation that either:
	(A) The Commercial Business’ total Solid Waste collection service is two cubic yards or more per week and Organic Waste subject to collection in a Green Container comprises less than 20 gallons per week per applicable container of the business’ total ...
	(B) The Commercial Business’ total Solid Waste collection service is less than two cubic yards per week and Organic Waste subject to collection in a Green Container comprises less than 10 gallons per week per applicable container of the business’ tota...

	(3) Notify Town if circumstances change such that Commercial Business’s Organic Waste exceeds threshold required for waiver, in which case waiver will be rescinded.
	(4) Provide written verification of eligibility for de minimis waiver every 5 years if Town has approved de minimis waiver.

	(b) Physical Space Waivers. The Town may waive a Commercial Business’ or property owner’s obligations (including Multi-Family Residential Dwellings) to comply with some or all of the Recyclable Materials and/or Organic Waste collection service require...
	(1) Submit an application form specifying the type(s) of collection services for which they are requesting a compliance waiver.
	(2) Provide documentation that the premises lacks adequate space for Blue Containers and/or Green Containers including documentation from its hauler, licensed architect, or licensed engineer.
	(3) Provide written verification to Town that it is still eligible for physical space waiver every five years if Town has approved application for a physical space waiver.


	ARTICLE 4.  SUBCHAPTER 3.05, DIVISION 2 – RECYCLING AND ORGANIC WASTE COLLECTION
	Division 2: Recycling and Organic Waste Collection

	3.05.140 Mandatory Recycling and Organic Waste Collection Services.
	(a) Each owner or operator of a Commercial Business shall arrange for Recycling and from a Franchisee or Permittee.  Each owner or operator of a Commercial Business shall arrange for Organic Waste Collection from a Franchisee.  Each owner or operator ...
	(b) A property owner of a Multi-Family Residential Dwelling may require tenants to source separate their Recyclable Materials and Organic Waste to aid in compliance with this section.

	3.05.150 Preparation and Ownership of Recyclables and Organic Waste.
	(a) Containers containing Recyclable Materials for residential units shall be placed at curbside for collection by the Franchisee or Permittee, and Containers containing Organic Waste for residential units shall be placed at curbside for Collection by...
	(b) Containers containing Recyclable Materials for a Multi-Residential Dwelling, Commercial and/or institutional locations shall be of a size and serviceability agreed to by the Franchisee or Permittee and thereafter placed at the designated collectio...
	(c) From the time of placement of Recyclable Materials at a designated location for collection of Recyclable Materials, or in any Container used for Recycling provided by a Franchisee or Permittee, those Recyclable Materials shall be and become the pr...

	3.05.160 Collection of Recyclables or Organic Waste By Unauthorized Persons Prohibited.
	(a) It is unlawful for any person, business or other entity to Collect Recyclable Materials or Organic Waste in the Town, except as otherwise provided in this subchapter.
	(b) Any person engaged in the unauthorized Collection of Recyclable Materials or Organic Waste is guilty of an infraction. Any such unauthorized collections from one or more locations within the Town shall constitute a separate and distinct offense.
	(c) As an alternative to criminal enforcement, both the Town and the Franchisee or Permittee have the independent authority to civilly enforce any provisions of this subchapter, to and including the authority to seek treble damages pursuant to Califor...

	3.05.170 Duty to Properly Use Recycling and Organic Waste Containers.
	(a) Each person subscribing to Recycling collection service shall, to the greatest extent practical, make use of the Recyclable Materials collection service provided by the Franchisee or Permittee, by separating Recyclable Materials from Refuse and Or...
	(b) Each person subscribing to Organic Waste collection service shall, to the greatest extent practical, make use of the Organic Waste collection service provided by the Franchisee, by separating Organic Waste from Refuse and Recyclable Materials and ...
	(c) Recyclable Materials for donation, sale, or collection by or to any person or entity, other than a Franchisee or Permittee, may not be stored or transferred by use of the Recycling Containers described in this subchapter, or any other containers u...

	3.05.180 Sale or Donation of Recyclable Materials or Organic Waste.
	ARTICLE 5.  SUBCHAPTER 3.05, DIVISION 3 – EDIBLE FOOD RECOVERY
	Division 3: Edible Food Recovery

	3.05.190 Requirements for Commercial Edible Food Generators.
	(a) Tier One Commercial Edible Food Generators must comply with the requirements of this Section commencing January 1, 2022, and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators must comply commencing January 1, 2024, pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18991.3.
	(b) Large Venue or Large Event operators not providing food services, but allowing for food to be provided by others, shall require Food Facilities operating at the Large Venue or Large Event to comply with the requirements of this Section, commencing...
	(c) Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators shall comply with the following requirements:
	(1) Arrange to recover the maximum amount of Edible Food that would otherwise be disposed.
	(2) Use the CalRecycle Model Food Recovery Agreement or the contractual elements contained in the Requirements for Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services section of this subchapter to contract with, or otherwise enter into a written ag...
	(A) the collection of Edible Food for Edible Food Recovery from the Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator’s premises; or,
	(B) the acceptance of Edible Food that the Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator self-hauls to the Food Recovery Organization.

	(3) Contract with Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services able to demonstrate a positive reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from their Edible Food Recovery activity. A list of Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services is...
	(4) Shall not intentionally spoil Edible Food that is capable of being recovered by a Food Recovery Organization or a Food Recovery Service.
	(5) Allow Town’s enforcement entity or its Designee for Edible Food Recovery to access the premises and inspect procedures and review records related to Edible Food Recovery and/or provide them electronically if requested by the Town or the Designee f...
	(6) Keep records that include the following information:
	(A) A list of each Food Recovery Organization or a Food Recovery Service that collects or receives Edible Food from the Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator pursuant to a contract or written agreement as required by this subchapter.
	(B) A copy of all contracts or written agreements established under the provisions of this subchapter.
	(C) A record of the following information for each of those Food Recovery Services or Food Recovery Organizations:
	(i) The name, address and contact information of the Food Recovery Service or Food Recovery Organization.
	(ii) The types of food that will be collected by or self-hauled to the Food Recovery Service or Food Recovery Organization.
	(iii) The established schedule or frequency that food will be collected or self-hauled.
	(iv) The quantity of food, measured in pounds recovered per month, collected or self-hauled to a Food Recovery Service or Food Recovery Organization for Food Recovery.


	(7) No later than June 30th of each year commencing no later than July 1, 2022 for Tier One Commercial Edible Food Generators and July 1, 2024 for Tier  Two Commercial Edible Food Generators, they shall provide an annual Edible Food Recovery report to...
	(8) Mandate their Edible Food Recovery staff learn and follow the donation guidelines  and attend trainings conducted by Food Recovery Organizations or Food Recovery Services with which they contract regarding best practices and requirements for the t...
	(9) Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators who self-haul Edible Food shall require those transporting Edible Food for recovery to obtain a food handler card through an American National Standards Institute (ANSI) accredited training p...

	(d) Nothing in this subchapter shall be construed to limit or conflict with the protections provided by the California Good Samaritan Food Donation Act of 2017, the Federal Good Samaritan Act, or share table and school food donation guidance pursuant ...

	3.05.200 Requirements for Food Recovery Organizations and Services.
	(a) Food Recovery Services operating in the Town and collecting or receiving Edible Food directly from Tier One and/or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators via a contract or written agreement established under the requirements of this subchapter...
	(1) The name, address, and contact information for each Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator from which the service collects Edible Food.
	(2) The quantity in pounds of Edible Food by type collected from each Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator per month.
	(3) The quantity in pounds of Edible Food by type transported to each Food Recovery Organization or redistribution site per month.
	(4) The name, address, and contact information for each Food Recovery Organization or redistribution site that the Food Recovery Service transports Edible Food to for Edible Food Recovery.

	(b) Food Recovery Organizations operating in the Town and collecting or receiving Edible Food directly from Tier One and/or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators via a contract or written agreement established under the requirements of this subch...
	(1) The name, address, and contact information for each Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator, Food Recovery Service, or other Food Recovery Organization from which the organization collects or receives Edible Food.
	(2) The quantity in pounds of Edible Food by type collected or received from each Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator, Food Recovery Service, or other Food Recovery Organization per month.
	(3) The name, address, and contact information for other Food Recovery Organizations or redistribution sites that the Food Recovery Organization transports Edible Food to for Edible Food Recovery.

	(c) Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating in the Town shall inform Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators from which they collect or receive Edible Food about California and Federal Good Samaritan Food Donat...
	(d) Commencing no later than July 1, 2022, Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating in the Town and collecting or receiving Edible Food from Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators or any other source shall repo...
	(e) Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating in the Town shall contact the Designee for Edible Food Recovery to discuss the requirements of this subchapter before establishing new contracts or agreements with Tier One or Tier T...
	(f) In order to provide the required records to the State, the Town, or the Designee for Edible Food Recovery, and Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators, contracts between Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operati...
	(1) Use the CalRecycle Model Food Recovery Agreement and include a clause requiring the Food Recovery Organization or Food Recovery Service to report to the Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators with whom they have contracts the annu...
	(2) Include in their contracts the following elements:
	(A) List/description of allowable foods the Food Recovery Organization/Food Recovery Service will receive.
	(B) List/description of foods not accepted by the Food Recovery Organization/Food Recovery Service.
	(C) Conditions for refusal of food.
	(D) Food safety requirements, training, and protocols.
	(E) Transportation and storage requirements and training.
	(F) A protocol for informing the Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators of a missed or delayed pickup.
	(G) Notice that donation dumping is prohibited.
	(H) Provisions to collect sufficient information to meet the record-keeping requirements of this subchapter.
	(I) Fees/financial contributions/acknowledgement of terms for the pickup and redistribution of Edible Food.
	(J) Terms and conditions consistent with the CalRecycle Model Food Recovery Agreement.
	(K) Information supplying the Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators with the annual amount of Edible Food recovered and informing them of the tax benefits that may be available to those who donate Edible Food to non-profits.
	(L) Contact name, address, phone number, and email for both responsible parties, including the current on-site staff responsible for Edible Food Recovery.
	(M) Food Recovery Organizations accepting self-hauling of Edible Food from Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators must provide a schedule, including days of the week and acceptable times for drop-offs, and information about any limita...


	(g) Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating in the Town shall demonstrate that all persons, including volunteers and contracted workers using their own vehicle, involved in the handling or transport of Edible Food, have obtain...
	(h) Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating in the Town shall use the appropriate temperature control equipment and methods and maintain the required temperatures for the safe handling of Edible Food recovered from Tier One an...
	(i) In order to ensure recovered Edible Food is eaten and to prevent donation dumping, Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating in the Town shall provide documentation that all redistribution sites which are not themselves Food...
	(j) Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating in the Town unable to demonstrate a positive reduction in GHG emissions for their Edible Food Recovery operational model cannot contract with Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible ...
	(k) Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating in the Town shall visually inspect all Edible Food recovered or received from a Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator. If significant spoilage is found, or if the fo...
	(1) The type and amount, in pounds, of spoiled food or food unfit for redistribution for human consumption, or provide a photographic record of the food, or both.
	(2) The date and time such food was identified.
	(3) The name, address and contact information for the Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator which provided the food.
	(4) The date and time the food was picked up or received.
	(5) A brief explanation of why the food was rejected or refused.
	(A) Contracts between Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators and Food Recovery Organizations or Food Recovery Services shall not include any language prohibiting Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators from contracting o...


	(l) Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services operating in the Town shall conduct trainings and develop educational material such as donation guidelines and handouts to provide instruction and direction to Tier One and Tier Two Commercial...
	(m) Edible Food Recovery Capacity Planning
	(1) Food Recovery Services and Food Recovery Organizations. To support Edible Food Recovery capacity planning assessments or other such studies, Food Recovery Services and Food Recovery Organizations operating in the Town shall provide information and...

	(n) Allow Town’s enforcement entity or their Designee for Edible Food Recovery to access the premises and inspect procedures and review records related to Edible Food Recovery and/or provide them electronically if requested by the Town or the Designee...

	ARTICLE 6.  SUBCHAPTER 3.05, DIVISION 4 – REGULATION OF FRANCHISEES AND PERMITTEES, AND COLLECTION PRACTICES
	Division 4: Regulation of Franchisees and Permittees, and Collection Practices

	3.05.210 Franchise to Collect Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste.
	3.05.220 Permit to Collect Solid Waste.
	3.05.230 Permit to Collect Recyclables.
	3.05.240 Franchisee or Permittee with Continuation Rights.
	(a) Nothing in this subchapter shall affect the continuation rights granted by section 49520 of the California Public Resources Code to any Franchisee or Permittee, provided that the Franchisee or Permittee shall have paid all required fees and is not...
	(b) To the extent that a Hauler is operating under continuation rights granted by section 49520 of the California Public Resources Code, and the Town gave such Hauler notice of termination of continuation rights prior to November 9, 2010, such Hauler ...

	3.05.250 Authorization for Haulers of Electronics Waste (E-waste).
	3.05.260 Self-Haulers and Other Exemptions.
	(a) Nothing in this subchapter shall prohibit a self-hauler from personally collecting, conveying, Recycling, processing or disposing of such Solid Waste, Recyclables or Organic Waste without obtaining the permit required herein, provided that the sel...
	(b) Nothing herein contained shall prevent any person, business or other entity from allowing Recyclable Materials or Organic Waste to be picked up, dropped off, or otherwise donated to any Charitable Entity or community composting facility.
	(c) Nothing herein contained shall inhibit, regulate or restrict any Recycling center, nonprofit dropoff program or Recycling processor as permitted by the Solid Waste Management Resource and Recovery Act of 1972 or the California Beverage Container R...
	(d) Nothing herein shall prohibit a contractor from Recycling, re-using, or disposing of demolition and construction debris, provided that such contractor shall comply with all Town diversion, recordkeeping and reporting requirements set forth in this...

	3.05.270 Terms of a Franchise or Permit.
	(a) A Franchise agreement or permit shall be in writing, naming the holder of the franchise or permit, and shall include such terms and conditions as the City Council shall establish to further the purposes of this subchapter, which may include but ar...
	(1) Requirements pertaining to the manner, time and frequency of collection;
	(2) Requirements pertaining to collecting and handling Recyclable Materials or Organic Waste;
	(3) Indemnification and insurance provisions satisfactory to the Town;
	(4) Provisions requiring the Franchisee or Permittee to provide requested Solid Waste, Recycling, and Organic Waste diversion reports to the Town, cooperate with the city in reporting requirements, Solid Waste generation studies and the preparation of...
	(5) Reporting Requirements, as more fully described elsewhere in this subchapter.


	3.05.280 Records and Reporting.
	(a) Each Franchisee shall prepare the following reports and submit them to the City Manager within 45 days after the close of the reporting period:
	(1) A monthly Service Complaints Report containing all complaints by residents or businesses in the Town of Colma relating to service, including missed pickups, and a description of how each complaint was handled.
	(2) A biannual AB 341/SB 1383 Report on the implementation and monitoring of the legislation referenced in Section 3.05.270(a)(4), which shall include information about the:
	(A) The number of businesses subject to AB 341 and the SB 1383 Regulations, modifications to service compared to the prior reporting period, and the related disposal and Recycling generated from each account and each account’s address.
	(B) Information about the businesses that are out of compliance with AB 341 and the SB 1383 Regulations and the legislation referenced in Section 3.05.270(a)(4).

	(3) A quarterly Recycling and Disposal - by Sector - Report, which shall include the amount of disposed Solid Waste, Recycled Materials, and Organic Waste from each of the three sectors: commercial, residential, and debris box service, the Recycling a...
	(4) An annual Recycling and Disposal by Sector-Cumulative Annual Report that includes the residential, commercial and roll-off/debris box disposed and diverted amounts in a year-to-year comparison.
	(5) An annual Household Hazardous Waste Report to be sent to the Town prior to August 30 if each year that details the amount and type of Household Hazardous Waste that was collected in the Town.

	(b) Each Hauler (and if applicable, the Permittee, as it relates to Organic Waste) shall prepare the following reports and submit them to the City Manager within 45 days after the close of the reporting period:
	(1) A monthly Service Complaints Report containing all complaints by residents or businesses in the Town relating to service, including missed pickups, and a description of how each complaint was handled.
	(2) A quarterly Recyclable Materials Report, which shall be submitted by the Hauler 45 days after the close of the reporting period, and which shall state for the reporting period:
	(A) Each location name and address serviced by Hauler, and the monthly Solid Waste, Recycling and Organic Waste subscription level for each customer;
	(B) Type and quantity of Recyclable Materials collected monthly, e.g., cardboard, paper, beverage containers, mixed Recyclables, wood waste and scrap metal, collected;
	(C) Type and quantity of Organic Waste collected monthly, e.g., green waste, food waste, and paper, collected;
	(D) The name of the Material Recovery Facility, authorized Recycling facility, or authorized processing facility where the Recyclable Materials and Organic Waste were delivered and processed; and
	(E) Colma Permit number (if applicable), address, phone number, contact person, email of Hauler.



	3.05.290 Collection Practices.
	(a) Collection of Solid Waste. No person may convey Solid Waste, including Recyclables and Organic Waste, over the streets of the Town except in equipment that is water-tight, vector-resistant, durable, easily cleanable and designed for safe hauling, ...
	(b) Hauler vehicles. No Hauler shall collect, convey over the streets and alleys of the Town, dispose of any refuse except in equipment that is water-tight, vector-resistant, durable, easily cleanable and designed for safe hauling, and so operated as ...
	(c) Disposal. Disposal of Solid Waste, Recyclables and Organic Waste shall be made outside the Town limits, at a transfer station or disposal facility that is operating in compliance with all applicable laws and holds all permits and other authorizati...
	(d) Equipment Safety. Vehicles and equipment used in the transport of Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste shall be constructed and maintained in such a manner to minimize the health and safety hazards to collection personnel and the public.
	(e) Equipment Parking. For reasons of nuisance and vector problems, uncleaned Solid Waste collection vehicles containing putrescible material shall not be stored on public streets or roads except under emergency conditions. The Hauler must designate a...
	(f) Identification of Hauler. Each vehicle used for the collection and transport of Solid Waste, Recyclables, and Organic Waste shall be clearly marked with the name of the agency or firm operating the vehicle.
	(g) Time of Collection. No person shall remove any Solid Waste, Recyclables, or Organic Waste  between the hours of 5:00 p.m. and 2:30 a.m. the following date. A Hauler shall provide regular collection service, in compliance with any schedule establis...

	3.05.300 Delivery and Recycling and Disposal Requirements.
	(a) Solid Waste other than Recyclables or Organic Waste may only be delivered to a licensed landfill site or licensed transfer station for disposal.
	(b) Recyclable Materials may only be delivered, after having been separated from other Solid Wastes, to a material recovery facility (MRF) or other authorized Recyclable collection facility.
	(c) Organic Waste may only be delivered to an approved composting facility or a facility that allows diversion credit for the delivered organics materials.
	(d) Construction and Demolition Debris may only be delivered to certified construction and demolition Recycling facility or other authorized collection site. The Town’s Construction and Demolition ordinance reporting requirements for projects in Colma...

	3.05.310 Modification or Revocation.
	3.05.320 Franchisee’s Existing Rights.
	ARTICLE 7.  SUBCHAPTER 3.05, DIVISION 5 – INSPECTIONS AND ENFORCEMENT
	Division 5: Inspections and Enforcement

	3.05.330 Inspections and Investigations
	(a) Town representatives and/or Designee, including the Designee for Edible Food Recovery are authorized to conduct Inspections and investigations, at random or otherwise, of any collection container, collection vehicle loads, or transfer, processing,...
	(b) Regulated entity shall provide or arrange for access during all Inspections (except for residential property interiors) and shall cooperate with the Town’s employee, Designee or Designee for Edible Food Recovery during such Inspections and investi...
	(c) Town or its Designee are authorized to conduct Inspections and investigations, at random or otherwise, of any collection container, collection vehicle loads, or transfer, processing, or disposal facility for materials collected from generators, or...
	(d) The regulated entity shall provide or arrange for access during all Inspections (except for residential property interiors) and shall cooperate with the Town’s employee or its designated entity/Designee during such Inspections and investigations. ...
	(e) Any records obtained by the Town, or its Designee during its Inspections and other reviews shall be subject to the requirements and applicable disclosure exemptions of the Public Records Act as set forth in Government Code Section 6250 et seq.
	(f) Town or its Designee are authorized to conduct any Inspections or other investigations as reasonably necessary to further the goals of this subchapter, subject to applicable laws.
	(g) Town or its Designee shall receive written complaints from persons regarding an entity that may be potentially non-compliant with SB 1383 Regulations, including receipt of anonymous complaints.

	3.05.340 Enforcement.
	(a) Violation of any provision of this subchapter shall constitute grounds for issuance of a Notice of Violation and assessment of a fine by a Town Enforcement Official, Designee for Edible Food Recovery, or representative. Enforcement Actions under t...
	(b) Responsible Entity for Enforcement.
	(1) Enforcement pursuant to this subchapter may be undertaken by the Town Enforcement Official, which may be the city manager or their designated entity or combination thereof.
	(2) Enforcement may also be undertaken by a Regional or County Agency Enforcement Official, Town’s franchised Hauler, or other Designee in consultation with Town Enforcement Official.
	(A) Town Enforcement Official, Regional or County Agency Enforcement Official will interpret subchapter; determine the applicability of waivers, if violation(s) have occurred; implement Enforcement Actions; and, determine if compliance standards are m...
	(B) Town Enforcement Official(s), Regional Agency Enforcement Official, or Designee for Edible Food Recovery may issue Notices of Violation(s).


	(c) Process for Enforcement.
	(1) Town Enforcement Official, the Town’s franchised Hauler or Regional or County Enforcement Officials and/or Town’s Designee for Edible Food Recovery will monitor compliance with the subchapter randomly and through Compliance Reviews, Route Reviews,...
	(2) Town or its Designee for Edible Food Recovery may issue an official notification to notify regulated entities of its obligations under this subchapter.
	(3) The Town or its Designee for Edible Food Recovery will issue a Notice of Violation to any Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator found to have Edible Food in any waste container or to any Food Recovery Organization or Food Recovery ...
	(4) Except for violations of generator contamination of container contents, Town shall issue a Notice of Violation requiring compliance within 60 days of issuance of the notice.
	(5) Absent compliance by the respondent within the deadline set forth in the Notice of Violation, Town shall commence an action to impose penalties, via an administrative citation and fine, pursuant to Sections 1.05.020 and 2.01.160 et seq.
	For the purposes of Edible Food Recovery, the Designee for Edible Food Recovery shall commence an action to impose penalties, via an administrative citation and fine, pursuant to the Edible Food Recovery penalties provision contained in this subchapter.
	Notices shall be sent to “owner” at the official address of the owner maintained by the tax collector for the Town or if no such address is available, to the owner at the address of the dwelling or Commercial property or to the party responsible for p...

	(d) Violations and Penalty Amounts for Types of Violations.
	(1) Any person violating any of the provisions of this subchapter which result in noncompliance with the SB 1383 Regulations, shall be subject to the fines set forth in section 1.05.020 et seq. of the Colma Municipal Code.
	(2) For violations other than Section 3.05.340(d)(1):
	(A) Any person violating this subchapter shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, which shall be punishable as set forth in Section 1.05.010 et seq.
	(B) Keeping or maintaining any property or condition in violation of this subchapter is declared to be a public nuisance, which may be abated pursuant to the procedures set forth in the Property Maintenance and Nuisance Abatement subchapter of the Tow...


	(e) Compliance Deadline Extension Considerations.
	(1) Acts of God such as earthquakes, wildfires, flooding, and other emergencies or natural disasters.
	(2) Delays in obtaining discretionary permits or other government agency approvals; or,
	(3) Deficiencies in Organic Waste recycling infrastructure or Edible Food Recovery capacity and the Town is under a corrective action plan with CalRecycle pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18996.2 due to those deficiencies.

	(f) Appeals Process.
	(g) Education Period for Non-Compliance
	(h) Civil Penalties for Non-Compliance

	ARTICLE 8. SEVERABILITY
	ARTICLE 9. CEQA COMPLIANCE
	ARTICLE 10. EFFECTIVE DATE


	10. AB 361 Continuation of Remote Meetings
	A. Resolution - AB 361

	11. Public Art in Colma
	UPDATED - 2. Minutes - Regular Meeting 09.22.21 - corrected 10.12.21.pdf



